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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(“STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (“Directors”, each a “Director”)
of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquires,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”), | hereby present
the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Year”). During the
Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$70.1 million,
an increase of approximately 23.3% when compared with that of
approximately HK$56.9 million for the previous year. The basic and
diluted loss per share for the Year were HK1.206 cents.

The Hong Kong government has pledged tremendous support to
the local fintech (financial technology) start-ups, and encouraged
investments in the industry in order to develop a more vibrant
innovation and technology ecosystem in Hong Kong. Benefitting from
such benign economic conditions, the Group foresees a prospering
advantage of information technology to the provision of financial
services. The Group notices the immense interest in innovative trading
solutions inventions in the market, and will thus strive to further
strengthen its business in the provision of financial trading software
solutions. The Group’s principal operating subsidiary, iAsia Online
Systems Limited (“iAsia”), has continuously enhanced its financial
trading software solutions to keep pace with the regulatory and new
industry requirements. In the second half of 2018, the Stock Exchange
has introduced an investor ID model for Northbound trading (“NB
Investor ID Model”) under the Mainland-Hong Kong Stock Connect
(“Stock Connect”) which enables more efficient Hong Kong-Mainland
cross-border market surveillance. Our financial trading software
solutions have been optimised and upgraded to cope with the regime
and current market requirements, and are modular designed which
provide flexibility for our customers to expand their usage capacity in
accordance with the growth and changing needs of their businesses.
Going forward, the Group is confident about the prospects of new
technology and innovation in the provision of financial services in
Hong Kong. We will continue to keep abreast of the ever-changing
situation in the financial technology sector and to pay attention to the
new opportunities and challenges of the international and the local
communities.

The money lending business is another growing business segment
of the Group which contributed approximately 12.6% of the
Group’s turnover in the Year. The Group will continue to maintain a
prudent credit control strategy so as to balance the growth and risk
management of its money lending business.

The Group’s assets investments comprised properties investments
and securities investments during the Year. In view of the uncertainties
in the global economy which may have an adverse impact on the
property market in Hong Kong, the Group disposed of its two retail
shops in Hong Kong and recorded a loss on disposal of approximately
HK$23,000 for the Year. Resulting from the volatile Hong Kong
stock market in 2018, the performance of securities investments was
unsatisfactory and the Group recorded an unrealised fair value loss of
approximately HK$2.0 million for the Year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREE

Looking ahead, we anticipate that the Hong Kong economy will
continue to be dimmed by uncertainties which may affect the financial
performance of the Group in the coming year. Consequently, the
Group will continue to strive for excellence in its products and services
in order to maintain our competitiveness and enhance our growth
potential in the fintech industry. In response to the rapid change in
the Hong Kong market, we are dedicated to exploring new business
opportunities with a view to diversifying the Group’s business scales
and risks.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
thanks to our shareholders, business partners and customers for their
confidence and continuous support for the Group. | would also like to
extend my gratitude to our staff for their dedications, commitment and
determination to succeed.

Chan Wai Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the provision of
financial trading software solutions, provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services, provision of referral services, money
lending business and assets investments in Hong Kong. During the
Year, one of the subsidiaries of the Company held the license in
respect of type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Provision of financial trading software solutions

During the Year, the financial trading software solutions business
division remained as the key source of income of the Group and
recorded a stable growth. The segment revenue from external
customers contributed by the Group’s principal operating
subsidiary, iAsia, amounted to approximately HK$58,311,000
(2017: approximately HK$51,455,000), representing an increase
of approximately HK$6,856,000 or 13.3%. As a result of the
increase in revenue, the profit before tax generated by this business
segment increased from approximately HK$20,754,000 in 2017 to
approximately HK$21,405,000 in 2018, representing an increase of
approximately HK$651,000 or 3.1%.

iAsia aims to achieve further growth of its financial trading software
solutions business by enhancing the development of its existing
products and broadening its customer base in order to maintain its
leading position in the financial trading software solutions industry
in Hong Kong. During the Year, iAsia has continuously enhanced its
financial trading software solutions to keep pace with the regulatory
and new industry requirements. For example, to mitigate hacking
risks associated with internet trading, the Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC”) requires financial institutions to implement a two-
factor authentication for login to their clients’ internet trading accounts
and notify their clients promptly after certain activities have taken
place in their internet trading accounts. In this connection, iAsia has
introduced a one-time password sent via the short message service
(SMS) and provided a software token solution to its customers, as well
as upgraded its system in the aspect of message notification to the
end users. The implementation of such two-factor authentication by
iAsia has enhanced its customers’ confidence against cyber security
threats. Apart from this, the SFC has reached an agreement with the
China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) to introduce the NB
Investor ID Model under the Stock Connect. Upon the implementation
of the NB Investor ID Model in September 2018, iAsia has optimised
and upgraded its current software to help its customers to provide the
investor identification information in a standard format to the Stock
Exchange for the compliance of the current market requirements. In
order to increase the degree of the customers’ satisfaction to iAsia’s
financial trading software solutions and services, regular trainings
were designed and provided to its customers to equip them with the
knowledge of the operation of the Group’s Front Office Trading System
and Back Office Trading System. We understand that the industries
and technology are constantly changing, briefing and training relating
to the Market Rehearsal of the Stock Exchange were held to ensure
the customers keep up with the industry’ regulations and technology.
Furthermore, in order to raise the Group’s brand awareness among
potential customers, iAsia had organised marketing events such as
technical seminars and conferences to promote its software solutions
and to build relationships with potential customers during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

In the future, the Group will continue to keep up with the market trend
and the industry requirements. The Group will explore new business
opportunities and expand the Group’s income stream from both
existing and potential customers.

Provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services

During the Year, the provision of other IT and internet financial
platforms services business division contributed a segment revenue
from external customers of approximately HK$868,000 (2017:
approximately HK$275,000) and recorded a loss of approximately
HK$5,927,000 (2017: approximately HK$3,934,000). In order to
improve the sales performance of this business division, the Group
will continue to diversify the provision of other IT services, such as
the provision of development of websites, mobile applications and
programs to new customers. The Group will seize opportunities to
diversify the client base of its provision of other IT and internet financial
platforms services business in order to strengthen its competitiveness
in the industry.

Money lending business

During the Year, revenue derived from the money lending
business division amounted to approximately HK$8,818,000
(2017: approximately HK$4,519,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$4,299,000 or 95.1%. This business segment
recorded profit before tax of approximately HK$1,064,000 during the
Year (2017: approximately HK$195,000). The interest rate charged
to customers during the Year ranged from 8.5% per annum to 13.0%
per annum. As at 31 December 2018, no impairment loss on loans
receivable balance was recorded by the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had advanced HK$99,590,000
to independent third party borrowers (31 December 2017:
HK$26,590,000). The Group’s money lending business has grown
to a considerable size and the management believes that the money
lending business will remain to be a sustainable business sector of the
Group.

The management believes that the money lending business can
generate stable revenue and reasonable returns to the Group and it is
in the interests of the Company and its shareholders (“Shareholders”)
as a whole to expand the money lending business and devote more
financial resources to this business division. The Group will continue to
maintain a prudent credit control strategy so as to balance the growth
and risk management of its money lending business.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

Hig  AEBSEBR EHSBERTEER K
SEKFAMNBEILEBAR QA RERAE LB
BEPHWAR

REHMEANRREBRASH T ERY

RER - IREEMEMBHE R EBASRT & RIS
X EEIF R B IR 2 7 B E £ 868,000
BIL(ZZT—+ 4 : 49275,000/87C) MERBEIBLY
5,927,000/ 7L (== —+ 4 : 493,934,000/87T) °
RUEREBDBOHEERE  REEBEENS
Bb A R EEAE AR RT - AF R RE
Huk - FREAREANFE -ASEBERERS
LEREHEMENBERSAEBES T S RS
EBNELER  UWRAETESRSD -

BEEXK

RERN - BEEEK D EE 2 W4 58,818,000
BT (ZFT—tF : #4,519,000/87T) @ HE N1
hN#74,290,000%8 7038 95.1% R FRARNER 5 &
SR BLATE M 401,064,000 T (ZE—+5F : 4
195,000 7T) ° RFERNMAEF W2 FIEN TZF
85%E18.0% - R -_T—NE+-_A=+—H K
EEWES S EKRERERRAERIE -

RZZE—NF+_A=1+—8 KEERBIE=
HERARENERA99,590,000 T (=T —+
F+=-H=+—H :26,590,000/87T) - KREEH
BEXBCDEREMAERE BTEERREEER
BEERNEEMNAIIFEER DI -

BEEERR BEEBAAAEESREBENRE
REEE® - hREEERINAULIRERE D R
B ERBRANAEARRR REBRR (TR %R
Mz o AEERSBERABENEEIEHIRE - A
RIFEEEEBERERRER 2 MrFE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Provision of referral services

During the Year, no contract was made under the provision of referral
services business division and no revenue was generated as a result
(2017: Nil). Given that the Group had not conducted any sales under
this business division since 2017, the management of the Company
had devoted more of the Group’s resources to its other business
divisions and reduced the internal resources allocated to this business
division during the Year.

Provision of corporate finance advisory services

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has been
recruiting qualified staff to re-commence its provision of corporate
finance advisory services business. As a result, no contract was made
under the corporate finance advisory services business division and no
revenue was generated for the Year (2017: Nil). During the Year, a loss
of approximately HK$720,000 (2017: approximately HK$1,000,000)
was recorded as a result of the administrative costs of operations of
this business division.

Assets investments

The Group’s assets investments business during the Year consisted of
(a) investments in properties; and (b) investments in securities that are
held for trading.

(a) Properties investments
The principal properties investments of the Group were two retail
shops located in the residential area of Siu Sai Wan, Hong Kong
(“Properties”). During the Year, rental income of approximately
HK$575,000 was generated (2017: HK$636,000).

On 19 September 2018, China Universal Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and an independent third
party purchaser (“Purchaser”) entered into a provisional sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which China Universal
Limited has agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has agreed to
purchase, the Properties at an aggregate consideration of
HK$19,100,000 (“IP Disposal”’). The Board considered that the
IP Disposal represented a good opportunity for the Group to
realise its investment in the Properties given the uncertainties in
the global economy which may have an adverse impact on the
property market in Hong Kong. The formal agreement for the IP
Disposal was signed on 2 October 2018. The IP Disposal was
completed in November 2018 and the Group recorded a loss on
disposal of investment properties of approximately HK$23,000
during the Year. Further details of the IP Disposal are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 19 September 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRE S

(b) Securities investments that are held for trading (b)
Set out below is the breakdown of the Group’s securities
investments recorded as financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss as at 31 December 2018:

HIFEBHEFRE

EH AR

Movements during the year ended 31 December 2018
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31 December Unrealised ~ 31December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Description of investments 2017 Addition loss 2018 2018 2018 2018
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Limited (Stock Code: 8120) (RIAK : 8120) shares (3.59%)
(‘China Demeter’) (rote 4/ ([E&]) (i) 44,000,000%
(3.59%)
Lumina Group Limited (Stock Code: 8470) LEEEERAF(RORE  8470) - 6,700 (1,707) 4993 13,680,000 2.6% 2.1%
(‘Lumin’) ot ¢} (2 #ie) shares (2.28%)
13,680,000
(2.28%)
Total: h - 10,175 (2,021) 8,154
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Notes:

(@)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PT International and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “PT
International Group”) are principally engaged in the businesses of
investment holding, comprising strategic investments in PY| Corporation
Limited and Burcon NutraScience Corporation, investments in
other financial assets and securities, provision of finance, property
investments, and trading business of commodities. As disclosed in the
interim report of PT International for the six months ended 30 September
2018, (i) the unaudited revenue (excluding interest revenue) and profit
of PT International for the six months ended 30 September 2018 were
approximately HK$1,230.9 million and HK$358.1 million respectively;
(i) the PT International Group would continue to develop existing
businesses and enhance the asset quality and actively improve its overall
competitiveness, strengthen its capital base, optimise its investment
portfolio and implement comprehensive risk management strategies,
thereby laying a solid foundation for their long-term development; and
(iii) the PT International Group would also make great efforts to re-build
its strategic priorities and align its business initiatives with the economic
policies set by the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

China Demeter and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “China
Demeter Group”) are principally engaged in (i) feedstock products
business; (i) money lending business; (iii) financial services business;
(iv) securities investment business; (v) food and beverage business;
and (vi) alcoholic beverage distribution business. As disclosed in the
third quarterly report of China Demeter for the nine months ended 30
September 2018, (i) the unaudited revenue and loss of China Demeter
for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 were approximately
HK$45.3 million and HK$15.1 million respectively; (i) the China Demeter
Group remained optimistic about the food and beverage market, and
would operate the food and beverage business with a flexible and
prudent approach; (jii) the China Demeter Group expected that the
acquisition in relation to operation of two restaurants serving Japanese
cuisine in Hong Kong in October 2018 would match its current strategy
for investing in the catering industry; and (iv) the China Demeter Group
also remained optimistic about the development potential of Hong
Kong’s money lending market and would take measures accordingly
to improve its overall operational efficiency and strengthen its revenue
base.

Lumina and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Lumina Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of fire safety services in Hong
Kong. As disclosed in the third quarterly report of Lumina for the nine
months ended 31 December 2018, (i) the unaudited revenue and
profit of Lumina for the nine months ended 31 December 2018 were
HK$80.1 million and HK$14.5 million respectively; (i) the Lumina
Group’s capability of delivering a wide range of quality fire safety
solutions had helped building a solid and diversified customer base
comprising property owners and tenants, construction contractors and
property managers in the private sector and the government and non-
governmental organisations in the public sector; and (jii) the Lumina
Group would actively explore new business opportunities by keeping
track of any new projects through existing and new network.

Wit :
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During the Year, no dividend income was received by the Group
from the investments in the above listed securities (2017: Nil).
Resulting from the volatile condition of the Hong Kong stock
market during the Year, a net fair value loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$2,021,000
(2017: approximately HK$3,418,000) was recognised from the
Group’s securities investments.

The objective of the Group’s investment in the listed securities
in Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the
market value of its invested securities and to receive dividend
income. The Directors expect that the stock market in Hong
Kong will remain volatile which may affect the performance of
the Group’s securities investments. The Board believes that the
performance of the securities investments of the Group will be
dependent on the financial and operating performance of the
investee companies and market sentiment, which are affected by
factors such as interest rate movements and performance of the
macro economy. The Group will continue to adopt a conservative
investment approach in its trading of listed securities in the Hong
Kong stock market and closely monitor the performance of its
securities investment portfolio.

Other investments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had the following material
investments:

(a) Investment in an associate - Four Directions

Investment Limited (“FDIL”)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 100% interests
in DSE Cayman Limited, which in turn held approximately
26.87% equity interest in FDIL (together with its subsidiaries,
the “FDIL Group”). Through the investment in the FDIL Group
which is principally engaged in the provision of services in
relation to information technology, smartphone applications
development and digital marketing and the development of
information technology applications, the Group has expanded
and diversified its investments into the information technology
industry. During the Year, the loss of FDIL shared by the Group
amounted to approximately HK$2,104,000 (2017: approximately
HK$7,229,000). Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
monitor the operations of FDIL Group for the improvement of its
financial performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRE S
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(b) Investment in a joint venture — Sky View Investment

Limited (“Sky View”), and information on the Contractual
Arrangements of Rolaner International Limited
(“Rolaner”), its subsidiaries and Rong Lang (as defined
below) (collectively as “Rolaner Group”)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 49% interest in Sky
View, which is the holding company of approximately 22%
interests in Rolaner acquired under the Rolaner Subscription
Agreement (as defined below).

During the Year, the Group shared the loss of Sky View
of approximately HK$16,733,000 (2017: approximately
HK$19,202,000). The loss of the joint venture primarily
represented (i) the impairment loss on its investment in Rolaner
recorded by the joint venture by comparing the recoverable
amount estimated using value-in-use with the carrying amount
of its interest in Rolaner; and (i) the operating losses of Rolaner
for the Year shared by the joint venture. In light of the market
potentials in the medical beauty industry in the PRC, the Group
will continue to hold its interest in Sky View and aim to enjoy the
economic benefits of the businesses of the Rolaner Group in the
future.

On 20 February 2016, Sky View, Winrange Investments Limited
(“Winrange”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and
Amber Rose Holdings Limited (“Amber Rose”) entered into
an agreement (“Sky View Subscription Agreement”) for the
subscription of ordinary shares of Sky View (“Sky View Shares”)
by Winrange and Amber Rose respectively. Pursuant to the
Sky View Subscription Agreement, Winrange and Amber Rose
have agreed to subscribe for 390 Sky View Shares and 510
Sky View Shares at the subscription price of US$4,948,900
and US$5,151,000 respectively. Completion of the Sky View
Subscription Agreement took place immediately after its signing,
and Winrange became interested in 49% of the issued share
capital of Sky View and Sky View became a joint venture of
Winrange and Amber Rose.

(b)
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After completion of the Sky View Subscription Agreement, on
20 February 2016, Sky View, Rolaner, Ace Choice Ventures
Limited, Legend Cosmo Consultants Limited, Mr. Ren Lingfeng
(“Mr. Ren”), Mr. Chen Rong (“Mr. Chen”), 855812 8 R £ (/&)
A BR A 7] (“Rong Lang”, unofficial English name being Rong
Lang Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Limited) and % BA
PR (H8) BB AT (“Luo Lang”, unofficial English name
being Luo Lang Internet Technology (Shanghai) Co., Limited)
entered into an agreement (“Rolaner Subscription Agreement”),
pursuant to which Sky View had subscribed for 22,000,000
preferred shares in the share capital of Rolaner at the price
of US$10,000,000. Completion of the Rolaner Subscription
Agreement took place on 18 March 2016 and Sky View became
interested in approximately 22% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Rolaner. Rolaner is operating a mobile application “Mei
Li Shen Qi (3B 23)”, one of the largest online communities
and e-commerce platforms with millions of users for the medical
beauty industry in the PRC, in which the Directors consider to
have great market potentials. Details of the Sky View Subscription
Agreement and the Rolaner Subscription Agreement are
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 21
February 2016.

The businesses operated by Rong Lang, the PRC operating
company in Rolaner Group, are operated under contract-based
arrangements and/or structures (“Contractual Arrangements”) for
the purpose of enabling Rolaner, as a foreign investor, to control
and benefit from such PRC operating company in the foreign
restricted businesses in the PRC. Set out below are the details of
the Contractual Arrangements.

(i) Particulars of Rong Lang and its registered owners
Rong Lang is a limited liability company incorporated
in Shanghai, PRC on 20 May 2013. The registered
shareholders of Rong Lang are Mr. Ren (holding 75% of its
paid-up capital) and Mr. Chen (holding 25% of its paid-up
capital). It has a registered capital of RMB1 million which
has been paid up.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Description of Rong Lang's business activities

Rong Lang is primarily engaged in the mobile application
E B2 (Mei Li Shen Qi), one of the largest online
community and e-commerce platform with more than ten
million users for the medical beauty industry in the PRC.
Rong Lang also operates its website at www.meilimei.com.

Foreign ownership of internet-based businesses, such as
those engaged in the provision of internet information, is
highly regulated under current PRC laws. Foreign investors
are not allowed to own more than 50% of the equity
interests in a value-added telecommunications service
provider (except for e-commerce and certain other sectors)
and any such foreign investor must have experience
in providing value-added telecommunications services
overseas and maintain a good track record. However,
no written guidelines or implementing rules have been
publicly issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (2 A R H 1B T M1z E{L30)
(“MIIT”) to specify the criterion of the “good track record”. As
Rolaner does not have any experience in providing value-
added telecommunications services overseas and maintain
a good track record, it is unable to directly acquire any
equity interests of Rong Lang.

The Circular on Strengthening the Administration of
Foreign Investment in and Operation of Value-added
Telecommunications Business ({5 B 3 B B3 7 hn3& 4
EREREREBEEFEERNBA)), issued by the
MIIT in July 2006, prohibits domestic telecommunication
service providers from leasing, transferring or selling
telecommunications business operating licenses to any
foreign investors in any form, or providing any resources,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal
operation of a telecommunications business in the PRC.
According to this circular, either the holders of a value-
added telecommunication services operation permit or their
shareholders must directly own the domain names and
trademarks used by such license holders in their provision
of value-added telecommunications services. The circular
also requires each license holder to have the necessary
facilities, including servers, for its approved business
operations and to maintain such facilities in the regions
covered by its license. If the holder of the value-added
telecommunications business operating license (1% {8 &
ZEEF K LT ) (ICP License”) (also generally known
as the “Internet content provider license”) fails to comply
with the requirements and also fails to remedy such non-
compliance within a specified period of time, the MIIT or its
local counterparts have the discretion to take administrative
measures against such license holder, including revoking its
ICP License.

(i)

THEFWE S

&R 1Y R 505 B an

RENEREBER/EETHEAREAE
Brves  ZERREARPEZRANBERE
ROIEEGHREEFEBTFEZ—
BEBTERP - 1IN RRTEEH

493k (www.meilimei.com) ©

INEEB B AT (R BRI E
B BRBHER) A BRITHBUEAER
REE - SINER B E N IEEEERG IR
HE (BREFEBRE THAMITEIN)
EHRETERIB50%  BEMZEIN
B EEH AR AN EIMEEIEEEER
HHEBREERERITAERE - A
FEAREMBTEMEE(IFTIE
) W mBEmR AR R A AR e 1
ZEEESIHEMER o B Rolaner I
ERNEIMERIZEEERENERER
FABRS At TeEE KB ERE
SRARME o

TEBR-ZEZRFLAEMNERE
EREAR MR R EREEEEREE
BEEHEM) R I BN EE R R
MEMEARIIEREEZREE &
& BEEEEBLENT  RINER
BEETHESAPEEEEEEHRER]
BIR 5 REFRMT - RIRLCEA
REEERBEEFAIENTEARE
RRAERMIEEEEREF S EEERE
BREBRAIREREARERNEE RS
T BANRESTAERBEARES
BEHRM (BIERRESE) Q2 HEHE
MED BEREERFAEEZHEN
REABRE - HIBEEEEHLEES

AE(BEESEERHEEFIE] B8
[EBEATREAFAE]D FEARE
BTERREEREERERHEALHRZ
RITRELER - TEREEMT DB
B 15 S 1L 7 AT 45 B A REUTBUE 3E -

BREMIFHRESEXEBEETAIRE -

EMSRMREERERAT | 2018551

14



15

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRE S

As Rong Lang is also providing mobile applications to
mobile device users, Rong Lang may be required to obtain
other applicable operating permits in addition to the ICP
License. Hence, Rong Lang has submitted its application
for the ICP Licence with Shanghai Communications
Administration (/8 M3 {5 % X B). The said application
was completed and Rong Lang had obtained the ICP
Licence with an effective period from 29 December 2017 to
29 December 2022.

The Contractual Arrangements are designed specifically to
confer upon Luo Lang the right to enjoy all the economic
benefits of Rong Lang, to exercise management control
over the operations of Rong Lang, and to prevent leakages
of assets and values of Rong Lang to the registered
shareholders of Rong Lang. Luo Lang is not obligated under
the Contractual Arrangements to provide any financial
support to Rong Lang. Where losses occurred to Rong
Lang, Luo Lang will not share the losses directly. In respect
of any limited liability company, under PRC Company Law
(2 |VE), it is a basic principle that a shareholder’s liability in
respect of a company is limited to the registered capital for
which it has subscribed. Hence, even if a company incurs
loss to the extent that it becomes insolvent, its shareholder
is not under any legal obligation to bear any debt incurred
by the company or provide any additional capital to the
company (unless otherwise agreed by the shareholder).
In the current case, there is no shareholding relationship
between Luo Lang and Rong Lang, and similarly, there is no
legal obligation for Luo Lang to share any losses incurred by
Rong Lang.

Notwithstanding the above, since Rong Lang is expected
to contribute revenue to Luo Lang by way of making
payment of service fee to Luo Lang under the Contractual
Arrangements, any loss incurred by Rong Lang will have
an adverse impact on its ability to make such payment and
hence indirectly affecting Luo Lang’s financial performance
on a consolidated basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(i) Summary of the major terms of the Control Docurments
of the Contractual Arrangements
The control documents under the Contractual
Arrangements are: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement; (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement; and (4) the Power of Attorney
(collectively, “Control Documents”).

(1)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
was entered into by and among Luo Lang, Rong
Lang, Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen on 20 February 2016.
Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, Rong Lang has agreed to engage Luo
Lang as its exclusive consultant and service provider.
Accordingly, Luo Lang shall provide business support,
technical services and consultancy services, including
without limitation all or any services which fall within
the business scope of Rong Lang. Pursuant to the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Rong
Lang shall pay to Luo Lang a service fee on a monthly
basis that equals to the entire monthly revenue of
Rong Lang, after deducting costs and expenses, tax
and other reserved expenditures as required under
applicable laws (save for the service fee payable to
Luo Lang thereunder). Thus, all economic benefits
of Rong Lang will belong to Luo Lang. In addition,
the parties to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement agreed, and Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen,
being all the registered shareholders of Rong Lang,
have confirmed that Luo Lang shall have the right
to manage the business of Rong Lang, dispose of
its assets and is not liable to any loss incurred by
Rong Lang. The parties have also agreed that Rong
Lang shall provide its audited financial statements (as
certified by an independent auditors firm acceptable to
Luo Lang) within 90 days from the date to which the
relevant financial year ends to Luo Lang, and Luo Lang
shall also be entitled to inspect the books and records
and obtain copies thereof if it so wishes. The Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing from the date of the agreement,
until it is terminated (i) according to the applicable PRC
laws or (i) by Luo Lang by giving prior written notice.
Rong Lang is not contractually entitled to terminate
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

(i)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

Exclusive Option Agreement

Luo Lang, Mr. Ren, Mr. Chen and Rong Lang have
entered into the Exclusive Option Agreement dated
20 February 2016, pursuant to which: (i) Mr. Ren
and Mr. Chen have irrevocably granted to Luo Lang
irrevocable and exclusive options to purchase by Luo
Lang or person(s) designated by it all or part of the
equity interest owned by them now or in the future in
Rong Lang (“Equity Option”), and such Equity Option
shall be exercised by Luo Lang in the manner and at
any time Luo Lang solely determines; (i) Rong Lang
has granted to Luo Lang irrevocable and exclusive
options to purchase by Luo Lang or person(s)
designated by it all or part of the assets (meaning
all the tangible and intangible assets of Rong Lang,
including without limitation the fixed assets, current
assets, equity interests in investments, benefits under
contracts) now or in the future owned by Rong Lang
(“Assets Option”), and such Assets Option shall be
exercised by Luo Lang in the manner and at any time
Luo Lang solely determines; (i) Luo Lang shall, to
the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations,
and when the PRC laws and regulations allow wholly
foreign owned enterprises to operate the business of
Rong Lang directly, exercise the Equity Option and
Assets Option as soon as possible. In the event of the
death and loss of civil capacity of Mr. Ren or Mr. Chen,
Luo Lang is entitled to, to the largest extent permitted
by PRC laws, exercise its rights under the Exclusive
Option Agreement with the legal successor or
personal representatives of Mr. Ren or Mr. Chen; and
(iv) the consideration for the equity interest payable by
Luo Lang under the Equity Option shall be RMB100
or such minimum purchase price permitted by PRC
laws and regulations after deducting the requisite
taxes. The consideration for the assets payable by Luo
Lang under the Assets Option shall be such minimum
purchase price permitted by PRC laws and regulations
after deducting the requisite taxes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen (as the registered shareholders of Rong
Lang) and Rong Lang have jointly and severally
undertaken, among other things, that they shall not
do or allow to be done (among other things as the
case may be) the following acts: amend the articles of
Rong Lang, alter its registered share capital or capital
structure, sell, transfer, charge or otherwise dispose
of the assets and legal and other benefits in Rong
Lang or create encumbrances thereon. Should Rong
Lang be liquidated, Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen shall pay (or
procure the payment) to Luo Lang or its designee(s)
all residual values of Rong Lang. In addition, Mr.
Ren and Mr. Chen shall not without the prior written
consent of Luo Lang cause or allow any guarantee
or liability or loans to be incurred on Rong Lang, and
shall not make any dividends or distributable interest
to its shareholders. Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen have also
undertaken that they shall cause persons nominated
by Luo Lang to be appointed or removed as directors
and senior management of Rong Lang. In particular,
Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen jointly and severally confirmed
that they shall (i) on the request of the designee of Luo
Lang immediately and unconditionally transfer their
equity interests in Rong Lang and any priority right
of any shareholder of Rong Lang to purchase such
equity interests; and (i) maintain their citizenship and
nationality of the PRC.

Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen have also confirmed that the equity interests
in Rong Lang now and in the future do not fall within
the communal property (£ [& 81 Z) or inheritable
property (7] # 7% B E) of their spouse respectively
and that such equity interests can neither be severed
nor inherited.

The Exclusive Option Agreement is for an indefinite
term commencing from the date of the agreement,
until all the equity interests held by Mr. Ren and
Mr. Chen are, pursuant to the Exclusive Option
Agreement, legally transferred to Luo Lang or its
designee(s).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

©)

Equity Pledge Agreement

Luo Lang, Mr. Ren, Mr. Chen and Rong Lang entered
into the Equity Pledge Agreement on 20 February
2016, pursuant to which Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen shall
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Rong
Lang to Luo Lang to secure the performance of all
their obligations and the obligations of Rong Lang
under the Contractual Arrangements. Pursuant to
the Equity Pledge Agreement, Luo Lang has a first
priority pledge on all of the equity interests in Rong
Lang held by Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen. Under the Equity
Pledge Agreement, if Mr. Ren and/or Mr. Chen and/
or Rong Lang breaches any obligation under the
Contractual Arrangements (among other things),
Luo Lang, as the pledgee, is entitled to request Mr.
Ren and/or Mr. Chen to transfer the pledged equity
interests to Luo Lang. In addition, pursuant to the
Equity Pledge Agreement, each of Mr. Ren and/or Mr.
Chen undertakes to Luo Lang, among other things,
not to transfer his equity interests in Rong Lang and
not to create any pledge thereon without Luo Lang’s
prior written consent. In addition, they shall not alter
the registered capital or capital structure of Rong
Lang and shall execute further documents to pledge
the equity interests they shall receive after the signing
of the Equity Pledge Agreement. The Equity Pledge
Agreement is for an indefinite term commencing on
the date of the agreement, until (i) all the services fees
under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
are fully settled and (i) all obligations of Rong Lang
under the Contractual Arrangements have been
fulfilled.

Power of Attorney

Mr. Ren and Mr. Chen have severally issued a
power of attorney to Luo Lang on 20 February
2016, pursuant to which they irrevocably authorised
Luo Lang (including the successor or liquidator of
Luo Lang in the event of its liquidation) to exercise
all of their rights and powers as shareholders of
Rong Lang, including (i) rights to convene and
attend shareholders’ meeting and sign minutes or
resolutions; (ii) rights to exercise voting rights in a
shareholders’ meeting including without limitation
to vote for resolutions for the disposal, transfer or
pledge of all or part of their equity interests in Rong
Lang; (iii) rights to designate and appoint the legal
representative (chairman of the board), directors,
supervisors, chief executive officer (or general
manager) and other senior officers; and (iv) rights to file
documents with relevant governmental authorities or
regulatory bodies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(iv)  Manner of settlement of disputes which may arise from

(V)

the Contractual Arrangements

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, the dispute
resolution clauses provide that any dispute arising from
the interpretation and implementation of the Control
Documents should first be resolved through negotiation,
failing which any party may submit the said dispute to the
Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (“SHIAC”) with a view to resolving the dispute
through arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules
of the SHIAC. The results of the arbitration shall be final and
binding on all relevant parties.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The PRC government may determine that the corporate
structure of the Rolaner Group or the Contractual
Arrangements is not or may not be in compliance with any
existing or future applicable PRC laws or regulations.

Rolaner and Luo Lang rely on the Contractual
Arrangements to control and obtain the economic benefits
from Rong Lang, the operating entity in the PRC, which may
not be as effective as in providing operational control as
direct ownership.

The registered shareholders of Rong Lang may have
conflicts of interest with the Rolaner Group, which may
materially and adversely affect the business and financial
conditions of the Rolaner Group.

The Contractual Arrangements between Luo Lang and
Rong Lang may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax
authorities and any finding that Luo Lang or Rong Lang
owes additional taxes could substantially reduce the
consolidated net income of Rolaner and the value of the
Group’s investment in Rolaner.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of draft Foreign
Investment Law ({5MNE % & JA & 28)) of the PRC and how
it may impact the viability of the current corporate structure
of the Rolaner Group.

And last but not least, the Group does not have control
over the Rolaner Group and will rely on Luo Lang to
exercise control over Rong Lang through the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and
regulations relevant to the Contractual Arrangements and
will take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s
interests in Rong Lang.

(v)

V)
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(vi)  Material change
The Directors confirmed that there has been no material
change to the Contractual Arrangements as at 31
December 2018.

(vii) - Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements
As at the date of this annual report, there was no unwinding
of any of the Contractual Arrangements or failure to
unwind when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the
Contractual Arrangement were removed.

(vii)) Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual

Arrangements

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 49% interest
in Sky View which in turn held approximately 22%
interest in Rolaner Group. This investment was recorded
as an investment in a joint venture as at 31 December
2018. During the Year, the Group shared the loss of a
joint venture of approximately HK$16,733,000 (2017:
approximately HK$19,202,000). As at 31 December 2018,
the book value of the Group’s investment in joint venture
was approximately HK$172,000 (2017: approximately
HK$16,905,000), representing approximately 0.1% of the
Group’s total assets and approximately 0.1% of the Group’s
net assets.

(c) Equity investment (not held for trading) - China

Parenting Network Holdings Limited (“CPN”)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group held 16,538,000 ordinary
shares of CPN (“CPN Shares”), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
17836), being approximately 1.61% of the total issued shares
of CPN. CPN, together with its subsidiaries, operate an online
platform focusing on the CBM (children, babies, and maternity)
market in the PRC and are mainly engaged in (i) provision
of marketing and promotional service; and (i) e-commerce
business. On 27 September 2018, the Stock Exchange
approved the transfer of CPN’s listing from GEM (Stock Code:
8361) to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group will
continue to hold the CPN Shares for dividend income.

The CPN Shares were measured at fair value at approximately
HK$4,631,000 as at 31 December 2018, based on their last
closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange. During the Year,
the fair value loss of the CPN Shares transferred to the financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income reserve of the Group was approximately HK$5,292,000.
During the Year, a dividend income of approximately HK$25,000
was received from this investment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board has set out the following key financial performance
indicators to measure and monitor the Group’s business performance

for the Year:

Revenue growth rate (%)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$70,126,000
(2017: approximately HK$56,885,000), representing an increase of
approximately HK$13,241,000 or 23.3% as compared to that of the
last financial year. The increase in revenue of the Group during the Year
was mainly due to the increase in revenue generated from the financial
trading software solutions business and the money lending business.

Gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$50,304,000 (2017: approximately HK$41,503,000), representing
an increase of approximately HK$8,801,000 or 21.2% as compared
to that of the last financial year, which was in line with the increase
in revenue. Gross profit margin of the Group for the Year was
approximately 71.7% (2017: approximately 73.0%).

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$40,883,000 (2017: approximately HK$41,962,000),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$1,079,000 or 2.6% as
compared to that of the last financial year. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the combined effects of (i) the increase in overall
operating expenses as a result of the continuous expansion of the
Group’s businesses; and (i) the decrease in equity-settled share-based
payments recognised for the share options granted by the Company of
approximately HK$6,843,000.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss after tax of approximately
HK$15,203,000 for the Year (2017: approximately HK$46,150,000).
The decrease in the Group’s net loss was mainly attributable to the
combined effects of (i) the absence of gains on disposal of available-
for-sale investments, subsidiaries and an associate and profit
guarantee income, all being one-off in nature, during the Year; (i) the
absence of impairment losses on available-for-sale investments and
investment in an associate, all being one-off in nature, during the
Year; and (iii) the decrease in equity-settled share-based payments
recognised for the share options granted by the Company of
approximately HK$6,843,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances
and non-pledged time deposits were, respectively, approximately
HK$69,004,000 (2017: approximately HK$148,616,000) and
HK$20,000,000 (2017: Nil). Net current assets of the Group as at
31 December 2018 amounted to approximately HK$168,758,000
(2017: approximately HK$150,618,000). As at 31 December 2018,
approximately 99.9% of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, while the remaining balance was
denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars. Current ratio of
the Group, which was defined as total current assets divided by total
current liabilities, was approximately 4.7 times as at 31 December
2018 (2017: approximately 5.1 times).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no outstanding bank and
other borrowings (2017: Nil). As at 31 December 2018, the gearing
ratio of the Group, which was defined as total borrowings divided by
total assets, was not applicable due to the absence of any borrowing
undertaken by the Group as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Not
applicable).

TREASURY AND FUNDING POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to its treasury and
funding policies, and its financial and fundraising activities are subject
to effective management and supervision. The Group manages its
capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to the Shareholders
through optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the business
activities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Directors did not consider the Group was exposed to any
significant foreign currency exchange risks.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2017: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2017: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any material charge
on assets (2017: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 9 August 2018, Lucky Cheer Investments Limited (“Lucky Cheer”)
(@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and two independent
third parties (“Vendors”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement,
pursuant to which Lucky Cheer has agreed to purchase, and the
Vendors have agreed to sell, 100% of the issued share capital of Darts
Connect International Limited (“Darts”) at the aggregate consideration
of HK$21,600,000 (“Consideration”) (subject to adjustments), in which
HK$10,800,000 was paid in cash at completion and the remaining
HK$10,800,000 shall be paid subject to the achievement of the
audited net profit before tax of Darts for the Year (“2018 Audited
Profit”) being not less than HK$4,000,000 (“Guaranteed Profit”),
as guaranteed by the Vendors (“Darts Acquisition”). On 9 August
2018, the Darts Acquisition was completed and Darts became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Darts is a gaming product
development company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability,
which designs, creates, markets, sells and distributes electronic
dartboards with wireless connection to mobile applications. Details of
the Darts Acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 9 August 2018. The Group commenced the trading of gaming
products following the completion of the Darts Acquisition. Based
on the audited financial statements of Darts for the Year, the 2018
Audited Profit amounted to approximately HK$217,000 and hence
the Guaranteed Profit was not met. Accordingly, the amount of the
Consideration is adjusted to HK$10,800,000 and the Company is not
obliged to settle the remaining Consideration of HK$10,800,000 to the
Vendors.

Save as disclosed above and the disposal of investment properties
of the Group as set out in the section headed “Assets investments”
above, the Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal
transaction during the Year.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Group does not have any
concrete plan for material investments or capital assets for the coming
year. Nonetheless, if any potential investment opportunity arises and is
identified in the coming year, the Group will conduct a feasibility study
and prepare implementation plans to consider whether it is beneficial to
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had shareholders’ equity
of approximately HK$190,695,000 (2017: approximately
HK$207,774,000). As at 31 December 2018, the capital of the
Company comprised ordinary shares only.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2017: Nil).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 62 employees (2017: 61).
The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of
its workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training.
The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices and individual performance and experience. On top of regular
remuneration, discretionary bonus and share options may be granted
to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well as the
individual performance. Total employee benefits expense, including
directors’ emoluments, was approximately HK$32,161,000 for the
Year (2017: approximately HK$36,571,000).

The remuneration of the Directors are determined by the Board,
under the recommendation from the remuneration committee
(“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company, with reference to the
background, qualification, experience, duties and responsibilities of
the respective Directors within the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to an ordinary
resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 10 September
2013 and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion, to grant
options to eligible participants including (a) any full-time or part-time
employee of any member of the Group; (b) any consultant or adviser
of any member of the Group; (c) any director (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of any member
of the Group; (d) any substantial shareholder of the Group; or () any
distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner
or service provider of any member of the Group. Details of the share
options granted and outstanding during the Year are set out in the
paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 65 to 68 of this
annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREFWE S

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Operational risks

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each business
division of the Group. To manage operational risks, the management
of each business division is responsible for monitoring the operation
and assessing operational risks of their respective business divisions.
They are responsible for implementing the Group’s risk management
policies and procedures and shall report any irregularities in connection
with operation to the Directors and seek for directions. The Group
emphasises on ethical value and prevention of fraud and bribery and
has established a whistleblower program, including communication
with other departments and business divisions and units, to report any
irregularities. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s
operational risks have been effectively mitigated.

Financial risks

The Group is exposed to credit risks, liquidity risks, market
risks (particularly equity price risks) and risks under Contractual
Arrangements, in which the details are summarised as follows:

Credit risks

In order to minimise credit risks, the Directors closely monitor the
overall level of credit exposure, and the management is responsible
for the determination of credit approvals and monitoring the
implementation of the debt collection procedure to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the
end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors
consider that the Group’s credit risks have been significantly reduced.

Liquidity risks

The Directors have built an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements. In the management of
liquidity risks, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s liquidity
risks have been effectively managed.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to market risks, particularly, the equity price
risks mainly through its investments in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these investments. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s market risks have been effectively mitigated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Risks under Contractual Arrangements

The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements formed under the Group’s interest in the Rolaner
Group. Please refer to the paragraphs headed “Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements” under “Other investments” on page 20 of
this annual report for details.

PROSPECT

Fintech or financial technology has already been reshaping the financial
services in Hong Kong and enhancing the operational efficiency of
enterprises. Following the development of the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, Hong Kong will continue to be the
best platform for fundraising and creating promising value to the
financial services sector in Hong Kong. In view of the above, the
Group foresees a prospering advantage of information technology to
the provision of financial services. With the auspicious opportunities
arising from innovative trading solutions inventions in the market, the
Group will strive to further strengthen its business in the provision of
financial trading software solutions. The Group’s principal operating
subsidiary, iAsia, will continue running the core business of the Group.
By being financially prepared to enhance iAsia’s system, the Group
hopes to attract more customers with an enhanced system to seize
opportunities for business expansion and create higher returns.

The money lending business is another growing business segment
which has steadily generated income for the Group. In the coming
future, the Group will devote more financial resources to its money
lending business and aim for a better revenue growth, while
implementing a prudent credit control policy and paying attention to
credit risks in connection with corporate debts to balance the risk
management and growth of the Group’s money lending business.

The Group believes diversification of its business segments can
maintain a healthy financial profile and promote a sustainable growth
of the Group. In the future, the Group will actively seize cooperation
and acquisition opportunities with more business partners in various
fields to expand its business scales and bring sustainable returns to
the Shareholders. The Group will continue to strive for excellence
in its products and services, in order to maintain its international
competitiveness and enhance its growth potential in the fintech
industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELIRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules (“CG Code”) as its code of corporate governance.
During the Year, the Company complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code then in force, except for the
deviations mentioned in the section headed “Chairman and chief
executive officer” on page 34 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of four
executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee,
Ms. Lin Ting and Mr. Shi Shaowu (who was appointed on 16 May
2018), a non-executive Director namely Mr. Lo Yu Man (who was
appointed on 9 October 2018), and three independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
and Mr. Zhong Shi. Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams retired as a non-executive
Director with effect from 25 June 2018 and Mr. Ng Wing Cheong
Stephen resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 9
October 2018. The Board was chaired by Mr. Chan Wai Lung during
the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors have any
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationship) with each other.

The biographical details of all the Directors are set out on pages 45 to
48 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Functions and responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for overseeing the management
of business, strategic decisions and financial performance of the
Company for the best interests of the Shareholders. The Board has
established various Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference. All Directors have carried out their duties in good
faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and
regulations, and have acted in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole at all times.

The Board takes responsibility for all major matters of the Company,
including the approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (particularly those that may involve conflicts of
interest), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

During the Year, seventeen Board meetings were held to perform the
abovementioned duties and responsibilities and details of attendance
of each Board member are set out in the section headed “Attendance
of Directors at Meetings” on page 39 of this annual report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
the Board’s procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

Delegation of powers

The Board delegates the day-to-day management authority,
administration and operation of the Group to the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Group, while reserving certain key
matters in strategic decision making for its approval. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
management needs to report back to and obtains prior approval from
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on behalf of the Group. During the Year, the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Group provided all members of
the Board with monthly updates pursuant to code provision C.1.2
of the CG Code while the Board regularly reviewed its arrangement
on delegation of authority and responsibilities to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate in view of the Group’s prevailing
circumstances.
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Directors’ appointment and re-election

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation of
the nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) of the Company
or by the Shareholders in general meetings. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung (an executive Director and the chairman of
the Board), Ms. Lam Ching Yee (an executive Director), Ms. Lin Ting (an
executive Director), Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams (a non-executive Director
who retired on 25 June 2018) and Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (a
non-executive Director who resigned on 9 October 2018) has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive). Mr. Shi Shaowu (an executive Director appointed on 16 May
2018) has entered into a service contract with the Company for the
period from 16 May 2018 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive).
Mr. Lo Yu Man (a non-executive Director appointed on 9 October
2018) has entered into an appointment agreement with the Company
for the period from 9 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive). Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin
Ting, Mr. Shi Shaowu and Mr. Lo Yu Man has been re-appointed for a
term of one year on the same terms commencing on 1 January 2019
and ending on 31 December 2019 (both days inclusive).

Currently, all independent non-executive Directors are appointed for
a specific term pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code.
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, who has entered into a service contract with the
Company for the period from 24 June 2017 to 31 December 2018
(both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (both days
inclusive). Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean, who has entered into a
service contract with the Company for the period from 26 September
2017 to 31 December 2018 (both days inclusive), has been re-
appointed for a term of 12 months commencing from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2019 (both days inclusive). Mr. Zhong Shi, who has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018
(both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months
commencing from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (both days
inclusive).

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years pursuant to code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code. By virtue
of article 112 of the articles of association of the Company, the Board
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board
or as an additional Director provided that the number of Directors so
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined from
time to time by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the articles of association of the Company,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation and
all such retiring Directors being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. Details of the Directors to be retired by rotation and,
where applicable, subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company will be contained in the circular
to be despatched to the Shareholders in due course. None of the
Directors who are being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract or an
appointment agreement with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and
5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year, in which the Company
has three independent non-executive Directors, representing at
least one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.

Nomination policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”).
Such policy aims to improve transparency around the criteria and
procedure adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
recommending candidates as Directors and to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection
of candidates shall be based on a range of criteria, including but
not limited to, integrity and reputation, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, and length of service. The Nomination
Committee shall convene a meeting to discuss and consider the
recommendation of any candidate to the Board for appointment,
election or re-election as a Director by the Board or at a general
meeting of the Company.
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Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirements set out in the CG Code.
Such policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board. Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on
meritocracy, and candidates shall be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Selection of candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision shall be
based on the merit and contribution the selected candidates could
bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee, from time to time,
oversees the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, and
reviews, as appropriate, the Board Diversity Policy to ensure the
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and continues to give
adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when making
recommendations of candidates for appointment to the Board.

Dividend policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”). Dividends
may be paid out by way of cash or by other means that the Directors
consider appropriate. Declaration and payment of any dividends would
require the recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay any
dividends in the future, and the amount of any dividends, depends on
a number of factors, including the results of operations and financial
condition of the Group, the payment by the Company’s subsidiaries
of cash dividends to the Company, and other factors the Board may
deem relevant. Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations including
the laws of the Cayman Islands and the articles of association of the
Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or

modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

According to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role
of the chairman was performed by Mr. Chan Wai Lung. During the
Year, the office of the chief executive officer of the Company remained
vacated, since the Company has not been able to identify a suitable
candidate for the position.

However, the Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the
Board from time to time and should any candidate with suitable
knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company will make
appointment to fill the position as appropriate.

Continuing professional development

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the Year, each of the Directors received regular updates and
presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s business
and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the
Group operates, and was also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses. During the Year, each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Shi Shaowu (appointed on 16 May 2018), Mr.
Lo Yu Man (appointed on 9 October 2018), Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams
(retired on 25 June 2018), Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (resigned on
9 October 2018), Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
and Mr. Zhong Shi participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by way of attending training or reading materials
relevant to the Group’s business, the GEM Listing Rules or directors’
duties, and provided his or her training records to the Company on a
yearly basis.
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Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance and
indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering the
liabilities in respect of any legal action against the Directors that may
arise out of the corporate activities, so as to comply with the CG Code.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

1. Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) of the Company on 10 September 2013 with written
terms of reference posted on the websites of GEM and of the
Company. Such written terms of reference were revised and
adopted by the Board on 29 December 2015 in accordance
with the revised CG Code taking effect on 1 January 2016. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other matters,
to review the Company’s financial information, and to monitor
the Company'’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May
Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Audit Committee was chaired
by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting standards
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting
matters for the Year. During the Year, the Audit Committee also
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal audit function. The Group’s quarterly, half-yearly and
annual results for the Year have also been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
that adequate disclosures had been made.

During the Year, six Audit Committee meetings were held and the
details of attendance of each Audit Committee member are set
out in the section headed “Attendance of Directors at Meetings”
on page 39 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code which are posted on the websites of GEM
and of the Company. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are, among other matters, to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management
of the Company and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing the remuneration policy.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun
Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Remuneration
Committee was chaired by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company, and reviewed and approved certain new remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate objectives and
the prevailing market conditions, assessed the performance of
the executive Directors and approved the terms of the executive
Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, six Remuneration Committee meetings were
held and the details of attendance of each Remuneration
Committee member are set out in the section headed
“Attendance of Directors at Meetings” on page 39 of this annual
report.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the Year
are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 10
September 2013 with written terms of reference in accordance
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code which are posted
on the websites of GEM and of the Company. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are, among other matters, to
formulate the Nomination Policy and make recommendations to
the Board on the nomination and appointment of the Directors
and the succession planning for the Directors.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Nomination Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee
Kwun Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi, and the Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Lam Kai Yeung.

During the Year, three Nomination Committee meetings were
held and details of attendance of each Nomination Committee
member are set out in the section headed “Attendance of
Directors at Meetings” on page 39 of this annual report.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board, reviewed
the existing Board Diversity Policy and its implementation,
assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and reviewed the annual confirmations of
independence received from them. The Nomination Committee
also reviewed the nomination procedures, process and criteria
to select and recommend candidates for directorship and made
recommendations on the nomination and appointment of new
Directors.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

REZES
ARARZBE—=FNA+TERIRELEE
g WRBEGEEIRTAIFTE T RESRT L&
R E - A R E T E N GEM R AR
REAEYE - RERREGZIERAR(EFE
B BIEREBRLAEERARTENRE
FHRIFENESTSFEHERES

REARAFHREY RELZEGRE=28
VIFRTESMERSR L  FHIAXLRER
TE - RELZESHMEBTERETE -

RER REZBECBTZREH AR
REZBEMBZHEFBRNAFREI
BElEshFEe#BN] -

RER REZBECRIESTSNEE R
B REZTRERER RARAEEE
REZTEBERREBRER - WHEBIF
WMITESENB R BREMERSAR
BYENFEER REZBETENRERE
FBuE MEBERREA ZREREEAR
REERRZERESEHERES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee
(“Compliance Committee”) of the Company on 10 September
2013 with written terms of reference which are posted on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

During the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the
Compliance Committee comprised two executive Directors,
namely Ms. Lam Ching Yee (chairman) and Ms. Lin Ting. The
principal duties of the Compliance Committee include:

® to establish, execute and maintain the compliance and
corporate governance system of the Group;

® to support and provide instructions to ensure that each
business unit of the Group can establish, execute and
maintain its compliance and corporate governance system;

® to produce the compliance manual of the Group and keep
it updated;

® to conduct education and training programmes on
compliance for the Group, including compliance seminars;

e to monitor the status of the compliance and corporate
governance system of the Group; and

* to investigate compliance problems of the Group and take
appropriate measures when one arises (it may instruct the
relevant department(s) to deal with the problem depending
on its nature).

During the Year, the members of the Compliance Committee
have, from time to time, been monitoring the status of the
compliance and corporate governance system of the Group, and
the Compliance Committee was of the view that there was no
compliance issue of the Group which required the Compliance
Committee to resolve by way of a meeting. Therefore, no meeting
of the Compliance Committee was held during the Year.
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ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT MEETINGS

EEHESRER

Number of meetings attended/entitled to attend (7ore 7/

e/ ARLEEERY (1 1)

Annual Extraordinary Audit Remuneration Nomination
general general Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings
Directors gz RRAEAE REkAAE Bzg83 EYZR%EE HMZREEE R4ZEeEE
Executive Directors HiTEs
Mr. Chan Wai Lung REEts 11 NATER 1717 NATER NATER NATER
Ms. Lam Ching Yee WEERL 1 NATER 16147 NATER NATER NATER
Ms. Lin Ting HELT il NATER 117 NATER NATER NATER
M. Shi Shaowu frote 2) EOREE ML) 1 NATER 1010 NATER NATER NATER
Non-executive Directors FUTES
M. Lo Yu Man fote §) BEREENLS) NAZER NATER 35 NATER NATER NATER
M. Fung Ka Lok Adams frote 4) BRERE ML) 01 NATER 58 NATER NATER NATER
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen /ot 5 REREE(MH) 11 NATER 142 NATER NATER NATER
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFH{TEE
M. Lam Kai Yeung MERLE 1A NATER 1617 6/6 6/6 33
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean 3t e 01 NATER 1647 6/6 6/6 33
Mr. Zhong Shi BEEE 01 NATER 1517 6/6 6/6 33
Notes: HiaF -

1.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

Attendances of the Directors appointed/resigned/retired during the Year were
made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their respective

tenures.

Mr. Shi Shaowu was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 16

May 2018.

Mr. Lo Yu Man was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 9

October 2018.

Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams retired as a non-executive Director with effect from 25

June 2018.

Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen resigned as a non-executive Director with effect

from 9 October 2018.

Annual Report 2018
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditors’ responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for each financial period
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of
the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the Year, the Board has selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities. The Directors continue to adopt the going
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, PKF
Hong Kong Limited, are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 79 to 84 of this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Group’s
external auditor for the audit and non-audit services provided
amounted to HK$520,000 and approximately HK$58,000 respectively.
The non-audit services comprised fees for the taxation review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has not established a corporate governance committee.
According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of
the Company. The Board shall have the following duties and
responsibilities for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company:

* to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

® to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and compliance with the CG Code, reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, and the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements during
the Year as well as the disclosures in this Corporate Governance
Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group include the identification, assessment
and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating
of mitigation measures, and the ongoing review of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness. The Group has also
established an organisational structure in such control systems, clearly
defining the power and obligations of each department in the Group, in
order to protect the Group’s assets against improper use and ensure
compliance with rules and regulations. Such risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Company has an internal control manual containing policies on
information disclosure which is applicable to all employees of the
Company and regularly reminds Directors and employees to properly
comply with relevant policies on inside information while notifying the
Directors (who are also the senior management of the Group) and
employees the latest guidance announced by the regulatory body on
disclosure of such information from time to time to keep all of them
abreast of the latest information.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage

significant risks

The Group’s risk management process involves the identification,
evaluation, response, monitoring and reporting of risks. After risks
that may potentially affect the Group’s business and operations are
identified by the management of the Company, the Board will perform
risk assessment by prioritising the identified risks to determine key
risks exposed to the Group and discuss measures to mitigate such key
risks. Besides, existing risk mitigation measures are subject to regular
monitoring by the management of the Company, which will review the
Group’s risk management strategies, and report such results and make
appropriate suggestions to the Board.
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The Board has in place an internal audit function within the Group
as required under code provision C.2.5 of the CG code. The Group
conducts review of the risk management and internal control systems
on annual basis. During the Year, to strengthen the risk management
and internal control of the Group, the Company has engaged an
independent professional adviser (“Internal Control Adviser”) to perform
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of certain
subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control system for the
Year. The scope of review for the Year included human resources
and payroll cycle, and control over the property, plant and equipment
cycle of certain operating subsidiaries. The Internal Control Adviser
has reported major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee. All recommendations from the Internal Control Adviser
would be followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of the opinion that the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate and that nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board
to believe the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
inadequate. The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for
the sustainable growth of the Group. The Group has therefore made
continued efforts to uplift the quality of its corporate governance.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders, the potential
investors and the investment community (collectively, “Investors”) of
the Company mainly in the following ways:

(@ the holding of annual general meetings and extraordinary general
meetings, if any, which may be convened for specific purposes
and provide opportunities for the Shareholders and Investors to
communicate directly with the Board;

(b) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, circulars,
announcements and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as
required under the GEM Listing Rules and/or press releases of
the Company providing updated information of the Group; and

(c) the provision of the latest information of the Group on the
websites of GEM and of the Company.

Pursuant to article 65 of the articles of association of the Company,
the annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings of the
Company called for the passing of a special resolution shall be called
by at least 21 days’ notice in writing. The meetings of the Company
other than an annual general meeting or an extraordinary general
meeting for the passing of a special resolution shall be called by at least
14 days’ notice in writing.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by requisition in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for sending enquiries and proposals to the
Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and/or put forward proposals to
the Company, for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary,
by posting the same to Unit Nos. 1209-10, 12/F., Prosperity Millennia
Plaza, No. 663 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Kei Lam, the financial controller of the Company, is also the
Company Secretary. She has undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge during
the Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no significant change to the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.

ERELGRE

IR R A& R

BRREBARRERAE

REARBDEBERARE 64 1F  ER—IHRA L
REZEXRAHBHETIRARABEEA (HE
ARBBRAEG L2 RERE) T2 —NBRRRE
AR AREBAEEERRAANERLERE
Ko BREEGARBRREIASURERRER
FHEANEMNEE  BZAGRNEZZEREMN
BANRIT - MELE_-_+—HBA EEEREE
MzARg  AIR2ERALTAIBTUARES A B
RE MEZEBRATREESREERAREMAE
BEEANMAERXARARBREZRAELEN -

NEESTRETARERNER

ERAMARNBEEERLSIehHiEE S
EREEERAFWER  HItARSILARER
66355 A EE X TEES 1212 1200-10 F ©

REELRRM RREFEAZESZEMEIEBA
HBARER (RERME) CEAFERFTEHEL
i WIREE 2SR  BEFERINACHEH
XL - BIREMARBOERRE TIARE -

AFME

ARG EBEE R+ IBATNE « RER
WEEBTOR15/ NEHIER TR ABIH
BRBE B A -

HBERH

RER - ARTMERSEABR SRANBES
KD -

EMSRMEEERERAT | 2018 ERK

44



45

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFSEEHER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (BR {2 %), aged 38, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 8 June 2017.

Mr. Chan has years of experience in business planning and
development. Mr. Chan has been a director of Draco International
Investment (Holdings) Limited (specialising in designing corporate
structures) since July 2013, the chairman of the board of directors
of Elite Pro-Management Limited (specialising in business process
outsourcing) from October 2015 to July 2018, and a director of Draco
Human Resources Management Limited since November 2016. Since
August 2018, Mr. Chan has been a non-executive director of Noble
Engineering Group Holdings Limited (“Noble Engineering”, a company
listed on GEM with Stock Code: 8445).

Mr. Chan was appointed as a business development consultant
(FREER) by the Management Committee of the Haining Economic
Development Zone, Zhejiang Province, the PRC in April 2017. In
October 2017, he obtained his Honorary Doctorate in Business
Administration from Sabi University.

Ms. Lam Ching Yee (# & &), aged 37, was appointed as an
executive Director on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours)
in Finance from the City University of Hong Kong in 2006. Ms. Lam is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has more than ten years of experience in the auditing and
accounting fields. Ms. Lam is currently the company secretary and
financial controller of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“HTY
Group”, formerly known as Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited, a company listed on GEM with Stock
Code: 8081), whose interest in the shares of the Company falls to be
disclosed under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lin Ting (#£), aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director
on 23 June 2016.

Ms. Lin graduated from Shanghai University of Engineering Science
(\B/F TR H T K E) with a Bachelor degree in Industrial Enterprise
Management in 1992. She has also obtained a Master degree in
Technology Management in Information Technology from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004.

Ms. Lin was qualified as a project management professional by the
Project Management Institute in March 2014. Ms. Lin joined the China
Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (B & @M 2= H R 2 7)) in August 1998 and
has served as deputy general manager of the business development
department since March 2009. She then joined Eastern Airlines
Logistics Co., Ltd. (R M Z=W7E R 2 7]) in November 2012 as the
general manager of the information department. Ms. Lin then served
as general manager in the logistics product department of China
Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (B & J5 i 2= (& 17 B FR 2 7)), a joint stock
limited company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability whose H
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 670), A shares
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600115)
and American depositary shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, Inc., and the holding company of Eastern Airlines Logistics
Co., Ltd., from April 2013 to June 2015. From 7 December 2015 to 22
June 2016, Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of HTY
Group.

Mr. Shi Shaowu (¥ 4 ), aged 48, was appointed as an executive
Director on 16 May 2018.

Mr. Shi holds a degree of Doctor of Business Administration from
Business School Netherlands and a degree of Master of Business
Administration from Dongbei University of Finance & Economics in the
PRC.

From June 2005 to December 2012, Mr. Shi served as the president
and the chairman of the board of Schmid Solar Shenzhen Ltd.. He
is currently the legal representative and the general manager of Sunii
Holdings Co., Ltd., a director and the chief executive officer of # Ji§
PEEHE AR AT (for identification purpose only, Hua Xu Business
Management Co., Ltd.), and the legal representative and the chairman
of the board of It B BEH B 1% & B PR A 7] (for identification purpose
only, Beijing Uloong Educational Investment Co., Ltd.).

In October 2017, Mr. Shi was selected as & B & % 8 75 £l #7 8l %
EEM (for identification purpose only, “National 10,000 Outstanding
Innovative Tutor”) by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. He is
also a director of Hong Kong and Mainland International Investment
Society Limited which specialises in the promotion of investment and
cooperation between the PRC and Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EFEEEFR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lo Yu Man (ZF ), aged 36, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 9 October 2018.

Mr. Lo obtained his bachelor of music from The University of
Manchester in September 2007. Mr. Lo is the founder of Yowin
Human Resources Company, which has been engaged in the human
resources business since December 2017. He has worked with
Venetian Cotai Hotel Management Limited and its affiliates and related
entities from August 2013 to April 2016 and from November 2016
to October 2017, with his last position as associate in the market
development department.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (M # [5), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 June 2015.

Mr. Lam is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor degree of Accounting
from Xiamen University in the PRC in July 1990 and a master degree
in Business Administration from Oxford Brookes University in the
United Kingdom in July 2010. Mr. Lam is a licensed person for type
4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under SFO.

Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Hua Long Jin
Kong Company Limited (“Hua Long”, formerly known as Highlight
China IoT International Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1682) from August 2014
to May 2017. Mr. Lam has been an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Hua Long since June 2017 and September 2017
respectively. He was an independent non-executive director of Sunway
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 58) from May 2015 to June
2015 and from October 2015 to July 2018, and has been redesignated
to an executive director since July 2018. He has been an independent
non-executive director of Starrise Media Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code:
1616) since June 2012, an independent non-executive director of Holly
Futures Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with Stock Code: 3678) since June 2015, an independent
non-executive director of Shi Shi Services Limited (formerly known
as Heng Sheng Holdings Limited and Kong Shum Union Property
Management (Holding) Limited, a company listed on GEM with Stock
Code: 8181) since October 2015, and an independent non-executive
director of Kin Shing Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 1630) since May
2017.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (Z%40), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 10 September 2013.

Ms. Lee obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
(Executive) at the City University of Hong Kong in October 2014. Ms.
Lee also obtained her Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2018.

From December 2006 to October 2012, Ms. Lee worked for King
Fook Holdings Limited and her last position was director of sales and
brand development, Greater China. From October 2012 to January
2015, Ms. Lee worked for Boucheron Hong Kong Limited as a retail
director. Ms. Lee was a director of Yan Oi Tong, a registered non-profit
charitable organisation, from 2010 to 2014 and from 2017 to 2018.

Ms. Lee has been an independent non-executive director of China
Brilliant Global Limited (formerly known as Prosten Health Holdings
Limited, a company listed on GEM with Stock Code: 8026) since
February 2018.

Mr. Zhong Shi (#£%), aged 35, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 8 June 2017.

Mr. Zhong holds a Bachelor degree of Engineering in Electronic
and Information Engineering professions and a Bachelor degree of
Management in Business and Administration profession respectively
granted by the University of Electronic Science and Technology of
China (EFEHZAE), the PRC in 2005, and a Postgraduate Diploma
in Integrated and Practicing Management from The University of Hong
Kong in 2015. Mr. Zhong was qualified as a Financial Risk Manager
by the Global Association of Risk Professionals in April 2010 and has
completed the board secretary (2 = € # &) qualification training
organised by the Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC in September
2015.

Mr. Zhong was an investment manager of Shanghai Acorn Campus
Venture Capital Co., Ltd. ((8 FE IR EEIE (L&) BR L A)
from August 2009 to October 2011 and was an investment supervisor
of Shanghai Leaguer Tsing-Yuan Venture Capital Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (E/8 h BB RAI XK EE R
Ak (BBRAMK)) from 2012 to 2013. He was the general
manager of Shanghai Kanghao Investment Management Consultancy
Limited (L /8 2R EEE Z @A R A7) from January 2015 to
December 2016. Mr. Zhong was the manager of Pingan Bright Fortune
Investment Management Co., Ltd. from 2017 to April 2018. Mr. Zhong
has been the Investment Executive Director of the Fosun Innovation
Center-Innovation Investment at Shanghai Fosun High Technology
(Group) Co., Ltd. since May 2018. Mr. Zhong has years of experience
in private equity and venture capital investment and has accumulated
extensive social network in these areas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRE HERELIRSE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report (“ESG
Report”) is the third ESG Report published by the Company. By
reporting the policies, measures and performances of the Group in
ESG aspects, it allows the stakeholders of the Group to understand the
progress and development directions of the Group.

REPORTING STANDARD

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as contained in Appendix
20 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Group adheres to the principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency to report on the
environmental and social policies, as well as the key performance
indicators (“KPIs”).

The corporate governance report of the Group is prepared in
accordance with all applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code under Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules in
force during the year ended 31 December 2018, and is set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

SCOPE OF THE ESG REPORT

Unless otherwise specified, the Year is defined as the period from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2018. The scope of this ESG Report
covers most of the Group’s segments, including the provision of
financial trading software solutions, provision of other IT and internet
financial platforms services, money lending business and assets
investments.

FEEDBACK

The Group values your feedback and comments about this ESG
Report and on how the Group can continue to improve its sustainability
performance. Should you have any comments or suggestions, please
feel free to contact the Group at:

Unit Nos. 1209-10, 12/F.
Prosperity Millennia Plaza
No. 663 King’s Road
North Point, Hong Kong
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE GROUP’S APPROACH TO
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Group believes that it is essential to formulate effective strategies
to take a balance of economic, environmental and social benefits and
other business targets. The Group has integrated ESG considerations
into its operations, with a particular focus on fostering interactions with
its stakeholders, listening to the opinions of its clients, caring for its
employees, and contributing more to the society.

The Group endeavors to be an environmentally-friendly corporation
and fulfil its responsibilities to the environment and community, whilst
promoting sustainable business growth.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group constantly communicates with its key internal and
external stakeholders through various channels. Stakeholder
participation allows the Group to ensure the alignment of its business
and sustainability strategy with stakeholders’ perspectives and
expectations.

The Group has identified the following key stakeholders that are
important to its business and established various channels for
communication with them:

Stakeholders Needs and expectations

BIR HERELIERE
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Communication channels

BHE ERRBE BERE
Customers ° Service quality o Meetings
° Technological innovation ° Emails and service hotline
. Information security
LSS o  RIEHEE e BE
o FRATEIET o  EERRBFER
e EEZE
Employees ° Rights and interests of employees ° Training, seminars and briefing sessions
o Career development o Internal meetings
° Remuneration and welfare ° Staff activities
° Performance review
BE o [EEMENNMER o I HAFEKERE
o WXEE e AEEE
o HHEER e EBIEH
o  RIBEX
Suppliers . Corporate reputation . Meetings
o Customer satisfaction o Emails
° Communication and cooperation
HEm e  NEEE e BE
s EPFWEE o EH

o BBHAE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRE -UERELHE

Stakeholders
BihE

Needs and expectations

ERRBE

Communication channels
BERE

Shareholders and investors

BREEEE

Government and regulatory
bodies

BT R B E

Community

e

° Information disclosure

o Corporate governance

° Financial performance

o Protection of investors’ interests
e [ERWE

e BE®EAR

e  HIBERER

e REREEER

o Relevant laws and regulations
° Economic development

o MREERER

o KHER

° Environmental responsibilities

o Public welfare

° Community development support
e IRIREM

o ANHEF

e IRBHEERE
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° Annual general meeting and other
general meetings
° Announcements and publications

s BRBFASGRHEMBRRAE
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° Ad-hoc enquiries
° Seminars

° Emails
. TEEHEN
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° Community services and activities
° Mailbox

° Company website
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In preparing this ESG Report, a survey has been conducted to help
the Group to identify and prioritise the issues that are material to both
internal and external stakeholders of the Group. Based on the survey
results, eleven material ESG topics were identified and highlighted in
the following table:

BIR HERELIERE
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Significance to Business
Number Issues Foh 4
1 Greenhouse gas emission 1 BE RN
2 Non-hazardous waste generation 2 MEBFEVEE
3 Waste recycling 3 & 4 [21 42
4 Energy use and energy efficiency 4 B IR 5 A fe e Rk
5 Wastewater discharge 5 JEE 7K HE
6 Natural resources 6 RAEIR
7 Labour rights 7 EIEz
8 Diversity and equal opportunity 8 BTIERBEEGE
9 Employer-employee relations 9 EF—ESEFK
10 Employee benefits 10 ESEF
11 Training and developments 11 1EHI R %R
12 Occupational health and safety 12 B¥ERBERETE
13 Supply chain management 13 e g m
14 Product quality and safety 14 EREEREZE
15 Customer satisfaction 15 EFREE
16 Complaints handling 16 RFEE
17 Intellectual property rights 17 HHERE
18 Consumer data protection and privacy 18 HEEEHREREX
19 Community investment 19 fMREE

For future sustainability reporting, the Group will re-evaluate and review
its material ESG topics to ensure their relevance to its stakeholders and
to ensure compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

RARUHEERBEM S - AEEBHEHTHE R
ERASEESNRE LR RELHEE  AER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIR HERELIERS

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group highly values its employees as its assets and the
cornerstone of its sustainable development. The Group believes that
every employee should be respected. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and other applicable local laws for employment.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 62 employees (2017: 61),
including 43 (2017: 46) male staff members and 19 (2017: 15) female
staff members.

BRER%E TEH
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AR H At 368 R B 30 75 (R (DA B -

RZE—NF+ZA=+—H AEEERHEER
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H)BEMBETRI19Z (ZE—LF 15R) LMET -

2018 2017
Workforce by age group RERBREINET —E—N\&E B
20-29 20 - 297%% 55% 53%
30-39 30 - 3975% 31% 31%
40 - 49 40 - 4975% 11% 13%
50 or above 50 % M A & 3% 3%

Recruitment and Benefits

The Group takes a fair and open principle on its recruitment policy. The
Group looks for people who are trustworthy, innovative and proactive
team players. The Group is committed to hiring employees without
taking into consideration of nationality, gender, age, family status
and other facts irrelevant to competencies and qualifications of the
candidates during the recruitment process. Applicants will undergo a
formal and objective assessment to determine whether they have the
aptitude and ability to meet the requirements of the Group’s business
development. An employment contract must be signed between a
newly recruited employee and the Group before commencement of
service. All rights and benefits, including working hours and leave
entitlement, are stated within the employment contract.

The remuneration package of the Group’s employees is maintained at
a competitive level and is strictly in compliance with the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The remuneration
package is determined on the basis of the employees’ or the
directors’ performance, experience and the market benchmark. The
Group paid the monthly salary and made MPF contributions within
the prescribed timeframe for the Year. Apart from basic salary, the
Group also provides discretionary bonus, medical insurance and long
service award to its employees. Under the share option scheme of the
Company, share options may be granted to qualified employees.

In addition, the Group provides staff with good promotion prospects.
The Group has established an annual performance appraisal system
to review staff performance and remuneration regularly, with an aim to
reward and motivate the contribution and performance of employees
and assist them in their career development and promotion within the
Group.
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Dismissal

Whenever there are any dismissal or resignation cases, designated
human resources staff will perform an exit-interview to understand
the primary reasons of departure or dismissal so as to ensure full
compliance with the relevant employment laws and regulations, reduce
staff turnover and improve the business operation in the future.

Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to providing a working environment that is free
from discrimination on the basis of gender, age, family status, ethnicity,
religion, nationality, or disability. The Group treats all job applicants and
employees equally and fairly throughout hiring, transfer, recruitment,
training and promotion.

Work-life Balance

Five-day work week arrangement is adopted by the Group to facilitate
work-life balance. In addition to all statutory holidays as specified in
local laws and regulations, employees are entitled to different kinds
of leave, such as annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, and
compassionate leave. Besides, the Group organises a variety of
recreational activities to improve the sense of belongings of its staff and
promote corporate culture, including sports games, wine tasting and
squid fishing activities. Such activities also help in creating a cheerful,
energetic and harmonious working environment. To enhance the
interaction and communication between the staff of the Group, lunch
gatherings were arranged by the human resources department during
the Year.

Training and Development

The Group is committed to providing an environment that is conducive
to the development of its staff. To achieve this, the Group organises
a wide range of internal and external training programmes to enrich
business expertise, competencies and skill sets of staff to meet
the everchanging challenges of the marketplace. During the Year,
the training topics included updates on information technologies,
operation management, technical updates and market trends, GEM
Listing Rules, accounting standards and laws and compliance.
The Group also supports and encourages self-initiated personal
development through financial sponsorship.
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2018 (hour) 2017 (hour)
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Average training hours completed B 58 BX 19 S 19 3% 51 B S ("NEF) (/NEF)

Per employee BHEER 2.29 1.95
By gender ZHERIE 5

Male EEs 0.84 1.65

Female pegi 6.09 2.84
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe workplace to its employees
and their health is always the Group’s prime concern. To ensure the
safety of its employees, safety precaution within the workplace and
compliance with all applicable regulations on health and safety will
be considered and reviewed regularly. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

To safeguard employees’ health and safety, the Group has adopted
the following measures:

° Provide and maintain a working environment which is safe and
poses no threat to health;

° Provide sufficient first-aid kits at the workplace;

° Prohibit smoking in all enclosed areas within its offices without
exception;

° Perform regular checking and maintenance of machines,
equipment and fire extinguishers;

° Attend the fire drill annually organised by respective building
management companies; and

° Carry out inspection for any unsafe condition at the workplace
and fix it immediately.

During the Year, the number of lost days due to work injury was 1 day
(2017: Nil) and there were no work-related fatalities (2017: Nil).

Labour Standard

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
The suppliers of the Group are expected to follow similar standards
of labour practices when collaborating with the Group. Prior to
confirmation of employment, the Group’s human resources staff
require the job applicants to provide valid identity documents to ensure
that applicants are lawfully employable. Upon discovery of any use of
child labour and forced labour, the relevant employee will be dismissed
immediately. During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with the laws and regulations relating to preventing
child and forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group attachs great importance to supplier selection,
management and monitoring. The Group expects its suppliers to
protect the environment, cherish resources, comply with all laws and
regulations and treat employees fairly as the Group does.

The Group adheres to the principles of openness, fairness and
transparency for supplier selection. The Group’s suppliers mainly
comprise (i) hardware vendors who supply hardware, which are
mainly servers, for the Group’s sale of hardware; and (i) data centre
operators and network system providers who lease out rack space in
data centres and network systems respectively for the Group’s hosting
services.

When selecting suppliers, the Group evaluates its suppliers by
considering factors such as their quality, cost, scale of business and
reputation. The Group also prefers vendors who have green practice
in their business operation and manufacturing process. The Group
undertakes regular reviews to ensure that its partners do not cause
significant negative impact on the environment and society. If any
significant negative environmental or social impact is found to be
caused by its selected suppliers, the Group may consider terminating
the cooperation with them.

Personal Data Protection

The Group is committed to protecting the privacy of personal data of
its employees, customers and business partners. The Group realises
that the financial business involves the dealing with a large amount of
personal information or sensitive corporate data of clients and business
partners. Protecting their interest and privacy is one of the Group’s
top concerns to present outstanding customer service and maintain
long-term business relationships. No department and staff should be
permitted to access, copy and reproduce the content of customer
information without authorisation. Furthermore, the Group has installed
firewall and anti-virus software so as to protect the confidential
information from improper use of hackers. In addition, the employees
of the Group are instructed to handle clients’ and business partners’
information with due care. The Group collects and uses confidential
information in a responsible and non-discriminatory manner by
restricting the use of information to purposes consistent with those
identified in its contracts with such customers and business partners.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable local laws for data
privacy.
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Service Quality Control

The Group provides flexible, scalable and cost-effective online front-
end trading and back-office systems for trading global financial
products, for instance, equities, derivatives, forex, etc. to major banks
and brokerage firms in Hong Kong. As a leading financial software
developer and service provider, the Group believes that product quality
is critical to its reputation and further development. Currently, the
quality control works are handled by the Group’s development team
and quality assurance team.

In order to meet the customers’ requirements, the Group has
established a quality assurance team to develop a sustainable
performance-oriented culture with an emphasis on pursuing
continuous improvement rather than adopting a short-term and
project based approach. To ensure that the Group’s systems meet
its customers’ requirements without deficiency, the quality assurance
team is responsible for running various tests on the Securities Back
Office System and Futures Back Office System in accordance with a
standard checklist.

For the Securities Front Office System and Futures Front Office
System, the Group assists the customers in the market rehearsal
arranged by the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited to
conduct testing on server and system connectivity. For modification/
customisation of the Securities Front Office System and Futures Front
Office System, testing works are handled by the Group’s development
team. Firstly, the Group conducts tests on an individual basis. Then the
Group may conduct an integration test of software systems in case the
modification/customisation works affect parts of the software systems.
For the Forex and Bullion Front and Back Office Systems which do
not connect to any exchange, products will be tested internally prior to
delivery to the Group’s customers.

If there is any defect in any of the above-mentioned tests, the product
will be returned to the development team for rectification. After the
products are installed, a user acceptance test would be conducted
on the Group’s products. Upon completion of the user acceptance
test, the customers would then sign the user acceptance test form to
acknowledge their acceptance that the software system meets their
functional specifications and performance requirements.

After the installation, the Group keeps communicating with its clients
and reviewing on various communication channels in order to receive
feedback from its customers and handle their complaints (if any) in
time. If bugs are noted, the Group’s customers service department
would record the complaints, liaise with the product development team
and ensure the bugs would be fixed accordingly.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the policies on health and safety,
advertising and labelling relating to products and services are not
considered material to the Group and would not be disclosed in this
ESG Report.

During the Year, the Group was not in violation of any relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group, in relation
to health and safety, advertising and labelling in relation to the services
and products provided by the Group.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is devoted to protecting its own intellectual property rights,
whilst respecting the intellectual property rights of others as well.

The Group has implemented the following key policies and procedures
to ensure the efforts of its software programmers and the assets of the
Group are properly protected so as to create an environment that its
creativity and hard work can be rewarded:

° Only the software files encoded in computer-readable form for
the sole purpose of installation will be provided to the customers
of the Group. Human-readable source codes for the software
written and developed by the Group will not be provided to the
customers of the Group;

o Most of the customers who purchase the Group’s software are
required to execute a standard sales contract with the Group,
which includes a clause stating that all elements and components
in the software system together with the relevant documentation
shall remain the property of the Group, and all intellectual
property rights and other proprietary rights embodied thereof
shall vest in the Group;

o All employees of the Group are required to execute a standard
employment contract acknowledging the Group’s policies
concerning business conduct, confidentiality and restrictions
in the execution of their duties. Such policies include the
requirements that the intellectual property rights in all works,
materials or designs originated, written or made by any employee
of the Group during the course of his or her employment with the
Group shall vest in and remain the sole and exclusive property of
the Group;

. The employees of the Group shall not use, divulge or
communicate to any person any of the trade secrets or other
confidential information relating to the business and operation
of the Group or its customers of which they may have come to
possess during their employment with the Group; and

o In order to ensure that only employees who are responsible for
the development of the Group’s software may have access to the
source codes, the source codes are protected by a source code
management tool with permission setting controls for each user
such that access to the source codes by the staff of the Group is
limited.

Under the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
copyright is the right given to the owner of an original work. The owner
has the rights to reproduce or issue copies of the work to the public. It
is an infringement for a third party to do those acts without the consent
of or a licence from the copyright owner. If an infringement is found, the
copyright owner can bring an action seeking damages or an injunction
to restrain the unauthorised copying. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Trade Marks
Ordinance (Cap. 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable
local laws for intellectual property rights.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group believes that fairness, honesty and integrity are important
business assets of the Group. All employees at all levels must ensure
that the Group’s corporate reputation would never be compromised by
fraud, deceit or corruption.

The Group has in place a zero-tolerance policy for misconduct, a well-
defined anti-bribery policy, a whistle-blowing policy and channels
for redress. The Group also requests its employees to conform with
its requirements and policies on anti-corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering set out in the staff handbook and code
of conduct. The Group keeps the identities of whistleblowers and
their reporting contents confidential and protects the legitimate rights
and interests of whistleblowers, thereby encouraging employees
to report violation and creating a good business environment. Any
proven misconduct case would lead to disciplinary action, dismissal
or be reported to the Independent Commission Against Corruption or
relevant agencies.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations pertaining to the prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering including the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

ENVIRONMENT

The Group strives to protect the environment through implementing
various emission control and energy conservation measures in
its business activities and workplace. The Group is committed to
promoting sustainable future by introducing environmentally friendly
business practices, educating its employees to raise their awareness
on environmental protection and complying with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

As the Group is principally engaged in the service industry where
its nature does not involve any direct production of exhaust gases
(including nitrogen oxides (“NOx”) and gaseous sulfur oxides (“SOx”)),
discharge of wastewater and discharge into land and generation of
hazardous waste, there is no direct emission of such pollutants made
by the Group. In addition, since the operations of the Group do not
involve any gaseous fuel consumption and the Group does not own
any vehicles, no significant air pollutants and direct greenhouse gases
(“GHG”) are emitted.
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Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Climate change is a serious issue nowadays and it gradually affects
our daily life. GHG is considered as one of the major contributors
to climate change and global warming. The main source of energy
consumption of the Group came from the electricity usage in daily
operational activities including lighting, office equipment and other
miscellaneous items. The Group mitigates the GHG emission by
implementing different measures as detailed in the section headed
“Use of Resources” of this ESG Report.

Through implementing different measures, the Group has reduced
its GHG emissions and energy consumption during the Year and the
results achieved were disclosed as follows:

BIR HERELIERE

BRERBERBHEN
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GHG emissions 2018 2017 Unit

BERBHEK —E-N\F —E—+F By

Scope 2 - Indirect emission 53.57 58.55 Tonnes of CO,e
E2—RBEEN 53.57 58.55 VAME — (b iR E 251
Scope 3 - Business travel 0.33 4.03 Tonnes of CO,e
EHE3—E ik 0.33 4.03 AME — SRS 85
Total emissions 53.90 62.58 Tonnes of CO,e

BEERE 53.90 62.58 AME — SRS 85
Total emissions intensity 0.87 1.03 Tonnes of CO,e/employee
BEEREE 0.87 1.03 Za B S BB
Energy consumption 2018 2017 Unit

BEIRH 3E —E-N\F —E—+F B

Total energy consumption 103,688.00 105,224.00 kWh

REfE 103,688.00 105,224.00 TR EF

- Electricity 103,688.00 105,224.00 kWh

-HAE 103,688.00 105,224.00 T REF

Energy consumption intensity 1,672.39 1,724.98 kWh/employee

RERE 1,672.39 1,724.98 TERE RS

The Group has signed the Carbon Reduction Charter issued by
the Environment Bureau of the government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region to support the minimisation of GHG emissions.
Under the charter, the Group undertakes to carry out various activities
with an aim to improve energy efficiency, conserve energy and raise
public awareness.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions
which have a significant impact on the Group.
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Wastes

Due to the nature of its business, the Group has not made significant
impact on the environment and natural resources and no hazardous
waste was generated in connection with its businesses during the
Year. For non-hazardous wastes, they were mainly contributed by the
paper wastes and electronic waste generated by the Group. Paper
wastes were collected for recycling through the 3-coloured waste
separation bins placed in the Group’s office. Since the Group mainly
provided services in its business, no significant packaging materials
were used by the Group during the Year.

=327
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Non-hazardous waste 2018 2017 Unit
BEEEY —E-N\F Tt By
Total non-hazardous waste produced 0.51 0.41 Tonnes
EEAEZTBREYES 0.51 0.41 U

Paper 0.42 0.41 Tonnes

R 0.42 0.41 WA

Electronic waste 0.09 N/A Tonnes

BEFEY 0.09 6 A g
Non-hazardous waste intensity 0.01 0.01 Tonnes/employee
BREEREYERE 0.01 0.01 e, 1§ 8

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable local laws in relation to the
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Water use management

The water consumption of the Group was mainly generated from daily
water utilisation in office. The Group has no issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose. During the Year, the Group operated in leased office
premises in Hong Kong where the water supply and discharge were
solely controlled and centrally managed by the respective property
management. In this case, it is not feasible for the Group to provide
water consumption data and measure the results achieved in reducing
water consumption as there is no sub-meter for individual office unit to
record water usage.

Although the Group’s businesses activities do not consume large
volume of water, the Group still endeavours to promote water
conservation in the office. To avoid unnecessary water consumption
from daily operation, the Group promotes good staff behavior by
encouraging employees to always turn taps off tightly and to use
efficient water-saving products in priority.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Use of resources

Policies on efficient use of resources

The Group embraces the 4R (reduce, reuse, recycle and replace)
policy in its operations. The Group’s key environmental protection
measures are as follow:

° Comply with all relevant and applicable environmental protection
laws, regulations, standards and guidelines in places where the
Group operates;

° Implement an effective management system to prevent pollution
and reduce the impact on the environment;

° Optimise operating processes by efficiently consuming energy
and water;

° Use resources effectively to reduce unnecessary waste
generation and encourage the habit of reuse and recycle where
applicable; and

° Raise employees’ awareness regarding environmental protection
by educating them about the 4R Environmental Management
Model.

Green practices
To better manage and reduce the Group’s energy usage, the Group
has adopted the following measures:

o Set the air conditioners in its offices at energy-saving
temperature, most preferably at 24°C-26°C;

o Arrange the filter screens of air conditioners to be cleaned
regularly so as to enhance cooling efficiency;

° Give priority in purchasing electrical appliances with energy-
efficient labels;

o Encourage its staff to switch off lightings and electrical devices
which are not in use;

° Switch the photocopying machines, printers and computers to
sleep mode when they are idle;

o Use teleconference and other means of electronic
communication instead of overseas business trips to reduce the
carbon footprint from flights; and

o Use energy saving light bulbs, LED lightings and other energy
saving electrical appliances in its offices.
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BIR HERELIERS

Policies on waste reduction

° Promote the use of electronic communication for publishing
announcement, event reporting, recommendation, solicitation
and feedback;

° Widely adopt the use of elemental chlorine-free paper;
° Use double-sided printing/copying whenever possible;

° Promote a “think before you copy” attitude: sharing some
documents with co-workers, printing only the number of copies
required;

° Set up 3-coloured waste separation bins to collect recyclable
materials including waste papers, metals, plastics;

° Arrange authorised recycling company to collect toner cartridges
for recycling; and

° Reuse office supplies including envelopes, document clips and
paper bags.

With the implementation of the above measures, the Group believes
that the objectives of saving energy, reducing wastes and promoting
a green office can be achieved. The Group will continue to look for
opportunities to reduce further emissions and wastes so as to minimise
the impacts on the environment and natural resources caused by the
Group’s operation.

Community Investment

The Group strives to be a responsible corporate citizen and dedicates
its resources to those who are in need within our community. During
the Year, the Group made a charitable donation of HK$294,000 (2017:
approximately HK$83,000). The Group focused on providing aids to
underprivileged groups and therefore one of the donations during the
Year was made to the Ex-offenders Photo Exhibition (“ & 4 A T [8l XX
& ”) held by the Society for Community Organization (& % t [& 48 4%
# & ). The exhibition intends to seek the public’s understanding and
acceptance of those who made mistakes, thereby supporting the re-
integration of ex-offenders into society. The Group’s staff has also
joined the Charity Walk and Run 2018 to show the Group’s care and
concern to the community.

The Group has once again been awarded the “Caring Company”
from the Hong Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of its
contributions to building a cohesive society, and inspiring corporate
social responsibility by caring for the community and its employees.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board herewith presents the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial trading
software solutions, provision of other IT and internet financial platforms
services, provision of referral services, money lending business
and assets investments in Hong Kong. During the Year, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company held the license in respect of type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity under the SFO.
Details of the principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on pages 6 to 28 of this annual report. Such discussion forms
part of this directors’ report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE
OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”)
will be held on Tuesday, 25 June 2019. In order to determine the
entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
20 June 2019 to Tuesday, 25 June 2019 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company can be registered.
To qualify for the attendance at the AGM, Shareholders must ensure
that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited at Suites
3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road,
North Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 19
June 2019.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
85 to 86 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2017: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year or
subsisting at the end of the Year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Scheme”) on
10 September 2013 so as to attract and retain the best available
personnel and to provide additional incentive to the eligible participants
under the Scheme. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board is authorised,
at its absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, to
grant options to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company
(in such form then existing and subject to adjustment) to any
employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants or advisors
of the Group, or any substantial shareholders of the Group, or any
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners or service providers of the Group. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 10 September
2013 and expiring on the business day immediately preceding the
10th anniversary thereof, i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early
termination provisions contained in the Scheme.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer is made. The amount payable
by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a share
of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the
Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to
a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the ordinary shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (i) the average
of the closing prices of the ordinary shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the
nominal value of an ordinary share of the Company on the date of grant
of the option.
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The total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue on the listing date
of the Company, being 26 September 2013. The Company may at
any time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and
issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided
that the total number of ordinary shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under all the share option schemes of the Company does
not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time. The total number of ordinary shares of the Company issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant must not exceed 1% of
the ordinary shares of the Company then in issue unless approved by
the Shareholders and issue of a circular and all other information in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

The maximum number of ordinary shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares of HK$0.005 each,
representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the date of this annual report. As at the date of this report,
options carrying the rights to subscribe for 25,200,000 ordinary shares
of the Company have been granted under the existing Scheme limit
and options carrying the rights to subscribe for 100,858,234 ordinary
shares of the Company (representing approximately 8% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report) may be
granted under the existing Scheme limit.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed one year from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof.

Save for the Scheme as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share
Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.
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EFERE

Details of the movements in the share options of the Company

REARRRRIREZ B 2 BREZEFITHTIW

pursuant to the Scheme during the Year are as follows: T
Number of share options
BhREZE
Outstanding
Date of grant and Exercise At Granted Lapsed as at
Name or category of vesting date of Exercise period of price of 1 January during during 31 December
participants share options share options granted share options 2018 the Year the Year 2018
RZE-NF
BRERLES RZZ2-NF t-B=1-A
SRENLAREN REEAH REBREZTRS BREZTRE e RERRHE RERXN HATE
(HKS per share) (ot (3)
(BRER) (Wii)
Executive Directors
HiEs
Chan Wai Lung 8 June 2018 8 June 2018 - 7 June 2019 0197 - 12,600,000 - 12,600,000
s ZE-N\ERANR ZE-\ERANEE
ZE-NERALA
Lam Ching Yee 28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018 0315 4,510,000 - (4,510,000) -
it 4 kS 2 DN ZE-tEZAZTNAE
“Z-\EZAZttA
Lin Ting 28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018 0.315 4,510,000 - (4,510,000 -
HE “Z-+F=A-t/\A “E-tEZAZ+/\RE
“Z-\EZAZttA
Non-executive Director
FHTES
Ng Wing Cheong Stephen 28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018 0315 4,510,000 - (4,510,000 -
RRE “F+£ZAZHNA ZE-+EZAZTNAE
“Z-\EZAZttA
Employees 28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018 0315 4,510,000 - (4,510,000) -
E& “E-+EZF-1)\A “Z-+EZAZtN\BE
“Z-\EZAZttA
8.June 2018 8 June 2018-7 June 2019 0197 - 12,600,000 - 12,600,000
ZE-N\ERANR ZE-\ERANEE
ZE-nERALA
Other participants 28 March 2017 28 March 2017 - 27 March 2018 0315 86,970,000 - (86,970,000) -
EthS8E “E-+E=f-1NH “E-tE=fA-+N\BZ
“Z-\EZAZttA
105,010,000 25,200,000 (105,010,000) 25,200,000
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(a) The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company immediately before the
date on which the share options were granted was HK$0.185 per share.

(b) Consideration of HK$1 was paid by each of the grantees on their acceptance
of the share options granted.

During the Year, no share options were exercised or cancelled, and
105,010,000 share options have lapsed. Further details of the Scheme
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS AND
WARRANTS

Save for the options granted under the Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had granted or issued any convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 89 of this annual report and in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves available for distribution of the
Company during the Year are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had reserves amounting
to approximately HK$161,184,000 (2017: approximately
HK$171,544,000) available for distribution as calculated in accordance
with statutory provisions applicable in the Cayman Islands.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group for the Year amounted to
HK$294,000 (2017: approximately HK$83,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (Chairman)

Ms. Lam Ching Yee

Ms. Lin Ting

Mr. Shi Shaowu (appointed on 16 May 2018)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Yu Man (appointed on 9 October 2018)
Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams (retired on 25 June 2018)
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen (resigned on 9 October 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung

Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean

Mr. Zhong Shi

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules
in the course of the term of office of a Director.

With effect from 1 January 2019, (i) the annual director’s fee and annual
salary of Mr. Chan Wai Lung have been revised to HK$120,000 and
HK$870,000 respectively; and (i) the annual director’s fees of Ms.
Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean
and Mr. Zhong Shi have been revised to HK$360,000, HK$138,000,
HK$96,000 and HK$96,000 respectively.

Mr. Chan Wai Lung, an executive Director and the chairman of the
Board, ceased to act as a director of Elite Pro-Management Limited
in July 2018 and has been appointed as a non-executive director of
Noble Engineering on 10 August 2018.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung (an executive Director and the chairman of
the Board), Ms. Lam Ching Yee (an executive Director), Ms. Lin Ting (an
executive Director) and Mr. Zhong Shi (an independent non-executive
Director) has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 12 months commencing from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018 (both days inclusive). Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (an independent
non-executive Director) has entered into a service contract with
the Company for the period from 24 June 2017 to 31 December
2018 (both days inclusive) and Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean (an
independent non-executive Director) has entered into a service
contract with the Company for the period from 26 September 2017 to
31 December 2018 (both days inclusive). Each of Mr. Chan Wai Lung,
Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Ms. Lin Ting, Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Ms. Lee Kwun
Ling, May Jean and Mr. Zhong Shi has been re-appointed for a term of
12 months commencing from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

Mr. Shi Shaowu, an executive Director, who has entered into a service
contract with the Company for the period from 16 May 2018 to 31
December 2018 (both days inclusive), has been re-appointed for a
term of 12 months commencing from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2019 (both days inclusive). Mr. Lo Yu Man, a non-executive Director,
who has entered into an appointment agreement with the Company
for the period from 9 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 (both days
inclusive), has been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 (both days inclusive).

All service contracts and appointment agreements with Directors are
subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than one
month’s written notice.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES BY THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” on
pages 65 to 68 of this annual report, none of the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

EERTETHRAERKG - 1HE
RIoOREEEPNEZR AR

RIB-N\FE+_A=t—H EFRAQFATE
THRABRARBREEEEE (& L& S5 M

G051 55 XV E8) HORR 15~ ARBARRMD RS HEE P - B
5 ()18 153 5 T K162 1 25 352 (678 B 3 B S AP
HEE0 B SRR AR ROAR ¢ 3 () IR GEM L3R
RIS 5.46 2 5.67 /AR AR 7RI 2 i &
KEMT :

R

\

Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

shares held/ shareholding as at

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest interested 31 December 2018
R=ZZ-N\F

BEBEREN +=ZA=+—H

EEgA B HEEME HERGEHE REBHBED L
(note (b)) (note (c))

(K13t b)) (K17 ()

Mr. Chan Wai Lung (note (a)) Beneficial owner 12,600,000 (L) 1.00

BRIERESEE (Hat(a) BEamllEBA

Notes:

(@  On 8 June 2018, Mr. Chan Wai Lung, being an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board, was granted options to subscribe for 12,600,000
ordinary shares of the Company under the Scheme. Such options can be
exercised by Mr. Chan Wai Lung from 8 June 2018 to 7 June 2019 at the
exercise price of HK$0.197 per share.

(b) “L” denotes long position in the underlying shares of the Company.

(c) The total number of the issued shares as at 31 December 2018 (i.e.
1,260,582,340 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate
percentage shareholdings in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to therein, or,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2018, the
following substantial Shareholders and persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
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FERRRHEMALTRERS RBE

RONEZERAR

BEEMM R-_ZT-N\F+-_HA=+—8 T3
FERRRAL (WHFEFHKARBERITHAR)
AR R KRR T B SR R AIRIE
NG DI 5 336 IRFC M A R A IFEME R

BEmBEAA

Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by A EEAR :
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:
A. Substantial Shareholders A EEER
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held/ shareholding as at
Name of shareholders Capacity/nature of interest interested 31 December 2018
R=Z—N\F
BE/HEREN +=A=+—8
RERERB 51 REEMtE BROHA RESNBEDL
(note a) (note b)
(Miita) (Ki7Fb)
Ever Robust Holdings Limited (note c) Beneficial owner 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
EREERERAT (Kitc) EnfiAA
Whole Kind Investments Limited Interest in a controlled 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
(note c) corporation
SEREARRDE (Hitc) RIEEE R
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited Interest in controlled 136,800,000 (L) 10.85
(note c) corporations
ERMEEERER QA (Hitc) RIEEE R
Leung Kwok Pong Beneficial owner 153,370,000 (L) 1217
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B. Other persons

Name of shareholders

B. HftA=x

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held/ shareholding as at

Capacity/nature of interest interested 31 December 2018

H=B— N\
#E/#F  t=A=t+-8

BRER®E B REHE EENROHAE RESNBEDL
(note a) (note b)
(Ktita) (Ki7Fb)
Perfect Growth Limited (hote d) Beneficial owner 87,742,340 (L) 6.96
ERER AT (Hitad) EmEAA
Lucky Famous Limited (note @) Interest in a controlled 87,742,340 (L) 6.96
corporation
Lucky Famous Limited (#/7%d) REEE R
GET Holdings Limited (note d) Interest in controlled 87,742,340 (L) 6.96
corporations
BHERERRAT (Hitd) REEE R
Notes: Biat -

(@)

()

“L” denotes long position in the ordinary shares of the Company.

The total number of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2018 (i.e. 1,260,582,340 shares) had been used for the
calculation of the approximate percentage shareholdings in the
Company.

These 136,800,000 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ever
Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever Robust”), which is wholly-owned
by Whole Kind Investments Limited (“Whole Kind”), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (“HTY Group”,
formerly known as Interactive Entertainment China Cultural Technology
Investments Limited). By virtue of the SFO, each of Whole Kind and HTY
Group is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the ordinary shares of
the Company held by Ever Robust.

These 87,742,340 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Perfect
Growth Limited (“Perfect Growth”), which is wholly-owned by Lucky
Famous Limited (“Lucky Famous”), which is in turn wholly-owned by GET
Holdings Limited (“GET”). By virtue of the SFO, each of Lucky Famous
and GET is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the ordinary shares
of the Company held by Perfect Growth.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors are
not aware of any other persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors who are also the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 45 to 48 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director
(as defined under section 486 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong)) had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers that the independent non-executive Directors are or have
remained independent.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, an executive Director, is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HTY Group, a substantial Shareholder, i.e. Mark Profit
Finance Limited (which is a company principally engaged in money
lending business in Hong Kong) and other subsidiaries of HTY Group
which are principally engaged in assets investments business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates as defined in the GEM Listing Rules had any business
or interests in a business which competes or is likely to complete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the Year. As at 31 December 2018, the Company did not have any
controlling Shareholder.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group as at 31
December 2018 are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 15.6% (2017: approximately 17.4%) in aggregate of
the Group’s consolidated revenue. The top five suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 61.4% (2017: approximately 58.5%) in
aggregate of the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct
staff cost) for the Year. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 4.9% (2017: approximately 4.9%) of the
Group’s consolidated revenue and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 31.6% (2017: approximately 35.8%) of
the Group’s consolidated cost of sales (excluding direct staff cost) for
the Year.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge and
belief of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) were interested in these major customers or suppliers of
the Group during the Year.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has a diversified customer base with over 100 customers
mainly from Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and Singapore. In order
to maintain relationships with customers, various means have been
established to strengthen the communications between the customers
and the Group to strengthen and expand the Group’s provision of
customer service. In addition, the Group will continue expanding its
sales and marketing team to proactively manage customer relations,
expand its customer base and enhance customer loyalty.

The Group does not have any supplier of goods or services which is
specific to the Group’s business and which is required by the Group on
a regular basis to enable the Group to continue to supply or serve its
customers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Human resources are the most valuable asset of the Group.
Developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success. The
Group is committed to providing its employees with a safe, pleasant
and healthy working environment. The Group rewards and recognises
its employees by competitive remuneration packages and implements
a key performance index scheme with appropriate incentives,
and promotes career development and progression by providing
opportunities for career advancement.

In addition, each department of the Group is responsible for
determining the training needs for its employees in its department
and any suggested applicable training courses either arranged
internally or by external service providers shall be submitted to the
senior management of the Group for approval. Knowledge, skills
and capacities of employees are vital to the continuous business
growth and success of the Group. The Group strives to ensure that all
employees will fulfill the relevant job requirements through education,
training, technical and work experience.

Further details of the composition of our employees are set out on
page 53 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant subsequent event after the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules then in force during the Year, except for the deviation as
disclosed under the section headed “Chairman and chief executive
officer” on page 34 of this annual report. Details of the Group’s
corporate governance practices adopted by the Board are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 44 of this annual
report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float required by the GEM Listing Rules during
the Year and as at the date of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated financial results and the consolidated
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on pages 210 to 211 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to reducing its impacts on the environment
and enhancing the quality and safety of its working environment. The
Group aims to reduce emissions and use of resources in its operation
through various environmental protection measures, including using
electrical appliances with energy efficient labels, encouraging its
employees to minimise use of resources such as electricity and water,
and promoting the use of electronic communication and recycled
papers among its employees.

Further details of the environmental policies and performances of the
Group are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
which is set out on pages 49 to 63 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and that the risk of non-compliance with relevant
requirements could lead to adverse impact on the business
operation and financial position of the Group. The Board as a whole
is responsible to ensure the Group is in compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
To the best of knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied
with relevant laws and regulations during the Year. The details of the
Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report which is set out on
pages 49 to 63 of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)
was and is currently in force for the benefit of the Directors.

AUDITOR

With effect from 6 December 2017, PKF has resigned as auditor of
the Company due to its internal reorganisation which resulted in its
change of entity status from a partnership to a limited company under
the name of PKF Hong Kong Limited. Following the resignation of PKF,
PKF Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the new auditor of the
Company.

PKF Hong Kong Limited, the auditor of the Company for the Year, shall
retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment pursuant to article
176(a) of the articles of association of the Company. A resolution will be
submitted to the coming annual general meeting of the Company to re-
appoint PKF Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wai Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZMEERE

AERBR(BFE)EMEZEMERAT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

FINSOFT FINANCIAL INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finsoft
Financial Investment Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 209, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined to communicate in our report the following key
audit matters for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Goodwill impairment assessment

The Group’s goodwill as disclosed in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements was determined to be a key audit
matter because of the significant estimation uncertainty resulted from
the use of unobservable inputs and the significant judgement made in
selecting the estimation method.

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the
value-in-use calculations prepared by the management;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
the management, including growth rates and gross profit with
reference to current market circumstances;

- Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial budgets approved
by the management and the cash flow projections by comparing
with the industry or market data and the Group’s business plan;

- Reviewing subsequent events relevant to the estimation;

- Re-calculating the estimation made by the management;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of discount rate applied in the
forecast by comparing them to industry and market data;

- Checking the sensitivity analysis performed by management in
respect of the growth rates and discount rates to evaluate the
extent of impact on the calculations of the value-in-use; and

- Determining whether indication of possible management bias
exists.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BAH 3RS

Impairment assessment of loans receivable

The Group’s loans receivable as disclosed in notes 4, 26 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements was determined to be a key
audit matter because the assessment of the recoverability of loans
receivable and recognition of loss allowance are inherently subjective
and requires significant management judgement, which increases the
risk of error or potential management bias.

Our procedures performed to address the matter included:

- Understanding and evaluating the key controls that the Group
has implemented to manage and monitor its credit risk;

—  Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the loans
receivable as at 31 December 2018 to the underlying financial
records and post year-end settlements to bank receipts;

- Inquiring of management for the status of each of the material
loans receivable past due as at year end and corroborating
explanations from management with supporting evidence, such
as understanding on-going business relationship with the debtors
based on loans records, checking historical and subsequent
settlement records of and other correspondence with the
debtors; and

- Assessing the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning methodology, examining the key data inputs on
a sample basis to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenging the assumptions, including both historical and
forward-looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

B E TR E

AR 26 27T AT EN S£BEE
WEFRE G ETABBEEZSEE  REAFT
HERE R RE TR EREEREEEAE AR
TEM UYEZEEEFEEERHE - B nd
ERBEEEERAAOER o

BMPRREEREREMRRZERFEHE

—  TEREFHE EREEERMNBESREGIEG
NERREREEERR

- WERER_F-N\F+-_A=+—-BFH
MBEHEANERKERNRREARFER
BIBTTRP AR IR

- WHAEEEAHFACBHNSEERNER
BEROAR - IRBER ZroEk T R EE AN
BUEBRAR REEBARBERREGER
BARBEEANEMERERNEFER
EEEEENRE &

- FHMEEHEEEEREENERNL
EX2HABBT A EERIER BT  H 8
RETRHEREEENRR  BREELKATE
HER  RITEREE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information which
comprises the information included in the Group’s annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Annual Report”) other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard in respect of the other
information we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is TAN Yik Chung Wilson (Practising Certificate
Number: P05103).

PKF Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREERAMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHExT FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEK
Revenue W= 7 70,126 56,885
Cost of sales S AR (19,822) (15,382)
Gross profit EH 50,304 41,503
Other income H b Uz A 9 367 91
Other gains and losses H e M g5 18 9 (2,415) (25,146)
Administrative expenses THFAX (40,883) (41,962)
Finance costs B #5 AR AR 10 - 978)
Share of losses of associates, net JE(R B N R B 18R 58 22 (2,104) (5,397)
Share of loss of a joint venture i e I R X /N = 23 (16,733) (19,202)
Loss before tax from continuing KA B E EBHBRELA
operations (5] 11 (11,464) (51,091)
Income tax expense FriSHif 12 (3,739) (3,309)
Loss for the year from continuing RERFELEEBHNFANERE
operations (15,203) (54,400)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION BRI REEK
Profit for the year from a discontinued REERIEEEEBRD
operation FE W@ A 13 - 8,250
Loss for the year FAER (15,203) (46,150)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hth2m (BE) WA
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ EEr[geEEHH D AT B
profit or loss: WIEE -
Fair value loss on available-for-sale AHEERENATER
investments 2! = (31,587)
Impairment loss of available-for-sale AHEEREREEE
investments - 25,137
ltem that will not be reclassified to BresEfoEsEs
profit or loss: WIEE -
Fair value changes on equity investments BARKEN A EEE (3,311) -
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMZEEBE (3,311) (6,450)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAXHEBEATE (18,514) (52,600)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeERRRHEM2ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt st FHExT FET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: EhFER (EE) w5
Owners of the Company ZINNEIETF DN (15,203) (46,503)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR = - 353
(15,203) (46,150)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the E{RER (FiE) R AEHE :
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company AKRREE A (18,514) (52,953)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A - 353
(18,514) (52,600)
2018 2017
=E2-N\F —E—+F
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) AR REE (BRI
— For loss for the year -FANEE 17 (1.206) (3.775)
— For loss from continuing operations -REBELCEERBE 17 (1.206) (4.419)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated WE BT P s R ANAR B B S SRR AV AR AR 2L o IR BEE

financial statements. Details of dividend are disclosed in note 16 to the BRERE VSRR 163K EE -

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEaMBERRAR

As at 31 December 2018 R=E—\F+=-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
&t FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E S 18 2,629 2,701
Investment properties REYE 19 - 18,990
Goodwill EES 20 10,295 -
Intangible assets BVEE 21 152 1,462
Investment in an associate R—fEBE R T2 RE 22 856 2,960
Investment in a joint venture R—EeERa2KRE 23 172 16,905
Equity investments IR A% & 24 7,862 11,173
Deposits paid for purchases of property, MEBEWE BEMEHEZN
plant and equipment 2iRE - 3,208
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEELE 21,966 57,399
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories 7E 25 487 -
Trade and other receivables, prepayments B 5 & H b FEUGRIA -
and other assets TA R FRIE R E A B A 26 15,832 9,851
Loans receivable e E R 27 99,590 26,590
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEBERFABEN
profit or loss SREE 28 9,579 2,500
Current tax assets BVEARR I8 & B - 108
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 29 89,004 148,616
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEELE 214,492 187,665
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hoqth pE A~ 5/ 18 K 5T B 30 45,337 37,047
Current tax liabilities EVEARIE B E 397 -
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES ABEEAR 45,734 37,047
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFH 168,758 150,618
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRBAES
LIABILITIES 190,724 208,017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SaMBRRER

As at 31 December 2018 R=ZE—\F+=-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i FTHT FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIBAE 31 29 243
NET ASSETS EERHE 190,695 207,774
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R #E
Share capital A& A 32 6,303 6,303
Reserves R 34 184,392 201,471
TOTAL EQUITY S 190,695 207,774

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors of the Company (“Board”) on 26
March 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan Wai Lung
PRIZBE
Director

BF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

FEEMBRRER B NF=A-+BEXR
RAEFE (BTG HERBETIELHATA

TREEE

Lam Ching Yee
HEE
Director

BFE

BEPMH B Z S e M mR AR D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RoEREBR

As at 31 December 2018 R=E—\F+=-A=+—H

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAREARE
Financial
assets
measured
atfair value Retained
Share Investment  through other eamings/ Non-
Share Share options Merger Capital revaluation ~ comprehensive  (accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  income reserve losses) Subtotal interests equity
ROVEE
HARR
RN RBRA/
RiEE BRRERE Bt BEHE  REEREE SRKERR (23R g FERER L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§1000 HK§1000
TER THR Tin Tin Tin Tin Thn Thn TR TR
(ote 40) (hote 34)
Wiwe)  (Fiu)
At January 2017 5,262 200642 AN 78 67 479 - 9880 222,826 3563 226,389
(Loss)/proft for the year - - - - - - - (46,503) 46,508) 353 46,150
Qther comprehensive loss for the year:

Fair valug loss on avalable-for-sale investments § - - - N = (31,587) - - (31,587) - (31,587)

Impeimentloss of avaleble-for-see investments - TR EXENHESE - - - - - 25,187 - - %187 - %137
Total comprehensive (oss)/income for the year - - - - - 6450 - (46,503) 162,953 363 (52,800
Shares Issued fore 32) 1,051 20623 - - - - - - 30,674 - 30674
Shares issuing expenses - (984) - - - - - - (%84 - (984)
Acquisttion of non-coniroling interests - - - - - - - - - (1,721) (1,727)
Disposal of subsiciaries fnote 36/ - - - - (67) - - - 67) (2,189 (2,256)
Share-based payments fore 33 - - 8218 - - - - - 8218 - 8218
Transfer of share options reserve upon the I

expiry of share options - - [2.111) - - - - 211 - - -
At 31 December 2017 T-tFtZA=1-B 6,303 229281 8218 78 - (1,654 - (34512) 27,774 - 27,774
At31 December 2017 HoB-tE+2A=t-R 6,308 29281 878 [ - (1,654) - (34512) 0714 - 07114
Effectof adoption of HKFRS § RRERHBRLRAZR

ve - - - - - 1,654 (30,291) 2,637 - - -
At1 January 2018 (After adjustment) R-8-NE-A-A(H%4) 6,303 29281 8218 8 - - (30,291) (5,875) 21,174 - 21,174
Loss for the year FREE o = - - - - - (15,203) (15,203 - (15,203
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREMRERE:

Fair value changes on equity investments ~ BAREHNAFEEZE - - - - - - (8311) - 8311) - 8311)
Total comprehensive loss for the year Fh2EFRLE - - - - - - 8311) (15,209) (18514) - (18,514)
Transfer of share options reserve upon e~ BB RE#F ARMRRER

expiry of share options - - (8,278 - - - - 8,218 - - -
Share-based payments frote 33 WRBRHE (H259) - - 143 - - - - - 1435 - 1435
At31 December 2018 H-8-NF1ZAZ1-B 6,303 29281 1435 8 - - (33,602 (12,800) 190,695 - 190,695

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMIH s A L SR A I SRR AR 55 -
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # % — %

—NF+ZA=+—RILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities BETETEN 5 ERE
(Loss)/profit before tax: RFLAT (B1B) 5 F
From continuing operations REFBEREER (11,464) (51,091)
From a discontinued operation xEE ,%iﬂtz‘“ EET 13 - 8,381
(11,464) (42,710)
Adjustments for: TN ZIEAR
— Interest income —AEHA (254) ©)
— Interest expense on other borrowings —HMEENT ML - 816
- Other interest expense —HEfF B - 162
- Dividend income from equity investments at ~ — 3R A FEET A E A
fair value through other comprehensive Z2HWAZBRAEE
income B B A (25) -
— Depreciation of property, plant and - HWERRETE
equipment 1,739 1,920
— Amortisation of intangible assets —mEERE 1,310 2,090
— Fair value loss/(gain) on investment —REWMRZAFEE
properties, net Eia, (k) % # 60 (830)
— Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  — E/&$1 (EEIWNEE:0!
through profit or loss TREEZ A FBEERE 75 577
— Provision/(reversal) of impairment loss - f’f % FE W FRIE AR E 5 1B
on trade receivables Bl (FE) 159 (362)
— Write-off of other receivables — ¥ 85 E b FE U SRIR - 78
— Impairment loss on available-for-sale A E R A R R E RS IE
investments - 28,637
— Impairment loss on investment in —R—EBE AR 2 IRERE
an associate & 18 - 9,179
— Gain on disposal of an associate —HE—RHBE QAT Z K = (8,308)
— Gain on disposal of subsidiaries —EHB R RM W E - (7,588)
— Loss on disposal of investment properties —HEREYMEZEE 23 -
— Gain on disposal of available-for-sale —HEAHEERENKE
investment - (1,229)
— Loss on disposal of property, plant and —HEWE  BEMEE
equipment K& B 74 149
— Share of losses of associates — g QR ZIBE 2,104 5,397
— Share of loss of a joint venture — G — FEJG%Q RlZ BB 16,733 19,202
— Share-based payments — AR TAF K 1,435 8,278
Operating cash flows before movements in HEESEPILERERE
working capital 11,969 15,455
Decrease in inventories FERD 59 -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 Rk H A FEYGRIE - TR A
receivables, prepayments and other assets ME 1‘@ BEOEM R (1,913) 3,482
(Increase)/decrease in loans receivable R E R GEM) }W 2 (73,000) 9,830
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at BAFEEFAERERN
fair value through profit or loss SRVEE (M) R (8,154) 15,675
Increase in other payables and accruals H M FE T 5RI8 K FEET B A 1 N 7,428 3,399
Cash (used in)/generated from operations e (A /FBEHRE (63,611) 47,841
Hong Kong profits tax paid 2 ﬁ BEENER (3,448) (5,846)
Net cash flows (used in)/from e EE) (FTA) FTiE
operating activities RemeFE (67,059) 41,995
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —%

—NFE+ZA=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FTET FHET

Cash flows from investing activities RETBFRENEERE
Interest received Bk B 254 3
Dividend received from a listed investment EE:s ﬁ Fri% 25 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEVE K b‘%& i) (1,072) (2,103)
Sale proceeds from disposal of investment LEREMENESERIEA

properties 18,907 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary L g — Bﬁ% NS 35 (10,667) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBA 36 - 3,424
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — B .%.* RNAIMFTIS RUIA - 59,726
Disposal of available-for-sale investments HEMHEERE - 25,500
Net cash flows from investing activities KREEDFAENHRESREFE 7,447 86,550
Cash flows from financing activities METENEESRE
Issue of shares EITIR G - 30,674
Share issuing expenses Bein TR - (984)
New borrowings raised HIBEE - 11,000
Repayment of borrowings EEEE - (42,500)
Interest paid for other borrowings BHMEERE - (1,016)
Other interest expense paid ENEMAFEMAX - (162)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEBEEBFTANE S REFR - (2,988)
Net (decrease)/increase incashand cash BRERBEZEEY (RL),/

equivalents B hnFEEE (59,612) 125,557
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of E#3R & RIBEEEY

year 148,616 23,059
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRRERBESEEY

end of year 89,004 148,616
Analysis of balances of cash and HeRBESEBYHEHBZIN

cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances W& MIRTTHES 29 69,004 148,616
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity 78 AR RF|H B LR =18 A

of less than three months when acquired ZiE}RﬁEHHT_%’? 29 20,000 -

89,004 148,616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HFEHaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

MEERBMELERENHER

TREFAEEREDDRELBENEEFG
BRAEIFRSED BELTHFELREARR
ERIRKBASARARENGERERERAD
BARETDNHNRESRENELE -

2018 —E-N\F
Total
liabilities
from
financing
activities
Rl & 5E B A
ELXEEEAE
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2018 and at 31 December 2018 R-ZBE-N\E—-A—-HR
ZE2-NE+=ZA=+—H -
2017 —Z—+F
Total
liabilities
Interest- from
bearing financing
borrowings activities
A& EE
FREXE
ATEEE BERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FHET
At 1 January 2017 RZFE—+F—H—H 31,700 31,700
Changes from financing cash flows: AR RE
Proceeds from new borrowings HEEMEHIE 11,000 11,000
Repayment of borrowings EHEBE (42,500) (42,500)
Interest paid for other borrowings EHEMEENFE (1,016) (1,016)
Other interest expense paid B EMF BT (162) (162)
Total changes from financing cash flows BVER S REERE (32,678) (32,678)
Other changes: Ha s :
Interest expenses M ERZ 978 978
Total other changes H & ghazs 978 978
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+A=+—H - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
maMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 December 2012 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares have been listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) since 26 September 2013. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong is Unit Nos. 1209-10, 12/F., Prosperity
Millennia Plaza, No. 663 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong
with effect from 27 July 2018.

The Company, an investment holding company, and its
subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of financial trading software solutions, provision
of other IT and internet financial platforms services, provision
of referral services, money lending business and assets
investments. One of the subsidiaries of the Company held the
license in respect of type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap.571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless
otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and
Interpretations (“HK(IFRIC)-Int”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) (hereinafter
collectively referred to as “Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange ( “GEM Listing Rules”).

Initial application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied for the first time in the current year the
following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance

Contracts

Amendments to
HKAS 40
Annual Improvements  Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
to HKFRSs HKAS 28
(2014-2016)

Transfers of Investment Property

The Group had to change its accounting policies following the
adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. For details, please refer
to the section “Changes in accounting policies” in note 2. The
other new and revised HKFRSs listed above did not have any
significant impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the current period.

fm B EL A

EREHR
REMBREDIRERESSTAAS ([
SEHMAE)BHEZEBVBREEN (S
BIBHmELER]) c FEGITER([FEY
R kR ([55 (BB BHRERER
B8g)-2E]) (TXHBAIEBMBHREE
Bl - BB ARG RAAREE D BHED
CHBRTHRY - ZELEAVERERNTEH
RFTGEM#E % LA ([GEM EWRAID) 2
BEAEFEGK -

BXERAFITREEITEREMBRESE
Ll

RAFE AEBEREREESHMAENR
B T BT R] RAEIERT BB M # s 2R

ERVBMEER SHIA
% 9%

EEMBMEER REZFAHZUWER
%155 BRAEE]

X (BBRP KRS MR RENRE
2EZEY)
— R EE 225

BEEMBMEER BRONERRZZHER
F2HABET A 2

FEMBREEN BEBMBHREERSE

FAFABET A AR A K — BB
BB BMIEREE
Aot emT A
BB BEYEER
FA0RIERT A

FEMBREEN 2 HEBMBHREERSE
FEME (TN 1RRBEBGIER
FEZT—REF) F2BWMEF

AEBENEABEVHREERE IR LES
MBREERNFSRRABEREGHERK -F
AFRHELHME[ Gt RREE] —6 - &
A A FTRT AR AE 7] &8 B 15 RS 2 RIS R
BT HRMERN S RERENERTE -
BT eHERMBMERNERTLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
(2015-2017)

Leases '
Insurance Contracts °
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments '

Definition of a Business ?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation '

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture *

Definition of Material ?

Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement '

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12
and HKAS 23 1

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations is set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted for entities that
adopt HKFRS 15 at or before the date of the initial adoption of
HKFRS 16. The Group currently plans to adopt HKFRS 16 initially
on 1 January 2019.

HKFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease
accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-
of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term leases
(i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) and leases of low-
value assets. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current
standard. So far, the most significant impact identified is that the
Group will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating
leases. In addition, the nature of expenses related to those leases
will change as HKFRS 16 replaces the straight-line operating
lease expense with a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets
and interest expense on lease liabilities.

As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group plans to use the practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are, or contain, leases. The Group will
therefore apply the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only
to contracts that are entered into on or after the date of initial
application.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16. Therefore, the
cumulative effect (if any) of initial application will be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of equity as at 1 January
2019, with no restatement of comparative information. As
disclosed in note 38, the Group’s future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December
2018 amounted to approximately HK$2,223,000, the majority of
which are leased for office premises purposes and are payable
either within 1 year or after 1 year but within 5 years as at the
end of reporting period. Upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 16,
the opening balances of lease liabilities and the corresponding
right-of-use assets will be adjusted, after taking into account the
effects of discounting, as at 1 January 2019.

2.

fm Bl E % (R)

ERANBHREEAFE16EEE
EBTBBRELIF16HEBER T NLE—
A— B A& BN FE R AR - nERE
ME BT KRG ELFE 155 R EN YA
RNEBYBHREELNE165  BRERT
RAEABSMBHREEANF165 - £EH
BHAEBR T hhF— A —BUBEAES
B Tg IR AER 1655 o

BEMBEREEANFE 16585 AT HABEARK
RE-MEEARRAZESSFHEE - %&E
AER-HENEENEREEE  LREHE
EFEXMEBER -BESAE - SHE
SEMEHEERR12EALER) MEEER
BHEERERE - WA A SRR E AR
B - BRIEBRINREAFER/AEER S
HELHEERMNEERE - 1IN BHZE
HERBEERNEE/EERE  ARBUG
WEERF16WAH EREEERITEM
HHEEEEMRIEEANEARKTEKE
FERHEREHEBAMER -

HREBEMBRELNE16FARFT - AF
EERAYENRESZRRAEENE
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SEBEHEEVBREENE16RNHE
RBEMEAXERITINANIEAEENH
EE

AREE SR BRALETNEBHEERBES
TSRS AERIE 1658 o it - FIATRANAY Z5t
YE(WE)BEERAR = —NF—A—
A2 ETSREARE  BETELERE
B oo IRIEMFS8ATIEE R —N\F+=
A=Z+—8 AEETAHHECEREETH
REFEBEN RS L 2,223,000 7T - &
FAAEDAPRAEMERE  WHRIREIR—
FAR—FRERAFATN R_T—hF—
A— RV ERE SV HiRE £ E165%E
B -HEaEREENEREEE BVIHE
(EEBFTROFE) T AFAE -
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets for its operating leases, the Group expects that the
transition adjustments to be made upon the initial adoption of
HKFRS 16 will not be material. However, the expected changes
in accounting policies as described above could have an impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements from 2019
onwards.

Save as discussed above, all other new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective are
not likely to have significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
and also discloses the new accounting policies that have been
applied from 1 January 2018, where they are different to those
applied in prior periods.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments. Recognition
and Measurement. It makes major changes to the previous
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial
assets and introduces an expected credit loss(es) (“ECL”) model
for the impairment of financial assets.

When adopting HKFRS 9, the Group has applied the standard
retrospectively to items that existed as at 1 January 2018 in
accordance with the transition requirement and also applied
transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods.
Differences arising from the adoption of HKFRS 9 in relation
to classification, measurement and impairment of financial
instruments are recognised in accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
The adoption of HKFRS 9 has impacted the following areas:

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value, including unlisted equity investments measured at cost
less impairment under HKAS 39.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

* the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income

At the date of initial application/initial recognition, the Group may
make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

Investments in equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
accumulated in fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established in accordance with HKFRS 9, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income (continued)

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income
for the fair value changes of all equity investments previously
classified as available-for-sale investments under HKAS 39. The
investments are not held for trading and not expected to be
sold in the foreseeable future. At the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9, HK$11,173,000 were reclassified from available-for-
sale investments to financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to
HKFRS 9 on accumulated losses and reserves and the related
tax impact (if any) as at 1 January 2018:

fm L% (R)

BERERBE (&)
EBYUBHEEREIRLTHBT A (HF

EHEEZ ARG E (B)

EEABEAFEEFAEMZARANE
BEEE (88)
REBBEFLABREE ST 2ERIE 305
FHEATHRHERENZIRAREN A TE
BHE2REMEEEA - WEWIEHERS
TEERABRRRETEHE - RERERE
B BHRAEEREIRER - 11,173,000 T
MAEHEREEH D EARAFEEANA
Hib2EBANSREE -

TRELARR -_ZE-N\F-A-RBEEE
PRI E R F 95t i & RATEIE KRN
FTENRBERAEZE (W0E)

HK$’000
FHET
Accumulated losses ZitEE
HKAS 39 carrying amount at 31 December 2017 R=-Z—+tF+=-A=+—H
ARG EAIFE 95 2 AREE (34,512)
Reclassification under HKFRS 9 RIBEEBVBMEENEIRENHHE 28,637
HKFRS 9 carrying amount at 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—H—H
B BMEERF IR 2 REE (5,875)
Investment revaluation reserve (recycling) BESMHE (TERD)
HKAS 39 carrying amount at 31 December 2017 WK -_ZE—+F+-F=+—H
ARG ERE I 2 IREE (1,654)
Reclassification under HKFRS 9 BEEEHBRELREOFREFN DA 1,654
HKFRS 9 carrying amount at 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\F—HA—H
BBV BWEERFE G 2 REE -
Financial assets measured at fair value BRATEEFAHMZEARANEREEZREE
through other comprehensive income (FAEE)
reserve (non-recycling)
HKAS 39 carrying amount at 31 December 2017 R=-Z—+tF+=-A=+—H
BASFEAFEIRCREE -
Reclassification under HKFRS 9 REERBVBREENFEIRENRSE (30,291)
HKFRS 9 carrying amount at 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—H—H
EAMBHELERE W 2 REE (30,291)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income (continued)

The following table shows the original measurement categories
for each class of the Group’s financial assets under HKAS 39
and reconciles the carrying amounts of those financial assets
determined in accordance with HKAS 39 to those determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9:

fm Bl E % (R)

B BREE ()
BB BHEEEREIRLTHBT A (HF
EHEEZ SR E (B)

BERBRATEEFAELMEERANS
BMEE &)
TRIIREBEEB G ERFE R AEEE
BeMEBEENVIRTEEN  REREEE
GBI EREREENZEE N EERAE
SIRBEREM GRS EUNEOREEEEITY
BE :

HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 December 1 January
2017  Reclassification 2018
RZB-+F R=ZB-NF
+=A=t+-H —A-8
EBaER EENBRE
$39%% ERFIH
REFE ENOR HREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRET THT THT

Equity investments at fair value through RATEEFAEMZERA
other comprehensive income ZBRAEE - 11,173 11,173
Avallable-for-sale investments AftHERE 11,173 (11,179 -
11,173 - 11,173

Impairment of financial assets DR EE R E

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with the
ECL model. The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement
of credit risk associated with a financial asset and therefore
recognises ECL earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting
model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including trade
and other receivables, deposits, loans receivable and cash
and cash equivalents); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15.

EEMBMEERNEIFATRPEEFHE IR
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B - FEHREEEHREAE RS REENN
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these assets are
assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings based on debtors’ aging.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

The credit losses calculated pursuant to the new requirements
are not significantly different from the amount recognised under
the current practices. Therefore, the Group considered no
adjustment is necessary upon the initial adoption of the standard.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

There have been no changes to the classification or
measurement of financial liabilities as a result of the application of
HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 Revenue which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of
services, and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts which specified
the accounting for construction contracts. The Group has
elected to use the modified retrospective approach which means
that the cumulative impact of the adoption will be recognised
in accumulated losses as at 1 January 2018. Therefore,
comparative information has not been restated and continues
to be reported under HKAS 18. As allowed by HKFRS 15, the
Group has applied the new requirements only to contracts that
were not completed before 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue from sale of goods was generally recognised
at a point in time when the risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods had passed to the customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue
is recognised when the customer obtains control of the promised
good or service in the contract. The revenue may be recognised
at a single point in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the
following three situations in which control of the promised good
or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

- When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance, as the
Group performs;

—  When the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  When the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If the contract terms and the Group’s activities do not fall into
any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the Group
recognises revenue for the sale of that goods or services at a
single point in time, being when control has passed. Transfer
of risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the indicators
that is considered in determining when the transfer of control
occurs. The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial position and results of operation
for the period. There was also no material impact to the Group’s
accumulated losses as at 1 January 2018.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Presentation of contract assets and liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised only if the Group
has an unconditional right to consideration. If the Group
recognises the related revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration for the promised goods and services
in the contract, then the entitlement to consideration is classified
as a contract asset.

Similarly, a contract liability, rather than a payable, is recognised
when a customer pays consideration, or is contractually required
to pay consideration and the amount is already due, before the
Group recognises the related revenue. For a single contract
with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract
liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented
on a net basis. To reflect this change in presentation, contract
liabilities, including receipts in advance from customers, with
amount of approximately HK$19,356,000 (as at 1 January 2018:
approximately HK$17,467,000) are now separately presented
under other payables and accruals as at 31 December 2018, as
a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value-in-use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

* Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

* Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —%

3.

—NFE+ZA=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

®  has power over the investeg;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

* the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

®  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

® any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

* liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below); and

® assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified in another HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), and
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power
to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, the investments
in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associates/joint ventures.
When the Group’s share of losses of associates/joint ventures
exceeds the Group’s interest in those associates/joint ventures
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associates/joint
ventures), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associates/joint ventures.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(continued)

An investment in an associate/a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate/a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate/a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 28 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in an associate/a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use and fair value less
costs to disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate/a joint
venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified
as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate/joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate/joint venture at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate/
joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate/joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate/joint venture
on the same basis as would be required if that associate/joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate/joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity
method is discontinued.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa. There is no remeasurement to fair value
upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate/a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate/a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate/joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate/joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

Financial trading software solutions

Provision of software maintenance, hosting and related
services

Revenue from provision of software maintenance, hosting and
related services is recognised over the contracted period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. Advances are
normally required before rendering the services.

Software licensing fee

The Group earns revenues by leasing the software products to its
customers and the nature of the Group’s performance obligation
in granting a license is considered to be a right to access the
Group’s intellectual property. The Group accounts the grant of
license as a performance obligation satisfied over the contracted
period on a straight-line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Financial trading software solutions (continued)

Sales of hardware

Revenue from sales of goods, after deduction of any discounts,
is recognised at a point in time when control of the products
has transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customer, the customer has accepted the products, the
collection of the related consideration is probable and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products.

Sales of technology software systems and provision of
system customisation and network support services
Revenue from sales of technology software systems, and
provision of system customisation and network support services,
after deduction of any discounts, is recognised at a point in time
on completion of the customisation and network support work
which generally coincides with the time when the customised
software and network support work is accepted by the customer.
The collection of the related consideration is probable and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products and services.

Other IT and internet financial platforms services
Revenue from developing, designing and selling IT related
products and services is recognised over time in the accounting
period in which the control of the products or the services
are transferred to the customer because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as it performs.

Others

Trading of gaming products and provision of related
marketing services

Revenue from sales of electronic dartboards is recognised at
a point in time when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the customers, the
customer has accepted the products, the collection of the related
consideration is probable and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

Revenue from trading of gaming products and provision of
related marketing services is recognised over the contracted
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised at the time
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income
Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant leases.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods
s0 as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Share-based payment transactions of the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). For share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve), when the Group obtains the goods or when
the counterparties render services, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented on the face of the statement of profit or loss, which
comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

—  the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

* theintention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

* the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

* how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset; and

* the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (if any). Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are internally-generated.
Alternatively, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets below).

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, at
banks and securities brokers, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.
The Directors of the Company who make strategic decisions
have been identified as the chief operating decision maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments.

Financial instruments

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statements of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provision of the financial
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing component) is
initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through
other comprehensive income; or fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition, except if and in the period the Group changes its
business model for managing financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss:

(i)  the asset is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

(i)  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for
trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income as
described above are measured at fair value through profit or
loss. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements
to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income as at fair value through profit or
loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business
model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that
do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for
this purpose, which is consistent with the Group’s continuing
recognition of the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and
whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets: Assessment of whether contractual cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as
the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. “Interest”
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks
and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a
profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest, the Group considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that
it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers:

(i)  contingent events that would change the amount or timing
of cash flows;

(i)  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate,
including variable rate features;

(i) prepayment and extension features; and

(iv) terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from
specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment (continued)

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments
of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount
substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the
contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant
discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that
permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially
represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid)
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional
compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent
with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is
insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and
losses

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables, deposits, loans receivable and cash
and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is
reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in the profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in the profit
or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

They are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling); and
are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will continue to be held in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling).

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established in accordance with HKFRS 9, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” line item
in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets
recognised on its consolidated statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred assets are not
derecognised.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL. For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires the use of the lifetime
expected losses provision for all trade receivables. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit losses experience based
on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate
to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic
conditions.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECL

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
ECL are a probability-weighted estimation of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial assets.

The Group has the following types of assets that are subject to
HKFRS 9’s new ECL model:

trade and other receivables
®  deposits

* |oans receivable

e cash and cash equivalents

While deposits, other receivables, loans receivables and
cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

For trade receivables with no significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the assets. The provision matrix is determined
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the trade receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and
is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date
the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on other financial assets at amortised cost are
measured as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment
is measured as lifetime ECL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account by
the Group when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

®* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

* significant deterioration in external market indication of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

®  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

®* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

® an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal
of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

* significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
e abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

* the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables and contract assets
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate.

A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals. Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss. A financial
liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is
classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value and net gains
and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised
in the profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in the profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms
are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished
and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in
the profit or loss.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
available-for-sale financial assets and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instruments, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or
loss when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term; or

® on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

® it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may
be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition if:

* such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables; (b) held-to-maturity investments; or (c)
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as available-for-sale financial assets and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale
monetary financial assets relating to interest income calculated
using the effective interest method and dividends on available-
for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit or loss.
Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale
financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation
reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment of
financial assets below).

Dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.

The fair value of available-for-sale monetary financial assets
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses
that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the
amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end
of each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment of financial assets below).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, deposits, loans receivable
and cash and cash equivalents) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been
affected.

For available-for-sale equity investments, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is

considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
®* preach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

EXREFHE &)

ERMIA (&

BAR=-F—-NF—F—HIHBRF (&)
EHEE (&)

B EWRIR

B K YRR 3 BB B o P E S R
BERERTSITEBENITESREE -1
ML HER®R  BERREEFE(BEESRE
WA - e  BREFARRERRE
EBY) THLAB B 32 8 85 B AR AR AR
BB (2B TXEREERENGHEE) -

MEBUWATIRBERN R ER - IEERNE R
BRI EURFERID

TREERE
EREE (BRATEEFABENEREER
SN R E E AR E T SAE TR ©

WHREBFRRT  RENMBHRERDR
ER-HAZHERVI AT HREERELE
MEAMERTE MeREERIFCRE -

BRI ERAREN S - BFATHEAR
S 8T 5 K AN A T A A (L
ERER -

SAAEMEREENS RENTBEEA
B

o BOUAXXRZYTEBEARTREE
%

o EXN PIIMREFHBRABHASNK
i

s MERANESSRENETHEEM:
%

e ReMEEMERTSEMBREEMH
%o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and loans
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective
basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods (see the accounting policy below).

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade and loans receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in
profit or loss. When a trade and loans receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in
the period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment
losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation
reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt investments,
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit
or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of
the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continueq)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or
loss when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration that
may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading, or (i) designated as
at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

* it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

® on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

® it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part
of a business combination may be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

* such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continueq)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than those financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognise its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018 (continued)
Derecognition (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial
asset between the part it continues to recognise, and the part
it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of
those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between
the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part
no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income
is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated
between the part that continues to be recognised and the part
that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values
of those parts.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see the accounting policy in respect of revenue recognition
above). A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

() has control or joint control of the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Research and development costs

Careful judgement by the Group’s management is applied when
deciding whether the recognition requirements for development
costs have been met. This is necessary as the economic success
of any product development is uncertain and may be subject to
future technical problems at the time of recognition. Judgements
are based on the best information available at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, all internal activities related to
the research and development of new software systems are
continuously monitored by the Group’s management.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year:

Loss allowances on receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected credit loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in
notes 6, 26 and 27.

Impairment of capitalised systems development costs
Determining whether capitalised systems development costs
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount
determined by the value-in-use of the capitalised systems
development costs. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the capitalised systems development costs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The Group
carries out an impairment review assessment on the capitalised
systems development costs at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. Where observable market data are
not available, the Group engages independent qualified valuers
to perform the valuation and works closely with independent
qualified valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of certain types of financial instruments. The use of valuation
models and assumptions in valuing these financial instruments is
subjective and requires varying degrees of judgement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

Before 1 January 2018, the Group classified certain assets as
available-for-sale and recognised movements of their fair values
in equity. When the fair value declined, management made
assumptions about the decline in value to determine whether
there was an impairment that should be recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. At 31 December 2017, impairment
losses of approximately HK$28,637,000 had been recognised for
available-for-sale investments. The carrying amount of available-
for-sale investments as at 31 December 2017 was approximately
HK$11,173,000.

Current and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong. Significant
estimates are required in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was priced using a
binomial option pricing model which requires the management’s
estimates and assumptions on significant calculation inputs,
including the estimated life of share options granted, the volatility
of share price and expected dividend yield. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate, which would in turn affect the share-based payment
expense recognised for the period and its corresponding impact
on the share options reserve. Estimates relating to the valuation
of share options are discussed in note 33.
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5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

A subsidiary of the Group is licensed with Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC”) for the business it operates in. The Group’s
licensed subsidiary is subject to liquid capital requirements under
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R”)
(Cap. 571N of the laws of Hong Kong) adopted by the SFC.
Under SF(FR)R, the licensed subsidiary must maintain a liquid
capital (assets and liabilities adjusted as determined by SF(FR)
R) in excess of HK$100,000 or 5% of its total adjusted liabilities,
whichever is higher. Management closely monitors, on a daily
basis, the liquid capital level of that licensed subsidiary to ensure
compliance with the minimum liquid capital requirements under
SF(FR)R.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group seeks to balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt. For the licensed subsidiary,
the Group ensures it will maintain a liquid capital level adequate
to support the level of activities with sufficient buffer to
accommodate for increases in liquidity requirements arising from
potential increases in the level of business activities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued share
capital and reserves). As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net
debt-to-equity ratio was not applicable due to the absence of any
borrowings as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Not applicable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. @I H
(a) The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial (a) BEESMIENBERRZEABENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NF+=-A=+—H
Financial
assets
at fair value
Financial through other Financial
assets at fair comprehensive assets
value through income - equity at amortised
profit or loss investments cost Total
BRATLEEFA
RATEE Htt2EKA REBHHA
FABEN MemEE TEM
tHEE -RARE tHEE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
TER TER TER TER
Financial assets SHEE
Equity investments at fair value BATEEFAEM
through other comprehensive 2EMAZBRERE
income - 7,862 - 7,862
Trade receivables g FEW B - - 7,199 7,199
Financial assets included in other H RSB
receivables and other assets HWEERNEREE - - 7,351 7,351
Financial assets at fair value BATEEFAER
through profit or loss HemEE 9,579 - - 9,579
Loans receivable EUER - - 99,590 99,590
Cash and cash equivalents AeRREEED - - 89,004 89,004
9,579 7,862 203,144 220,585
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R
STER
cRMEE #at
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities included FEoAth &< 50BN JE ST B A
in other payables and accruals ZemAaE 25,841 25,841
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a) The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. €FTA(E)

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

(a) BSHEeRIANBSHMRZEEEWT
(%)

At 31 December 2017 RZZE—tF+=-A=+—H
Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
designated Available-
as such for-sale
upon initial Loans and financial
recognition receivables assets Total
BATEE
BPNEE)
EREEER ERR AHHE
REIEE &Y FRIE CREE fEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAET FET FET
Financial assets CRMEE
Avallable-for-sale investments At H &R E - - 11,173 11,173
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE - 5,067 5,067
Financial assets included in other £ i fE U 7018 K
receivables and other assets HihEEFHNEREE - 6,416 6,416
Financial assets at fair value BATEBFABRE
through profit or loss RS RE E 2,500 - 2,500
Loans receivable FEYE K - 26,590 26,590
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBLEED - 148,616 148,616
2,500 186,689 11,173 200,362
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
LSRR
TER
TEAE #Et
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities included FLAth JE T RRIE K e AT B A A
in other payables and accruals i Y=L 19,382 19,382

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables and other assets, equity investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
receivable, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and accruals. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

Substantially all the revenue-generating operations of the
Group were transacted in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the functional currency and the presentation currency of
the Group. The Group therefore does not have significant
foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities. Interest-bearing
financial assets are mainly deposits with banks and loans
receivables. Interests on deposits with banks and loans
receivables are principally based on deposit rates offered by
banks in Hong Kong and fixed rates, respectively.

All of the Group’s loans receivable are based on fixed
interest rates with original maturities in range of 6 to 12
months (2017: 6 to 12 months). The Group prices these
loans receivable strategically to reflect market fluctuations
and achieve a reasonable interest-rate spread. The fixed
rate instruments of the Group are insensitive to any change
in market interest rates.

As the Group have no significant variable-rate interest-
bearing financial assets, except for short-term bank
deposits, the Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing financial assets resulted from the
changes in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are relatively low and not expected to change
significantly.

LRI A (&)

(b) HBEMREEEEREEK

FEBTIZCRIABREES REME
WHRIEA R EMEE - RAKRE - RAF
BEFABENSREE  BRER B
eRReFEY BHREMENFEA
NREHER FEZEER T AN
BN ERE - BZESR T AN
28 0 JEL e 2 2am ] B2 1 5 5 e i O ISR K
RTIX-ERBERERERZSRAR -
IARER K B B R B1TEE 6 ©

5 Bl B

S FE B i B HE
REBEERENEBRRI D BT
(REENMEEBE R ENEE) ETR
S At REBE W EL[TEKRINER

G o
A

T 7 2 & FE

R ER (B T e 2 TR 35 M RO B R B I B B
AEEHEEREERAGEH AR
CREEIZRBRITEAMBRER -
RITERARERERZFEEESRIE
RBBRITRBEZ TR X R EEF*E
AHE -

REB A RKREZFTZEE RS -
BREEENTF6E12AR (ZZT—+4F:
6E12EA) - REBERB M AZERE
WERER  URBTISEES RERES
BOMEEZEB ALECZEAEMEITA
MG F R 2 BB o

HABREHRTERIAEELESA
FRFTBEREE AKERANEER
EREBEANKEMHNEXEH 2 FE -
R IRIT I SR R H &K A TR H &
BEXREH BEEEYHNNEEHHAL
CRMEETESATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TRIEA(E)
(b) IR EE B ERBUEEK ()

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management (continued)

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging the significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may
affect the value of these investments.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end
of the reporting period. A 10% change represents the
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in equity price.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, with other
variables held constant, the Group’s other comprehensive
loss would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$463,000 (2017: approximately HK$992,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2018. This is mainly due
to the changes in fair value of listed equity investment
recognised as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income/available-for-sale investments.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, with other
variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$815,000 (2017:
Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2018. This is mainly
due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Credit risk management

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors of
the Company closely monitor the overall level of credit
exposure, and the management is responsible for the
determination of credit approvals and monitoring the
implementation of the debt collection procedure to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate loss allowances are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk has been
significantly reduced.

In respect of loans receivable, the management manages
and analyses the credit risk for each of their new and
existing customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. The management assesses the
credit quality of each customer based on the customer’s
background information, financial position, past experience
and other relevant factors. The Group also reviews from
time to time the financial conditions of the customers.

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. At 31 December 2018, the Group has a
certain concentration of credit risk as 3.85% (2017: 2.51%)
and 11.11% (2017: 7.23%) of the total trade debtors was
due from the largest customer and five largest customers
respectively.

LRI A (&)

(b) T E M EE B R RBUER (&)

FERBREE

RBERR AEERR S HF RiLh
TEEMSARERIUBBREINES
SRR - THE BN RS8R
EEReREENREEMES

REEREERERE  NAREEERY
EREREERRKY BEEEAR
EEEERHLMEREBWTREFHHN
17 AR ERIURETE KRB HAEE
BAN ARBERERERRBHZEE
PIE S EAN AR E SR - FERE A
WEISFRIEL RS EEE - ST E
ARREEBR/AEENEERREK
PRI

FRERERTF - R HRESA RR
Kfgtrnn - BRESHHESMHIE MR
BEEXEFPETEERRERERON - §12
BRESUEFPZESER FHIRR -
BELEREMEBERFGHEEEES
= AEE N TRERMZEPHM AR
e

BREEEMETERBER ZELHRBR IR
HEERBREXE MHREETR R
T-NF+_A=1+—8 AREKRRK
AR A3.85% (ZFB—+%F:251%) &
11.11% (ZZ—+tF : 7.23%) DR A&
WHRAKBEFRARNEP ZFIE  ASE
EEETEESTRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and
policies (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation or high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk.

Impairment assessment under ECL model
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

ﬁ%@\lz (II‘E.)
(b) BRI EEEHERBK (&)

EEREEE ()
HRRZEFAEERTIERREE
SAKB AR EETRABRIT - BUR
PESHEERBRER -BRAEBES (7
REMEEENRCERT) FERBEF
SN REBWEAMNEMEANEES
e B o

B EEIEM L T2 A G
A5 B A I IER S E AR 45
TEH

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL

5l B BRAEHERABECEE

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does 12-month ECL

BT not have any past-due amounts 1218 AFEHEEERE
XHEFORHRRBREE - B REAELOKIEA

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since Lifetime ECL

Al &¢ initial recognition - not credit-impaired
B )25 HEsR e 1= B E b K08 3 AN FEBNEREEEE-—EE

BRE

In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

EH BREBRPEERFEERE FEANBHREEBE—EE
A

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

84 financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic B B IEE M

prospect of recovery

BERBEXRBEBABNE THHERE  mMAKEKRD

SRR B R OBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TRITH (&)
(b) BEERETERERKE (H)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Credit risk management (continued)

Trade receivables

As set out in note 26, the Group assesses ECL under
HKFRS 9 on trade receivables based on provision matrix
and the expected credit loss rates are based on the
payment profile for sales in the past years, and the aging
for classes with different credit risk characteristics and
exposures as well as the corresponding historical credit
losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic
factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount
outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

Other receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL of other receivables. For those balances expected
to have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group applies lifetime ECL based on aging
for classes with different credit risk characteristics and
exposures.

The 12-month ECL calculated by the Group is not
significant and there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are placed at financial
institutions that have sound credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies and the Group
considers the credit risk to be insignificant.

Loans receivable

The 12-month ECL calculated by the Group is not
significant and there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition.

EEEEEE (&)

B SN HIE

IRAEHI 26 - $%@Eﬁ§%%%ﬁ%
HAFEIORME HERFENTAREE
EBEEAAEBEES D AN ERETT
SBIME - EHEEBBEXDREBBE
FENHENFEHNRABFTREERR
BRI R VAR R B B 5 IE MR R R BR
i AREREFOEL EEBHIEE
ELEHEHTABERE  ARRTE
BRI REE N E B R B E LR BB
AE-E8EHREAH BLENEK
BEML DA AT 0L -

B fth JEW AR
AEBER12EABREREBRAEEM
EWME F L & TR IR B 1156

RBIA KA R KR E 0 - AR E R A
ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%+ﬁ§ﬁﬂﬁ
18 ) A~ [RIE A LB s Ak A0 48 5 A0 B ik 1
FHEX ©

B ¥ HE R LA SRS P R B R R 4 0
Hit - AEBAEN12EAFEREEE
BIEERTE -

R RETEEY

T B BR S AP A B 15 2 (= AT
RRENTBBEBEENRSIASEE
Y AEERREFEERRIETERKX -

JEWE 3

5 VAR AT 12 PR S SR B 0 ¢
Eit  AEBEFEN12EABEHEES
B EEATE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objective and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the Directors of the Company, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to meet
the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements. In the management
of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6- ﬁ%@\lz (mﬁ)
(b) BRI EEEHERBK (&)

REELEEEE
RBECRBREETHARNAEERR
BE WEERBVHEMNRDHESRRE

B UmRAREESR HHER
HRERRDECEERTE - BERD
EoRBE  AEEEEREREERE
RREHBNTEBRLEERTNRE R
ReEBYKFE  RERERE KB
B2

TRAVNAEEFTESRABENHT
BHEMAE ZRRDBBEAEERERE
KXNWHEFAHRERABERUAR

On demand Total Total
or within Over undiscounted carrying
one year one year cash flows amount
RERY RERRE

—FR SZR—F REBREE RREBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET FET TET
Non-derivative financial *TESRERE
liabilities
At 31 December 2018 R=ZE-N\F
t=A=t-8
Financial liabilities included in -~ E- b & FRIB LA K fE T
other payables and accruals ERTzomaE 25,841 - 25,841 25,841
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-ZA=+—H
Financial liabilities included in -~ E b J& S B LA K fE 5T
other payables and accruals ERPeBEBE 19,382 - 19,382 19,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value:

6. £RTIA (&)
() EMIAAFEENE

TREVAEERAFEEAENSH
BELRTBAME:

As at 31 December 2018
R-ZE-NE+ZA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B E& B=4K FoEy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER FEx FTEx
Financial assets CRMEE
Equity investments at fair value & A F BB A E A
through other comprehensive Z2EBAZ REEKE
income
- Listed shares — Emlkn 4,631 - - 4,631
- Unlisted investments —FLEMmRE - - 3,231 3,231
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEFTABEN
through profit or loss ERMEE
~ Listed equity investments — FIRAKRE 8,154 - - 8,154
~ Convertible bond — A BRRES - - 1,425 1,425
12,785 = 4,656 17,441
As at 31 December 2017
RZZE—+F+ZA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—% B FE= @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET THET
Financial assets CRMEE
Available-for-sale investments AL ERE
~ Listed equity security — ETRAES 9,923 - - 9,923
Financial assets at fair value BATEBR ABEN
through profit or loss ERMEE
~ Convertible bond — AR RES - - 2,500 2,500
9,923 - 2,500 12,423
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the
Group is the quoted market bid price. These instruments
are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
Level 3.

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 of
financial instruments for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.
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LRI A (&)

(c) EMITEAFEENE (E)

WEBRTSEEEZSMTAZ A FEE
RIBREPRZTHBETE - EWME
AR MERREESR S R 58
B TEEE TERBEREEH
BES MRERERKRBITFRZE
EETHERMERTIEX S - %W
BRERGR - AEERENEREE
TS HRERERMSEAB - WET
AIAF— e

WEALRTSEENSRTA (FIm5
SMTETR) MAHEENRBHERNE
E o X EMERNEENBAUHRETS
giE(nE)  REVERBEERNEER
et E—TAMRFEEMTHM
BEERBABBERATEREEE  BIZ
TAEIIAF MR-

f—IAsZAE XN ABIRIL FRIEA
BRmSHE MZIAIASE=F-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

LRI A (&)

(c) EMITEAVEMEE ()

Equity

Financial investments

assets at at fair value

fair value  through other

through profit comprehensive

or loss income

- Convertible - Unlisted

bond investments

EATEEFA

BAFEEFA Htt2EKA

BRNERMEE MR AR E

—ARRES -FLHHRE

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER TER

(note 28) (note 24)

(K17#28) (Bi7#24)

At 1 January 2017 RZF—+F—5—A 3,077 -

Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss STABENATEERSE (577) -

At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+=A=+—H 2,500 -

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 RNEANBREENEIRTE - 1,250

At 1 January 2018 (After adjustment) R=F—\F—A—A(BER) 2,500 1,250

Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss SABENATEEEE (75) -
Fair value gain recognised in other SARMEERANAFEER

comprehensive income Wiz - 1,981

Redemption o (1,000) -

At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF+=B=+-H 1,425 3,231

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, there were no
investments classified under Level 2 and there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

HE=4 -

R-E-NFR-_E—tF+-A=1—
B BERANIBAE A MAE
—E-N\FERZFEFET A=+
AIEFE R FEEFEER —RMSE
CRZEANEELERE - FEEAKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial

LRI A (&)

(c) EMITEAFEENE (E)

instruments (continued)

The convertible bond has been calculated based on
discounted cash flows analysis and Binomial Model on
the debt component and conversion option component
respectively, with the most significant unobservable
inputs being (i) discount rate of 23.24% (2017: 12.35%)
and (i) expected volatilities of 68.04% (2017: 68.04%). A
significant increase/(decrease) in discount rate would result
in a significant (decrease)/increase in the fair value of the
convertible bond and a significant increase/(decrease) in
expected volatilities would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the convertible bond.

The fair value of the unlisted investments is measured
using valuation techniques with reference to the net asset
value, in which its underlying assets were measured at
fair value using options pricing model. The Directors
believe that the change in fair value (which is included in
other comprehensive income) derived from the valuation
technique is reasonable and is the most appropriate value

AHREEHFDIRERBERSRES TR
BREEHDS RERES S 2 ZENE
R SERTAIERGASIE R ()E
K 23.24% (ZZF—+tF :12.35%) K (i) &
HA3R 18 68.04% (—F—+4 : 68.04%) ©
IREMNEKREFH(TR) BEH AR
BREFHAFEBELEEKR(CRD)
- MEHRENEAREF (R B
BYABBRESFNAFEEL RSN
mn/ Cad) e

FLETREZAFEEDSEEEFE
(REREECKIRAMEEERLUR
FEEME)RBEERMGE - EEH
5 RAZABERNF/EZAFER
FEHGIAE 2ERA)BAE 1A
RBERRREE 2B -

at the end of the reporting period.

7. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products and
services from continuing operations for the year is as follows:

7. W=

RAFE  AREREEFE
EmlRBHOEESTIT

REXBZER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT FHET

Sales of hardware SHERE 1,800 596

Sales of technology software systems SHE MBI R4t 2,422 4,714

System customisation and network support ESS IR E % 7,614 6,296

Software licensing fee /L Sy s 31,060 26,549

Software maintenance services R & AR 9,879 9,666

Hosting and related services fee RRBETFERAEERGE 5,536 3,634
Other IT and internet financial platforms HEMEMREEEBHBESRTE

services income AR 5 WA 868 275

Interest income on loan financing BREE 2 FBUA 8,818 4,519

Rental income el A 575 636

Others Hitb 1,554 -

70,126 56,885
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

REVENUE (continued) 7. WE ()

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products and services from continuing operations is as

72 W
BRBEKEEBNIEEMRREE 5 %K
BEPANZWENIFIT

follows:

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers BB BWEERE 155 EE R
within the scope of HKFRS 15 KEREPAH WA
— Sales of hardware — e 1,800 596
— Sales of technology software systems —HE RIS E R 2,422 4,714
— System customisation and network support ~ — REE B R BR T 7,614 6,296
— Software licensing fee — BT B 31,060 26,549
— Software maintenance services — B R B RIS 9,879 9,666
— Hosting and related services fee —RIRBTFELABREE 5,536 3,634
— Other IT and internet financial platforms —HEMERRE R EEE SR
service income & BRAUBA 868 275
— Others —HA 1,554 -
Revenue from other sources HAth 2R 2 W
— Interest income on loan financing —EFmEZFBUWA 8,818 4,519
- Rental income —HalA 575 636
70,126 56,885
SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ZEPEH

T2AMEEXRREREMIRBERENER
EXTARAEFAAEE TR LERKEA
(TEELBREAD AMEBRD IR E&
Hatfh - REBEC2FATAHREDED

Information reported to the Directors of the Company, being
the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focusing on the types of goods or services delivered
or provided. The Group has presented the following reportable
segments:

TRMRPEMBRTE-FE HER
RUSBMIIAMHERTE T EEM
AECHEBEANSRERR S ME

po ,
S

(@ Financial trading software solutions — development, sale (a)
and provision of financial trading software solutions with the
principal products being trading and settlement systems of
financial products for financial institutions;

HMERMREEBRBERM T A RE—
RHUETEHTE  HMERDHIRS
KRB R RS R MM AR

(b)  Other IT and internet financial platforms services — provision (b)
of e-commerce platforms, other online consultancy services
and provision of IT services and other financial information;

BE-RHERRE

(c)  Money lending — provision of loan financing; ©)

EMSRMREERERAT | 2018551
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. PHER(E)

(d) Assets investments — trading of listed securities and
investing in properties for rental income; and

(e) Others — comprises the Group’s referral business (which
provides referral services to source, identify and refer
prospective deal opportunities to interested parties),
corporate finance business (which provides corporate
finance advisory services), and trading of gaming products
and the provision of related marketing services business.

The Group’s referral business and corporate finance business
which were presented as separate reportable segments in the
prior years are considered as a single operating segment by the
CODM in the current year. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group acquired a subsidiary which engaged in the
trading of gaming products and the provision of related marketing
services business. As the CODM reviewed the Group’s internal
reporting, assessed the performance and allocated the resources
of the Group to these operations as a whole, the CODM
considered that the information of these operations should be
aggregated into a single reportable segment and reported as
“Others” for segment reporting. Certain comparative figures have
been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

The Group’s provision of design and fitting-out services was
regarded as a discontinued operation, details of which are set out
in note 13.

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of interest income on bank
deposits, dividend income from equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, sundry income, gain on
disposal of an associate, gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investment, impairment loss on available-for-sale investments,
impairment loss on investment in an associate, fair value loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, profit guarantee
income, share of losses of associates, share of loss of a joint
venture, central administration costs and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets exclude investment in an associate, investment
in a joint venture, equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income/available-for-sale investments, cash and
cash equivalents, convertible bond, current tax assets and other
corporate and unallocated assets as these assets are managed
on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude current and deferred tax liabilities and
other corporate and unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. HEBER (&)
Segment revenue and results from continuing THRBEREGEREXER 2XE
operations
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by TXE SR 2H D BE D 2 AEE R K
reportable segments: EEDN
Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets continuing
solutions services lending investments Others Elimination operations
EEANE
tRRZ8H REBS BELE
BARR tRYARE ®E EERE At ik E4 )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR ThR TR iR iR TR
For the year ended BE-2-0\%
31 December 2018 1-A=t-8H
LEE
Segment revenue Al
Disaggregated by imngof ~ KHRUERESE
revenue recognition
Point in time EX-BREER 11,502 246 - - 114 - 11,862
Over time EX-BRENER 46,809 622 8,818 575 1,440 - 58,264
Revenue from external ~ FRMFEF 2
customers g3 58,311 868 8,818 575 1,554 - 70,126
Inter-segment sales AHEEE - - - - - - -
58,311 868 8,818 575 1,554 - 70,126
Segment profi/loss) AUEH/ (B 21,405 (5927) 1,064 (2311) (840) - 13,391
Interest income M EMA 254
Unallocated gains and losses & 7t Mz e &1 3
Share of loss of an associate B —FEBE A ABE 2,104
Share of loss of ajoint venture B —EA4 A ABE (16,733)
Central administration costs R &THAA (6,310)
Finance costs BB -
Loss before tax BRHAIEE (11,464)

EMSRMREERERAT | 2018551




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results from continuing
operations (continued)

8.

2EER (&)

aN

7

BRERFESEXEE 2XE& (H)

Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets continuing
solutions services lending investments Others Elimination operations
EthERRE
SRRA%N REEE fEge
BRIE  2RTORE [EE BERE Ef g st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL AL TARL TR T T
For the year ended BE-Z %
31 December 2017 T-A=t-H
HEE
Segment revenue AHYE
Revenue from external RRIBERZ
customers Wi 51,455 275 4519 636 - - 56,885
Inter-segment sales PEEEE - - - - - - -
51,455 215 4519 636 - - 56,885
Segment profit/loss) AEER/ (B 20,754 (3,934 195 (3,314 (4,062) - 9,639
Interest income HMEKA 3
Unallocated gains and losses & 2 Bt 3 [ 48 (22,683
Share of losses of associates  [E(5E: & A A1 (5,397)
Share of logs of ajoint venture [E(F—HAEAFEE (19.202)
Central administration costs A & {THA A (12479)
Finance costs BBHA (978
Loss before tax BHAER (51,001)

*

to third parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. HEBER (&)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAE
Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial
software platforms Money Assets
solutions services lending investments Others Total
HEthERBE
SRS REBE
BARARR SRTARH BE EERE it -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR THT T TR T
Asat31 December 2018 HR=Z-N\F
T-A=1-H
Segment assets FHEE 10,389 502 103,787 9,154 12,850 136,682
Corporate and unallocated A A RADEEE
assets 99,776
Consolidated assets GREE 236,458
Segment liabilities AHaE 39,158 254 459 24 1,035 40,930
Corporate and unallocated A A RADEAE
liabilities 4,833
Consolidated liabilties FRBR 45,763

As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

t=ZA=t-A
Segment assets FHEE 12,052 3,611 27,079 18,990 354 62,086

Corporate and unallocated A A RAPEEE
assets 182,978
Consolidated assets GREE 245,064
Segment liabilities AHaE 35,736 611 134 265 81 36,827

Corporate and unallocated DA RADEAE
liabilities 463
Consolidated liabilties KegafE 37,290
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information (included in the

measure of segment profit or loss or regularly
provided to the CODM)

28
H

Lt

PaN
pa)
=]

BE X (&)

RARMzDHBEBTE)

BEH (BREHOETRLEER

Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets continuing
solutions services lending investments Others operations
SRRIBH REHA BHEEE
BRAAR  SRYARE & BERE Ht ERat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL THEL T FEL T FEL
For the year ended BEZ-Z-N\%§
31 December 2018 +ZA=+-H
LFE
Additions to non-current REETYEE
assets (notg) (Hs) 267 - 985 - 10,784 12,036
For the year ended HE-Z—+F
31 December 2017 +-A=1+-H
5
Additions to non-current REERYEE
assets (note) (Hi##) 1,739 - 416 - 213 2,368
Note: Non-current assets excluded investment in an associate, investment in a Hiat o ERBEETBERN—BEEE AR Z’E - »

joint venture and non-current financial instruments.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.

Other segment information (included in the
measure of segment profit or loss or regularly
provided to the CODM) (continued)

oEER (F&)

Hitt o MEH (BREHRETREER
RARMBz2 B REETE) (B)

Other IT and
Financial internet
trading financial Total for
software platforms Money Assets continuing
solutions services lending investments Others operations
HiERRE
SRRIEAN REHH BEge
BARR SRTARE E) EERE Ht E35H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL T T FEL T FEL
For the year ended BEZ-Z-N\%§
31 December 2018 +t-A=1+-H
LEg
Depreciation e 1,150 60 347 - 182 1,739
Amortisation of itangible ~~ EFEEEH
assets 1,310 - - - - 1,310
Loss on disposal of property, HEW¥ - HE
plant and equipment REENER 12 15 1 - 46 74
Impairment loss ZHREWFIE
on trade receivables REBE 159 - - - - 159
For the year ended H2-Z—+F
31 December 2017 +-A=t-H
I5E
Depreciation ik 1,261 181 241 - 275 1,908
Amortisation of intangible &R EE&H
assets 2,090 - - - - 2,090
Loss on disposal of property, HHEWE - BE
plant and equipment LEENEE 2 3 2 - 142 149
Reversal of impairment loss & 5B 508
on trade receivables REEBEER (362) - - - - (362)

Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands with the
Group’s major operations located in Hong Kong. Substantially all
of the Group’s revenue from external customers are derived from
Hong Kong. All the non-current assets of the Group are located
in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue arising from transactions with any
customers which was individually more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue in both years.

ih & & R
ARRAFSHSE Mt MAEEFEE
BRIREBRIT - AEEKAIHRSNBA
BHWRKEES - AEEAEERDEEY
RIRES o

ERTEEFNER
MERN BERAETMNE—FPETRHZ
W EAEBUZE10% K £ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

9. OTHER INCOME, AND OTHER GAINS 9. HtA - REMKW=EREIE
AND LOSSES
An analysis of other income, other gains and losses from NI RREFECEEBOEHAMLA - RHA
continuing operations is as follows: Wz RIEBE ST
2018 2017
—E-N\F T+
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt FHExT FHET
Other income: Hipl A :
Interest income on bank deposits IRITFERZFBUA 254 3
Dividend income from equity BAFEESTAEAM
investments at fair value through other & mE W A BIRE A% E
comprehensive income 7 AR B A 24 25 -
Sundry income FHIBIA 88 88
367 91
Other gains and losses: Hal =R EE -
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMEZEIE
properties (23) _
Net fair value (loss)/gain on investment R EWEMN AL EE (EE)
properties W F 58 19 (60) 830
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ H &Y% - BE MR EEE
equipment (74) (149)
(Provision)/reversal of impairment loss on & 5 & Ug 5% 18 19 J5l {E /&5 18
trade receivables (B #E 26 (159) 362
Foreign exchange differences, net HSNE Z R ER (3) -
Net fair value loss on financial assets at & A EEFF ABZFH TR
fair value through profit or loss BEEZz A TEEERSE
— listed equity investments — R AEE (2,021) (3,418)
— convertible bond — AR E S (75) (577)
Gain on disposal of an associate e — R E QR 2 WS 22 - 8,308
Profit guarantee income i MR WA - 6,163
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEATHBERE 2 e
investment 24 - 1,229
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A EREREEE
investments - (28,637)
Impairment loss on investment in an R—HEBERRZKRE
associate ZREEE 22 - 9,179
Write-off of other receivables TS H b JE W IR - (78)
(2,415) (25,146)
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10. FINANCE COSTS

11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. BF %5 R AR

AT RERBFEEEEENMERARNDHN

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as

follows:

2018 2017
=E2-N\#F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET
Interest expense on other borrowings HMEERSRX - 816
Other interest expense b F B X - 162
- 978

LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. R AIE 18
Loss before tax from continuing operations has been arrived at REFELEEEBOBRTATEEIIRINR T

after charging: Y& IEEEL -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FTET FHET
Auditors’ remuneration % SR BN & 520 500
Amortisation of intangible assets B AR (Wita)

(note (a)) 1,310 2,090
Cost of inventories sold BEEFENAE 59 -
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEMEFEITE

equipment (note (b)) (K12 ) 1,739 1,908
Operating lease payments in respect of TR £ M &L T E A

rented premises 2,134 2,437
Employee benefits expense (note (c)): EBERAFES (Mitc)

Salaries and other benefits e K HAE A 29,929 27,185

Contributions to retirement benefits RIRTEMET SR

scheme 797 729

Share-based payments VAR (5 2 A< 3R 18 33 1,435 8,278
Total employee benefits expense, EERAFAZ B

including directors’ emoluments BRESHE 32,161 36,192
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2018, amortisation of intangible
assets amounting to HK$1,310,000 (2017: HK$2,090,000) was included
in cost of sales.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2018, depreciation of property,
plant and equipment amounting to HK$85,000 (2017: HK$151,000)
was included in cost of sales and amounting to HK$1,654,000 (2017:
HK$1,757,000) was included in administrative expenses.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2018, employee benefits expense
amounting to HK$10,795,000 (2017: HK$8,482,000) was included in
cost of sales and amounting to HK$21,366,000 (2017: HK$27,710,000)
was included in administrative expenses.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@)

1. BRBLATE B (&)

Byt

HE-Z-N\E+-_A=1+—HILEE A s
A EREESHEA1,310,00F T (ZT—+
4 12,090,000 7T) ©

BE-_Z—)\E+-_A=+—RALEE Y-
B R SR AR 3T B R A 85,0008 7T (— B —+4F ¢
151,000 7T) 5T A S5 &AL A + 1 /A 1,654,000
T (ZZT—+4 :1,757,000/8 ) st ATTHRB S -

BE-_Z—)\F+-_A=+—BLEE EE
B AE10,7950008 7T (Z T —+ 4 :
8,482,000 7T) 7t A SHE KA » & 21,366,000
BT (ZF—+4F 1 27,710,0008 70 ) sF ATTH
ﬁ °

12. FRS®HiM X

2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FHET
Continuing operations BREREER
Current — Hong Kong BVER— &%
— Charge for the year —FANFHR 4,013 3,777
— Overprovision in prior years —BEFEHEEERE (60) (109)
Deferred iR 31 (214) (363)
3,739 3,309
Discontinued operation DRIEREEER
Current — Hong Kong BVEA— & B
- Charge for the year —F AR - 131
Income tax expense PR T 5 2 3,739 3,440

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong
Kong for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE
12. RSP (FE)

FABBES HAERA BERANERBA (&
18), /s R AT 8B

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to (loss)/profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as

follows:
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total
FEREEY BRIECEER @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\FE | ZE2+F | ZB-N\F | ZE—+F | ZB-NF | ZT—+F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR THT TET T TET T
(Loss}/profit before tax BEta (&8) & (11,464) (51,091) - 8,381 (11,464) (42,710)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax 2 & & RIS R B %
rate of 16.5% (2017:16.5%)  16.5%:T & 2 F18
(ZZ—+F :16.5%) (1,892) (8,430) - 1,383 (1,892) (7,047)
Lower tax rate for specific local 457 A 448 T FU &K
requirement HE (165) - - - (165) -
Tax effect of expenses not AR MR 2 %
deductible for tax purpose TE 1,740 8,209 - - 1,740 8,209
Tax effect of income not taxable 78R H KA 2 B
for tax purpose -7 (61) (2,742) - (1,252) (61) (3,094)
Tax effect of temporary AEBRZEHZR
differences not recognised JHBEE 520 42) - - 520 (42)
Tax effect of tax losses not AERRIEBEZ
recognised HEg2 1,057 2,360 - - 1,057 2,360
Tax effect of tax losses utlised B E)FETBEEZ
MBTE (508) - - - (508) -
Tax effect of share of results of ~ EG & R A £ 45
associates JHBEE 347 891 - - 347 891
Tax effect of share of results of ~ JE(E— & & AR £4
ajoint venture BB E 2,761 3,168 - - 2,761 3,168
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (60) (105) - - (60) (105)
Income tax expense for the year ERFTEHE % 3,739 3,309 - 131 3,739 3,440

 EE-NE+_A=+—HIEFE #HE
DRFEA TR S AR EIEFE] R EhH—
MEeEERARBRINGEBN —HE Qs 0mH
B(ZZT—+4F:9800087L) X—HAER
AIMBE(ZE—+F &) o

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no share of tax
attributable to an associate (2017: HK$98,000) and a joint
venture (2017: Nil) was included in “Share of losses of associates,
net” and “Share of loss of a joint venture” respectively.
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 23 February 2017, the Group and Billion Centrium Group
Holdings Limited (“Billion”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which Billion has conditionally agreed
to purchase and the Group has conditionally agreed to sell the
Group’s entire 51% interest in Wise Link International Limited
(“Wise Link”) at the consideration of HK$9,800,000 (“Wise Link
Group Disposal”). Wise Link and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Wise Link Group”) were principally engaged in the provision
of design and fitting-out services in Hong Kong. Upon the
completion of the Wise Link Group Disposal on 28 April 2017,
the Group discontinued the business of provision of design and
fitting-out services. Details of the Wise Link Group Disposal are
set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

The results from the discontinued operation for the year ended 31
December 2017 are as follows:

13. 241t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z —%

2«( A %iﬂl

RZTBE—+FE-_A-+=H AEHHEEF
SEERARAGB (BRI LEERHE
Bt EREAKERBRBRAEEEBK
HRBEHEENEERBEERAR ([HED
2 E51% R - K {E/59,800,0007% 7T ([ £
HEBEHEFE] - BEREWBAR (573
(%%E@J)I%%%ﬁ;‘%ﬂ%mﬁ‘“?& S3E3
R - B EEEHEEER_Z—tFWA
—t+N\B%EKE KE@%ME{#?&J& 3E
RISEH - SEEELERHEY FBEHRES

BT AR M sE 36 A o

ATREBE-T—tF+-_A=1t—HLF
EE%%JJ:”«%%VE’J%F :

2017
—T—+F
HK$’000
FET
Revenue Iz 4,160
Cost of sales SHE P AR (2,891)
Gross profit E A 1,269
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note) HERB A AR () 7,588
Administrative expenses ITEAX (476)
Profit before tax from a discontinued operation REEARIEESE E BRI BR T AR ) 8,381
Income tax expense R (131)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year from FRRE DR IEEEF R &
a discontinued operation N L 8,250
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year from JEEFARBERIELEEERR T
a discontinued operation attributable to: PET PN
Owners of the Company ViNNEIEZ RSN 7,925
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR A 325
8,250
Note: The amount represented the gain on Wise Link Group Disposal (note 36) e ZeBEHE— S —+tF+t-_A=+—81FE
for the year ended 31 December 2017. HEEE S E1E 2 Was (FH3E36) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 13.B4& IE&&E £ (&)

2017
—T—+tF
Earnings per share: BRERN :
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share), EARREE (FRBW)
from a discontinued operation REDKRIEEEER 0.643
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from a REBRIEEEEBNETRERREEZAN
discontinued operation is based on: RETETIENATRIE :
2017
—tF
HK$’'000
FH&T
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company A T B AFERFERD K IFEL ETK
from a discontinued operation Eopirpil 7,925
2017
—T—tF

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
for the purpose of calculation of basic earnings
per share (note 17)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
for the purpose of calculation of diluted earnings
per share (note 17)

BB EE
RAEERELARANm S -
BT R I 9 8
(H1at17)

M EEREERFmE
BEBITY %beu%%ﬁ%(
(Hta17)

1,231,802,888

1,231,802,888
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

14. EEM &

ARTEHABN EREEOHEMT -

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors of the

Company were as follows:

Salaries,
allowance Contributions
and other Share-  to retirement
benefits  Discretionary based benefits
Fees in kind bonus payments scheme Total
¥4 20R BHER
#e HHENEN BEEL ARG HE L3 ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tin TAn TAn Tén Tén
Year ended 31 December 2018 B2-2-\f+-A=1-H
LHEE
Executive Directors gz
Mr. Chan Wai Lung ' REEEE 120 630 - 72 18 1,495
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEFERT 300 - - - - 300
Ms. Lin Ting MERT 300 - - - - 300
Mr. Shi Shaow 2 LOREAE? 75 - - - - 75
Non-executive Directors ¥4ES
Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams ® BEHELS 58 - - - - 58
Mr. Lo YuMan ¢ BYEEL 63 - - - - 63
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen ® REERES 186 - - - - 186
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung BB LA 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Lee Kwun Ling, May Jean FERLL 90 - - - - 90
Mr. Zhong Shi' BERAE 90 - - - - 0
1,402 630 - 721 18 2717
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-S—tF1-fA=1—H
IL5E
Executive Directors gz
Mr. Chan Wai Lung ' REREE 68 o7 - - 11 350
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEERT 240 - - 358 - 508
Ms. Lin Ting HEXT 240 - - 358 - 508
Non-executive Directors ¥4nES
Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams ® BRERELS 74 - - - - 74
Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen ° REBRES 240 - - 358 - 508
Independent non-executive Directors B FH7EE
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung BB LA 7 - - - - 7
Ms. Lee Kiwun Ling, May Jean FERLL 7 - - - - 7
Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai ¢ REBREES 2 - - - - 27
Mr. Zhong Shi' EERAE 4 - - - - 4
1,074 271 - 1,074 1 2,430
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e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

! Mr. Chan Wai Lung and Mr. Zhong Shi were appointed on 8 June 2017

2 Mr. Shi Shaowu was appointed on 16 May 2018

8 Mr. Fung Ka Lok Adams was appointed on 19 May 2017 and retired on
25 June 2018

4 Mr. Lo Yu Man was appointed on 9 October 2018

5 Mr. Ng Wing Cheong Stephen resigned on 9 October 2018

6 Mr. Yuen Shiu Wai retired on 18 May 2017

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, certain
Directors were granted share options, in respect of their services
to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the consolidated financial statements for the years are disclosed
above.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no chief
executive officer of the Company has been appointed and
accordingly no emolument was paid to the chief executive officer
of the Company.

None of the Directors of the Company has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2017: Nil).

14. EEME (&)

! REELEREELEER _Z—LFANRE
Z1E

2 LOREER-_ZE-NFRATBEZE

3 BEALAER_T—tFAATNBEZELIR
—E-N\FXRAZTHBRE

¢ BFEAER _F-N\FTANBEZE

° REBFEER_ZE-N\F+ANEEE

° RBREER —_ZE—LFRAA+N\BRE

HE_Z - \FERZTE—+tF+ZA=+—
BLEFE HTEFHESERAEEMEHN
AR T AR R AN Bl At ot SN I AR i - M —
FHBHRGEE VW BRKRMTIZ - L2 FEE
ARTPERACEREZATFEEERAELA
HET MZzEFEFAGRENBHRERZ S8
B S -

HE-_Z—\Fh_FT—tF+t_A=1+—
AIEFE  AREWEZEITBRE - I E
MAR BT S MEMBE -

HE 22— \F+_A=+—HILFE &
EARANBEENEXRAEREEAME (ZF
—tF |-

BE_Z-/\FT_A=+—HLEE X%
18 45 1) () 22 28 S N S/ A B R DA BRI
ARKERAER S EABEREE (2T -+
FE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-T— N\F+_-A=

15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

t—REFE

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one Director of the Company (2017: Nil), details of whose
remuneration (as being a Director of the Company) are set out
in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining four (2017: five) highest paid employees who are

neither a Director of the Company are as follows:

15. EEM &

AEEzREABRFMNEEREARA %
EE (T 1F 8 ARAEFENHE
BN XM 14 RFEEHRTHA(ZF
—tF BR)FARFDEENREHMESR
MBS FFBIT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FAET
Salaries and other benefits Fre hEARET 6,188 5,822
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,482 2,014
Share-based payments LAREAD S+ 5008 - 800
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RRAEF T B 69 90
7,739 8,726

The number of the highest paid non-director individuals whose BREREFMIEEEA T BN FTHEE :

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,00078 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7C & 1,500,000 78 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 %8 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 78 7T £ 2,500,000 7 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7T 2 3,000,000 7 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7t £ 3,500,000/8 7T 1 -
4 5

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals of
the Group (including Director and employees) as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office (2017: Nil).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017, nor has any dividend been proposed

since the end of the reporting period.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

for the year is based on the following data:

16. R 2

ARBBE_FT—
=t HLEFEL BN HES

NER-—F—

+tF+=A
SRS B

BERRGEERETEZRRMNEAKRE -

17. 5% (B#E) BF

AT EBIEFE

AEENEREAREE (BB BNTE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to RAREBEAEGEER
owners of the Company (B8]) BRI
From continuing operations REFFEEEETR (15,203) (54,428)
From a discontinued operation REDKRIEEE T - 7,925
Loss for the year attributable to owners RATVHEB AEHFNERE
of the Company (15,203) (46,503)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —TtF

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue for the purpose of calculation of basic
(loss)/earnings per share

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares as a
result of the share options granted (note (a))

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

RDEE

R EGRER(ER) BT
ME » BT E BB INE
FHE

ARLBRENEE SRR
BETE (Mit@E)

R ESREE (ER) 2T

1,260,582,340

1,231,802,888

1,231,802,888

E RS ERE

issue for the purpose of calculation of diluted s BEITLBRME
(loss)/earnings per share 15 £ 1,260,582,340
Note: it -
(a)  The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the year does (@) ﬁl‘ﬁKiV ZEREEE (518) /BRI ERR
not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding share options NEZ M ARTE R AR e
because the adjusted exercise price of those share options is higher than ZIERARITEES

the average market price of the shares for the years ended 31 December

2018 and 2017 which is regarded as anti-dilutive.

ERARBETE) -

RENRBE_F-N\FR=
E—tFFT A=+ -HUEFEZTFHTE K
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. ¥ - BMEKRR®E

Computer
equipment
and Furniture Leasehold Other
software  and fixtures improvements equipment Total
EMRME HE
R&#  RAREE MELE Hit% e HY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T TER TET TERT TER
31 December 2018 —E-\¥+-F=t-H
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-A—H
Cost KR 17,087 512 2,573 - 20,122
Accumulated depreciation REHE (15,982) (236) (1,203) - (17,421)
Net carrying amount FEFE 1,055 276 1,370 - 2,701
At 1 January 2018, net of nZE-\5-A—-8"
accumulated depreciation MREHIE 1,055 276 1,370 - 2,701
Additions AE 268 108 883 - 1,259
Acquisition of a subsidiary (ot 35)  WEE—FRI B =) (A7 35) - - - 482 482
Disposals HE (79) (1) - = (74)
Depreciation expense TERY (581) (151) (980) (27) (1,739)
At 31 December 2018, net of nZZ—-)\F+=A
accumulated depreciation =+—B HNRENE 669 232 1,273 455 2,629
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\E+ZA
=t—H
Cost KA 16,601 616 3,054 482 20,843
Acoumulated depreciation REHE (16,022) (384) (1,781) (27 (18,214)
Net carrying amount FEFE 669 232 1,273 455 2,629
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - BB R & H (&)
(continued)
Computer
equipment
and Furniture Leasehold
software and fixtures  improvements Total
BB R HE
;i BRMREE mEEE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FHET T FAET
31 December 2017 —E—t¥+=-A=+-H
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—+5—A—H
Cost (B 16,573 462 1,339 18,374
Accumulated depreciation ZEFME (15,456) (386) (1,230) (17,072)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,117 76 109 1,302
At 1 January 2017, net of R-E—+&—f—A8"
accumulated depreciation k2t e 1,117 76 109 1,302
Additions =Y 827 393 2,225 3,445
Disposals HE (69) 27) (53) (149)
Classified from held for sale AEEHIELE 11 - - 11
Depreciation expense NEMRX (831) (166) 911) (1,908)
At 31 December 2017, net of RZE—+%F+=R
accumulated depreciation =t—B MRRFHE 1,055 276 1,370 2,701
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+=ZA=+—H
Cost B 17,037 512 2,573 20,122
Accumulated depreciation ZEFME (15,982) (236) (1,203) (17,421)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,055 276 1,370 2,701
The above items of property, plant and equipment are it WERREEEFKAEGERUT
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per FRITE
annum:
Computer equipment and software: 20% to 50% B B 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures: 20% to 50% RERREE 20% %= 50%
Leasehold improvements: Over the lease terms HEWERE NHHEFH A%
Other equipment: 10% E b 10%

EnemRrERRERAT 2018558 176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REY =%
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
k=3 TEx FHET
At fair value BEAREE
At the beginning of year R F ) 18,990 18,160
Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustment AN EBEAL(ER)
Wz 58 9 (60) 830
Disposal & (18,930) -
At the end of year RER - 18,990
The Group’s investment properties were held in Hong Kong REBEZREYWERBBRIETHHAERE
under medium-term leases and were leased to independent WHAFREHEEE N2BYE =0 HE— 5
third parties under operating leases, further details of which are BN RIS HRERMTzE38 ©
included in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 R-ZE—+tF+_A=+—H AEBEKREY
December 2017 was HK$18,990,000. The fair value had been ¥ 2 A F{EEA18,990,0008 T - AFEED
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by independent RAEAEE W ERE B IEERIGER
qualified valuers not connected with the Group. The fair value was EHEZ(EEER - AFBENISEBILAER
determined on a market value basis with the direct comparison (HEMEH ZEHEMNATMEEELKETE -

approach by reference to valuation performed by independent
qualified valuers.
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e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties measured
at 31 December 2017 was categorised as Level 3 of fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 and details of their movements
are disclosed above.

19. RE Y= ()

NEEEER

RoE— A= A=t—AHB2ARME
RANEZ ATEENRS BAREENH
m%ﬁm SIRFEENATEEERES

CHE B M PTIREE

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINAAEEREMER =T —+LF+=
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 A=+—HZAFEEFEER:
December 2017:
Fair value measurement
categorised into
AT EEFNESES
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— -~ 1 E=ZH et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TRT
As at 31 December 2017 —tiﬂ'*ﬂjﬂ‘—ﬁ
Commercial properties — located at ~ ERWE — LR EE/AE
shops No. 53 & 56, and No. 54 FJTE%?EIEHFE%
& 57, G/F., Commercial Centre, T 53 K2 56 5% & A & 54
Fullview Garden, No. 18 Siu Sai 5758
Wan Road, Hong Kong - - 18,990 18,990
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there BT \Fr_ZT—+F+-_A=+—
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 BILEE F—HEE_BAFEBESEZM
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3. WEEY  FEZRNWESE A B -

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
input to the valuation of investment properties categorised into
Level 3 for the year ended 31 December 2017:

ETE A F T A=+ —BILFE A8
HERMRIBERE=BRENEHEZE
2@ ABERAIT

Valuation Significant Range
techniques unobservable inputs or weighted average
& {8 i EXTAHEBAZE SEIMEFIH

Commercial properties Direct comparison method

Adjusted unit rate of

Approximately HK$40,500 to

EliEEUES BELEE saleable area HK$73,600 per square foot on
(HK$/square foot) saleable area basis
ERAEBEZERAREN REAERESE 8FARY
B OB,/ FAR) 40,5007 7T & 73,600 % 70
A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjusted unit rate of EAERB R AXEMNEBRER KR
saleable area in isolation would result in a significant higher/ 7JD/ L )H—r BIREWME T AT EEKNRE
(lower) in the fair value of the investment properties. =, (F&1
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

allocated to the trading of gaming products and the provision
of related marketing services business’s cash-generating unit
(“CGU"). The net carrying amount of goodwill allocated to
such CGU is HK$10,295,000 as at 31 December 2018. The
recoverable amount of such CGU has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by the management covering a
five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of 15% per annum.
The discount rate used reflects the risks specific to the CGU. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the business
beyond the five-year period is 3% per annum, which was based
on the management’s expectation of inflation rate in Hong Kong.
The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation were
those regarding the discount rates, the budgeted revenue and
budgeted expenses during the forecasting periods, which were
determined by the management based on past performance and
the managements’ expectations for the market development.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

20. GOODWILL 20. HE
HK$’'000
FET
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2017 and at 31 December 2017 RZE—t+tF-—A—BAKZZT—tF
+TZA=+—8H 752
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) Wi — M B A R (K7 7#35) 10,295
At 31 December 2018 R=ZB-NF+=A=+—H 11,047
Accumulated impairment loss At EEEE
At 1 January 2017, at 31 December 2017and WRZ=-ZE—+F—HF—H =ZZ—+t&+=H
at 31 December 2018 =t+—BAR=ZZE-N\HE+=ZA=+-—H (752)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE—-NE+=ZHA=+—H 10,295
At 31 December 2017 —+E+-A=+—8 -
Impairment testing on goodwill EERE R
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been EEBAHNE AEE s EZEEBBER

RERHEAEEERSEHNRSESEM (3]
%Fiiuh CTRIE-NFFTA=1—

DEEZHREL B HEREFER
10,295,000,%7E GRS EABM 2 PIWES
BOREBEREEEAEE  EBEAERZ
RenERANEREEREHRAE ZMBE
B ORERERTFHNE  LEAFRATNE
F15% - T AR K RRIR S E A B
BHRER - AR EELFHRAZEBRERE
MIBRESEFI%  WHEREEEHEE
BRENES -EREEEANBRERAS
FATE) ﬁlJHﬁF'EJE’JﬁEEET BEWERBES N
BE  ZEHEXAEEEREAETRELER
B M5 EROBHETE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

Intangible assets of internally generated development costs
represented all direct costs incurred in the development of
new software systems. The software development costs are

amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

of 4 years.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the management considers
there was no impairment on intangible assets since the
recoverable amounts exceed their carrying amounts.

WET EEBARE -

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. B EE
Systems
development
costs
R R
HK$’000
FET
31 December 2018 —E2-NF+-HF=+—H
At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated amortisation RZEBE—N\F—A—8 MBI #E 1,462
Amortisation expense BIHFA X (1,310)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-N\F+=—A=+—H 152
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H
Cost [DFN 7,711
Accumulated amortisation Rty (7,559)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 152
31 December 2017 —E2—+H+_H=+—H
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated amortisation R-ZT—+tF—F—8 Mk RTEs 3,552
Amortisation expense B X (2,090)
At 31 December 2017 RZZFE—tF+=-A=+—H 1,462
At 31 December 2017 R_ZE—+tF+ZA=+—H
Cost DFN 7,711
Accumulated amortisation REt#sy (6,249)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 1,462

PO BB EE A R B K AN B0 R T B E 4 B B R IR A
EBEENAEERKA - S FRERAARG
FHERF RN EWIREARORHE -

R N\FERZZE—+F+A=+—H "
ERERE BRKESEEALKREE
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 2. A —EHEQNTZRE

2018 2017

=2-N\#F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTER FHET

Share of net assets JEIEEEFE 1,016 3,120
Goodwill Bl 9,019 9,019
10,035 12,139
Impairment BE (9,179) (9,179)
856 2,960

2018 2017

—E-N\E —TE—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At the beginning of year RFH) 2,960 70,558

Share of post-acquisition loss and other EE g REE AW EER
comprehensive loss (2,104) (5,397)
Decrease in interest in an associate i XN Do e - (1,604)
Disposal HE - (51,418)
Provision for impairment on investment in an R E A AR E 2R ERE

associate (note 9) (K13£9) - (9,179
At the end of year RFR 856 2,960
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
(continued)

2. N—EBERRAZRE ()

Particulars of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting REBBENRNHERRFBZTOT ¢
period are as follows:
Proportion of ownership interest
REERELA
Form of Place of Group’s
business incorporation/ effective Held by the Heldbya
Name of entity structure operation interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
HMARL/ rEEZ NG H-ENE
ERER EHERKS  SEBE BRER 55 NERE  IEEE
Four Directions Investment Limited  Incorporated British Virgin Islands 26.87% Nil 26.87%  Investment holding of subsidiaries
(‘FDIL") (hote) ('BVI) (2017: 26.87%) (2017:Ni)  (2017: 26.87%) which are principally engaged
in the provision of information
technology, smartphone
applications development
and digital marketing and the
development of information
technology applications
Four Directions Investment Limited s fft% 32 RBRLES 26.87% z 2687% IENZRAEABMHRERT
(TPOIL)) (B132) (ZBRu#s]) (Z2—tF: (Z2—tF: (ZZ—tF: HEREARL  aTes
26.87%) ) 2687%)  REAMBEREARERHS

The Group’s associate is accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

On 28 August 2017, the Group disposed of its entire 40% equity
interest in Ultimate Elite Investments Limited (“Ultimate Elite”)
at a cash consideration of HK$59,726,000, after adjustments
in accordance with the terms of sale and purchase agreement,
resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$8,308,000.
Upon completion of the disposal, Ultimate Elite ceased to be an
associate of the Company.

RO B2 RIE R A R

AEBEZBERBNERERENZERE
MR o

RZE—tFNAZFTN\H AEBEURE
K (E59,726,000% 7T (IR1EE & HhiE 2 &K
F LA %1% ) H & H Ultimate Elite Investments
Limited ([ Ultimate Elite ]) & 2 %8 40% A% # -
B A H & U EE #9.8,308,0008 7T - M E TR
% » Ultimate Elite N B &N 2 A AV & QA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
(continued)

2. R—EBRERRAZRE (&

Note: FDIL and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in providing services Wit : FDILEREMBAREENSREENBELS

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

in relation to information technology, smartphone applications
development and digital marketing and the development of information

technology applications.

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial

BETFREAEAME  BFEHUREMRK
fE R IR

TRAFFDIL R EHE R B Z 56 M E T

information in respect of FDIL and its subsidiaries: B
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current assets MENAE 20,901 26,722
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill IERBEE (TREFE) 3,110 3,515
Current liabilities mEAaE (20,231) (18,625)
Net assets BERE 3,780 11,612
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: ~— H1NEFERBFE N 7] 2 (a2 #15k -
Proportion of the Group’s interest NEEERZ B 26.87% 26.87%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, REBEGBE AR ZEESE
excluding goodwill (TEEER) 1,016 3,120
Goodwill and fair value adjustment on acquisition WEEEZAERAFEEFAE 9,019 9,019
Impairment on investment in an associate R—HEBEQRRE 2 RE (9,179) (9,179)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in FDIL RNEBRNFDILZ #w 2 BREE 856 2,960
Revenue for the year FRUeE 16,061 26,316
Loss for the year FREE (7,832) (27,543)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAETHEIBREE (7,832) (27,511)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

2. N—EEERARZKRE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Cost of unlisted investment in a joint venture N—EEE AR ZIELTIRE
Z AR 39,596 39,596

Share of post-acquisition loss and other FEMRIEE R BE R MEEEE

comprehensive loss (39,424) (22,691)

172 16,905

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

AEEARZRARBERRFBEAT

Proportion of ownership interest

REERELA
Place of Issued and Group’s
incorporation/ fully paid up effective Held by the Heldbya
Name of entity operation share capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities
HRAL/ BRTR rREZ NG h— KB
EREH ReEhy BERA BRER 58 DABE FEEE
Sky View Investment Limited BVI Us$1,100 49% Nil 49%  Investment in Rolaner
(“Sky View') REREIHEE 1100% 7T (2017: 49%) (2017: Ni) (2017:49%)  International Limited (‘Rolaner’)
REREBRAT ([KE]) 49% z 49% 1 Rolaner International Limited
(Z2—+%F: T—tF:  (ZTtE: (IRolaner) 214
49%) Z) 49%)

Sky View is an investment holding company and its main
asset is investment in Rolaner, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability. Rolaner indirectly entered
into a contractual arrangement on control and shall be able to
consolidate the financial statements of an operating company.
The principal business of the operating company is operating the
mobile application Mei Li Shen Qi (EEE1#25), one of the largest
online community and e-commerce platforms with more than ten
million users for medical beauty industry in the People’s Republic
of China.

KEDBDREERAR MEFTBEEARE
Rolaner (—fAIRFAEHSTMA L 2 BR A
7)) Z2$8& ° Rolaner BRI s & # & BEIZRHIY
BB AN B SRS A AR KB A
Al T EEBRIRE " BFRERARENEE
es ] RN APEARENBEEEAT
¥RAMGEStRz— TABEATERR
METHEBES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

23. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

24,

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

B.RA-—HEERAZRE (B)

(continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRAPREFHERBEE
information in respect of Sky View:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Current assets MBEE 351 410
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill IMBEE (TBEIERE) - 34,089
Net assets BESE 351 34,499
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the HAEFRE E L]
Jjoint venture: ZHHEE -
Proportion of the Group’s interest INER B 2 2 LA 49% 49%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture, ARNEEE(RAE S A F 2 EEEE
excluding goodwill (T BIEEE) 172 16,905
Revenue for the year FAkE - -
Loss for the year FREE (34,148) (39,188)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZEEIERE (34,148) (39,188)
EQUITY INVESTMENTS 24. BRARE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Equity investments at fair value through BEAFEEFAHEMEERAZ
other comprehensive income BAKRE
— Listed shares in Hong Kong (note (a)) BBz EmkG (it @) 4,631 -
— Unlisted investments -JELETIRE 3,231 -
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE
— Listed shares in Hong Kong (note (b)) -BEz EmRG (KiE b)) - 9,923
- Unlisted investments (note (c)) -3 EWIE (Wit () - 1,250
7,862 11,173

Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

24. EQUITY INVESTMENTS (continued)

Under the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the listed
securities and unlisted equity investments previously classified
as available-for-sale investments were reclassified as equity
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The Group’s equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income as
the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

Notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group received
dividends amounting to HK$25,000 from the listed shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the gross loss in respect of
the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in the statement
of other comprehensive income amounted to HK$31,587,000, of
which HK$25,137,000 was reclassified from the statement of other
comprehensive income to the statement of profit or loss for the year.

As at 31 December 2017, the unlisted available-for-sale investments
were measured at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimate is so significant that the Directors of the Company are
of the opinion that fair values cannot be measured reliably. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, an impairment loss of available-for-sale
investment of HK$3,500,000 was recognised in the statement of profit or
loss for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, an unlisted available-for-sale
investment with carrying amount of HK$24,271,000 was disposed of
and a gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment of HK$ 1,229,000
was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

25. INVENTORIES

The balance as at 31 December 2018 represented finished
goods.

24. RARE (&)

RER T N\F—A—BRAZEBUE
WEERNEIN AN EAAHEEREN
tHRBEMFELTRAREENDERES
BAVEEFARMCEERAZRARE - A
RARERRZEREBNREIEE AL
B RARE N REEIE A FEEFAR
2 E A o

st -

@ #HEZ-N\E+-_A=t+—HIFE K&£EH
B - A% BB AR 8. 25,000 % 7T ©

) REBE-_Z—tE&+_A=+—RALFE AH
AREEA L ERE 2 F1831,587,000 BT EH
fib 2 ERA K TER - E 25,137,000/ 7T) F N H
Hth2ERAREHTHDBEEERSE -

© W-ZE—+EFE+-F=+—H0 FEAEQAFEE
Bt BERKN  ARAREERAZEATEE
WA EE Rl Sedthat & - I B Al i B E IR
NRRENfE BE-_FT—+F+_-_A=+—8H
IEFE - AT SR E 2 R B E518 3,500,000 4 7T

HE-_Z—+F+-A=T—HLFE BELE
BRMA{E24,271,000/8 0 E AN ERE - B
1,229,000 Tz HE R HERE 2 W B N8
TR R

25 7§

HE-_Z-\F+_A=+—HWNFELEHR
R °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 26. E5 R EMEWFEIE AARIE

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS REMEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade receivables E SN GRIAE 7,358 5,067

Interest receivables from money lending BEERZ BUKFE

business 3,199 208
10,557 5,275
Loss allowance EEEE (159) -
10,398 5,275
Other receivables H b U FRIE 1,070 67
Deposits and prepayments e RIBFHIE 4,364 4,509
15,832 9,851

Trade receivables g S EWRIE

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days
or not more than 90 days to its trade receivables customers and
based on the negotiations between the Group and individual
customers. No interest is charged on trade receivables.

AEE-RALEZFREFIER TEF T
BOHH BB HMEEH  AAKEE(E
MEPHEMETE - B RWFRAL TS -

An analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, at the end of the reporting
period, is as follows:

BEZAHRNREEBRBERZINESE
WHRERRERRORE DT

2018 2017

=2-N\#F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FHET

0 - 30 days 02 30H 3,406 3,544
31 - 60 days 31£260H 612 840
61 — 90 days 61290H 208 281
91 - 120 days 91 & 120H 462 204
Over 120 days BiEm120H8 2,511 198
7,199 5,067
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

26. EZ R EMERFRIER  AARE

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS REMEE (&)
(continued)
Trade receivables (continued) EFZEWFIE (F)

The movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables are as
follows:

B REFEERRENEBMT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

At the beginning of year REH) - 202
Provision/(reversal) of impairment loss on B S EWGRIBR R EEE

trade receivables B (BEmE) 159 (362)
Recovery of trade receivables previously U 6] 38 1 & E R SH AY

written off g 5 WA - 160
At the end of year RER 159 -

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by product type, customer type
and payment history). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The following is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

BE-_ZE—)\F+-A=1+—HILFER
BEBYBIREERF 9N HE
RERE DR BREREETRED T
NEtEBHEEEE - BEXRDENAESE
LB EEANZERE S S4AR R E A &
BT (ERER BEEERMNRBEMNKG
8) o AT E R RARINELR - RRRE
BHA B ERRBE S - & AT &R AL
BIRMTERNSIBRAIEER o

TRAXREEERBBERTENE SR
RIENEERRER

R=ZZB-NF+=-A=+—H

Past due
B
Less than 1to3 Over

Current 1 month months 3 months Total

B &R —BAR —Z={8A8 —Z={8A8 et

Expected credit loss rate 78 #A{z & 518 & 0%-0.8% 0%-2% 0%-6.5% 0%-8% -

Gross carrying amount  BREI41E

(HK$'000) (F%&1) 3,433 2,063 606 1,256 7,358
Expected credit losses ~ TEHIEE BB

(HK$'000) (F%&x) 27 11 28 93 159
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

Trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 disclosed above
include amounts (see below for aged analysis) which are past due
at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not
recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable.

The age of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 that
were not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
under HKAS 39 is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. EZ R EMERFIR - AARE

REMEE (&)

EZEWFIE (F)

P E—+tFL A=+ —HIEFER
BEBEERZE39 %6 E
R-E—+F+_A=+—8 FEEHERHR
YW BEzRBERRC A2 F RN
B(RTXERIIT BRRERE  BAZ
ERBE2 EEEENEEREHUARZER
BN R AR Y -

RZBE—+F+ A=+ —BREBEFES:T
R E 395 W AR K KRB IERENE 5
FEMR IR BRER D ATLA T

2017
—E—+F
HK$’000
FET

Overdue by: [yl
1-30 days 1230H 840
31 - 60 days 31E60H 281
61 —90 days 61E290H 204
Over 90 days R0 H 198
Total Bt 1,523

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable as at
31 December 2017, the Group considers any change in the
credit quality of the trade receivables from the date credit was
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The Group
has assessed the credit quality of the trade receivables by
using internal assessment, taking into account the repayment
history and financial background of the trade customers. The
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base
being large and unrelated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 26. EZ R EMEWRRIE FNRIE
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS REMEE (&)
(continued)
Interest receivables from money lending business BEEEKZEWFE
A maturity profile of the interest receivables as at the end of the FEURF EREFRIER S DEIHA (0B EEEE)
reporting period, based on the remaining contractual maturity REEEROZEBR AT -

date and net of loss allowance is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Overdue 10 5 2,280 -
Due within 3 months R 318 A A E EA 682 208
Due after 3 months but within 6 months R3EREZE 6188 NEIH 237 -
Total BET 3,199 208
The interest receivables arising from money lending business as RZE-NEF+ A=+ —HBZEEXBE
at 31 December 2018 of approximately HK$2,280,000 were past A 7 #92,280,000 7 7T & YUF B E 81 BB B 30 R
due but not impaired. The interest receivables arising from money BE RZE—tF+A=+—HBZEE:
lending business as at 31 December 2017 were neither past due TEE & 2 PRI B0 K 28 FA SR (& ©
nor impaired.
Interest receivables that were neither past due nor impaired R HE B R E 2 EBKFEF RREZ TR
related to a number of diversified debtors who have no recent BEBA  BEHETHARRGS -
history of default.
The 12-month ECL calculated by the Group is not significant and B ¥56 FE R LA SR A5 A R\ B 3P R 2B = 4 0
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial It AEEFEMNI12EAEREEBETE
recognition. As at 31 December 2018, no loss allowance on EARE -RZTE—\F+ZA=+—H 1
interest receivables balance was made. ISR B AR BB RYE -

EnempErRaRAT 2018558 190



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

27. LOANS RECEIVABLE 27. ERE R

Loans receivable from money lending business  f& & %7 ~ e I B 2k

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans receivable so as to minimise credit risk. The granting of
loans is subject to approval by the management, whilst overdue
balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability.

As at 31 December 2018, the loans receivable were unsecured,
charging on interest rates ranging from 10% to 13% per annum
(2017: 8.5% to 10% per annum) and were repayable with fixed
terms agreed with the contracting parties.

A maturity profile of the loans receivable as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the remaining contractual maturity
date is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET F#ET
99,590 26,590

REBHNEE R AREE 2B WERERER
REE  BURBREEERR - KEEHE
SRAEEIREHLE - B HIAER A E B AT I
Bl EETTIRAS o

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H BRERLE
R BN FEMNEI0EEBE(ZE—+
F:85EE10E) A E  UERFTNTHE
# B FE HARR B &

8 B AR 38 U8 2 4051 5 2 98 85 B
R -

2018 2017

—E—N\E T+

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Overdue pIg=ty 9,000 -
Due within 3 months R 31E AR R EIH 28,400 11,900
Due after 3 months but within 6 months R 31E A& ZE 6188 N 32,000 900
Due after 6 months but within 12 months ReEA%E 1218 A NEIH 30,190 13,790
Total @t 99,590 26,590

The 12-month ECL calculated by the Group is not significant and
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. As at 31 December 2018, no loss allowance on
loans receivable balance was made.
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

29

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—-Z— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

28. ROV EEFABENEHEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Listed equity investments, at fair value (note (a)) L+ HRARE - RN FEBE (K@) 8,154 -
Convertible bond, at fair value (note (b)) ARRRES  BATEE B EDb) 1,425 2,500
9,579 2,500

Notes:

(a) The fair values of the equity securities held for trading were determined
based on the quoted market prices in an active market.

(b)  As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the convertible bond, a
zero coupon rate with principal amount of HK$1,425,000 (2017:
HK$2,500,000) had been determined. A loss on fair value change of
HK$75,000 (2017: HK$577,000) was recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

@ FHEBERABFATEEDBRBENEGRTS
Pz M5 EmEE

by RZZT-—NE+-BA=+—H £&EA
1,425,000/ 70 (= —+ 4 : 2,500,000 7T) £
TEORABPELFNAFEECDET - A FE
EZEEIE 75,0008 T (ZF—+4F : 577,000/
TO) BB RIER o

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBREEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHE 69,004 148,616
Time deposits EHATFER 20,000 -
89,004 148,616

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.35% (2017: 0.01%
to 0.07%) per annum. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one month and two months and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates ranging
from 0.73% to 1.71% per annum (2017: Nil).

RITIRSRE R IRITHERFAR 2 FEF R BEEL
FE - FFEK0.01%ZE0.35% (— T —+4F:
0.01%£0.07%) - REATEBFR 2 FHEN
T—RZEZ@A - WikH M TE 87 506 &
BEEUR B FERER0T73%E17T1% (T —+

FE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30. Rt BRI R BT EA

2018 2017

=2-N\#F —E—+F

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

it FExT FET

Contract liabilities SRAE @) 19,356 -
Receipts in advance TEU FR T8 (@) - 17,467
Customers deposit 2R 13,241 11,337
Other payables and accruals HibERRERETER 12,740 8,243
45,337 37,047

Note:

() Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January (@)

Biat

2018 are as follows:

A—HMERNEEFBNT

HE_Z-N\EF+_A=Z+—RBAR_ZT—NEF—

31 December 1 January

2018 2018

—E-N\E —EN\E

t=A=t—-H —A—H

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT FET

Sales of goods HEEM 3,428 3,808
Provision of services R IR 15,928 13,659
19,356 17,467

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver
software solutions and render installation, development, testing and
maintenance services.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect
method and adjusted the opening balance as at 1 January 2018. As
a result of initial application of HKFRS 15, contract liabilities, including
receipts in advance from customers, as at 31 December 2018 are
separately presented under other payables and accruals, further details
of which are disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the
reporting period amounting to approximately HK$8,661,000 was
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31 EERIE
The movements of deferred tax liabilities during the year are as BLEHBEERFRNZEEHIT ¢
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBIEAR
Accelerated
Intangible tax
assets depreciation Total
fniE
BREE HIERE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FHET
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H 586 20 606
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) RiBmaT A (B 12) (345) (18) (363)
At 31 December 2017 and at RZE—tF+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2018 EZFT—-NF—H—H 241 2 243
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss 825 (5t A),/ 1k
(note 12) (Met12) (216) 2 (214)
At 31 December 2018 R=B-—N\F
+=—HA=+—H 25 4 29
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated RBERAR AKECHFTBERBDAZH
unused tax losses of approximately HK$59,017,000 (2017: TH 518 4959,017,0008 7L (ZZ —tF : 4
approximately HK$55,204,000), subject to the agreement by the 55,204,000/ 7T) + A A LA SH B 1T E A E 18
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available for ZNBZRRERT ST (BEEEHRBRE
offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which B) o FRRNVEETERIR IR A 2RR - Bt I £
the losses arose. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in BEBERRELERIBEE -
respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. R
Number of Share
shares capital
RHOEE (&N
Note HK$’000
M TET
Authorised: EIE
At 1 January 2017, at 31 December R-—Z—tH¥—H—A8"
2017 and at 31 December 2018, —E—tF+=ZA=+-HR
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each —E-NF+=ZA=+—-8"
SFRMEE005E T Z2EZER 2,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREE:
At 1 January 2017, ordinary shares of RZZ—+F—A—H SkEE
HK$0.005 each 0.005/8 702 L imAk 1,050,492,340 5,252
Placing of new shares [iRk=$ 711} (@) 210,090,000 1,051
At 31 December 2017 and at 31 R-Z—tF+=ZA=+—-HK
December 2018, ordinary shares of —E-N\F+=ZB=+—-H"
HK$0.005 each SRAEE0.005B T 2L ER 1,260,582,340 6,303
Note: Kiat -

33.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

(@) On 20 February 2017, an aggregate of 210,090,000 new shares of
HK$0.005 each of the Company were issued under a general mandate
granted to the Directors at a placing price of HK$0.146 each.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 10 September 2013 so as
to attract and retain the best available personnel and to provide
additional incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
consultants or advisors of the Group, or any substantial
shareholders of the Group, or any distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service
providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company.
The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any options shall
be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to their contribution or potential
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Annual Report 2018
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IR

RE-_Z-=ZFNATHBEZRER T2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Under the Scheme, the maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue upon
the date of which the shares are listed and permitted to be dealt
in the Stock Exchange. The 10% limit may be refreshed at any
time by approval of the Company’s shareholders provided that
the total number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share options schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshed limit. Subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders, the aggregate number of the Company’s shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
Company'’s shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Scheme or any other share options schemes
of the Company if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Scheme in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being. Where any further grant of options to a participant
under the Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to
such participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the
shares in issue, such further grant must be separately approved
by shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such
participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee). Where any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or any of their respective associates
would result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to such person
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million, such grant must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

33. B HERHE ()

RBFT & RIRET B R R BHE T E A B AR
AERL AR ETERE T EITZ
Binfag LR - & X TNSBER D LHRE
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BTN 10% © RS AR B BRALIER - 1R
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days inclusive of the date of the offer. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period as the Directors may determine which
shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option with a
remittance in favour of the Company within such time as may be
specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days from the
date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
Directors of the Company and notified to a participant and shall
be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option; (i) the average closing prices
of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s share on the date of grant of the option.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on 10 September 2013 and expiring on the
business day immediately preceding the 10th anniversary thereof
i.e. 8 September 2023, subject to early termination provisions
contained in the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 126,058,234 shares (representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of this report). As at the date of this report, options
carrying the rights to subscribe for 25,200,000 shares of the
Company (representing approximately 2% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report) have been
granted under the existing Scheme limit and options carrying
the rights to subscribe for 100,858,234 shares of the Company
(representing approximately 8% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report) may be granted under the
existing Scheme Limit.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event
no later than 1 year from the date of grant.

There is no performance target which must be achieved before
any of the options can be exercised.
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33. BT E (&)
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. RS E (E)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme AN AF NG EIIE T WRITE 2 BARE
during the year:
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—tF
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options exercise price share options
IEFIHTEE  BREZHE |METHTEE  BREZHE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At the beginning of year & 4] 0.315 105,010,000 0.2196 40,000,000
Granted during the year ~ F R 0.197 25,200,000 0.3150 105,010,000
Lapsed during the year & ALK 0.315 (105,010,000) 0.2196 (40,000,000)
At the end of year RER 0.197 25,200,000 0.3150 105,010,000

No share options have been exercised or cancelled for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). 105,010,000 (2017:
40,000,000) share options have lapsed during the year ended 31

December 2018.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2018

REBEE-_Z—)N\EFE+-_A=+—HIEE &
RBE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HLFE"
105,010,00017 (== —+ £ : 40,000,0001%)
BARED KW -

RIREBRRMARITHEBREZITEERITE
R -

BE-Z-N\F+-A=+—HUFE

Exercise price of share option

Number of share options (HKS$ per share) Exercise period
BREHE BRETEE(ERET) T
25,200,000 0.197 8 June 2018 - 7 June 2019

ZE-NEXRANBEZE
=E2-hFRAtR

Year ended 31 December 2017

Number of share options

BREH A

Exercise price of share option
(HK$ per share)
BRETEE (EBRET)

BE-T +5+-A=+ HIFE

Exercise period

1T

105,010,000

0.315

28 March 2017 — 27 March 2018
—E—+F=ZA=-+N\HZE
—ZT-N\F=ZA=++H
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2018 had a
weighted average exercise price of HK$0.197 (2017: HK$0.315)
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.43 year
(2017: 0.24 year).

The fair value of the share options granted for the year ended
31 December 2018 was HK$1,435,000 (2017: HK$8,278,000),
and was recognised as share-based payment during the year.
The fair value of share options granted during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using a Binomial Model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

33. BT E (&)

RZBE-N\F+_A=+—BHRTEZE
M HTEER0197BT(ZT—+t
F:0.315%7m) - RIEFHFHFEHA0.43
F(ZZE—CF 024F)

BE-T-N\FT-_A=t—BLFEEH
2 BB AR T B 1,435,000 7T (-2 —+
F : 8,278,000/ 7T) + W R F NFER BAR
XNFE -BE_Z-NFR_E—+F+=
A=t—ALLFEREZBREAFEET
L M BERAER R 2 E T R ERRNEER
A A AR AR - FREGIFAERY
A B

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E
Fair value of share options and BREATEERRBR
assumptions
Grant date and measurement date R BABEF=EEE 8 June 2018 28 March 2017
—E2-N\F —T—tF
~ANH =A=-+NH
Fair value at the date of grant (HK$) RE BBz AFEE BT 0.0577, 0.0795,
0.0562 0.0787
Closing share price at the Esqan =R i g N R 0.197 0.315
date of grant (HK9) (L)
Exercise price (HK$) T E (BT) 0.197 0.315
Expected volatility (%) TEHA R B) (%) 75.28 69.50
Expected life of option (year) BARETR A E () 1 1
Expected dividend yield (%) TEHARR B K (%) - -
Risk-free interest rate (%) R R (%) 1.70 0.61

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility. The
expected dividend vyield is based on the historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially
affect the fair value estimate.
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34.

35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ —Z—

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 89 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Share Options Reserve

Share options reserve arises on the grant of share
options to eligible participants under the Scheme. Further
information about share-based payments is set out in note
33.

(b) Merger Reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation to rationalise the
group structure in preparation for the listing on 28 August
2013 (“Reorganisation”).

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 9 August 2018, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest of Darts Connect International Limited (“Darts”). The
aggregate consideration for the acquisition (“Consideration”)
was HK$21,600,000 (subject to adjustments), in which
HK$10,800,000 was paid in cash at the date of completion
and the remaining HK$10,800,000 shall be paid subject to the
achievement of the audited net profit before tax of Darts for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 being not less than
HK$4,000,000 (“Guaranteed Profit”). Based on the audited
financial statements of Darts for the year ended 31 December
2018, its audited net profit before tax was approximately
HK$217,000 and hence the Guaranteed Profit was not met.
Accordingly, the amount of the Consideration is adjusted to
HK$10,800,000 and the Company is not obliged to settle the
remaining Consideration of HK$10,800,000.

e MEBRRME

NE+TZA=+—RHILFE

34. #E

35.

A AT S BB IS BB S W R AR
MEDH2IIRGA N BREFOBENHHA
AR BBER -

(a) BRERE
BREREDREFSMNAGERSESE
BHOEREEL - EEURMIHRE
ZHE— S EREHRHIFESS

(b) &OHEE
EHRBEARAR_-_ZE—=F/1A
“tN\BEREBELTMAETEE (&
ZHJ)LAEEIIIEEE AR RIERE KB

REIRAMETRD 2 MEEZFRA
E{EZZE °

W ks — B A F

R-ZE-NFENANB  ANREE W RIS

B ARAR ([RE]) B2k - Jiga K
& (TR &) A21,600,000# 7T (7] F{H ) -
H 110,800,000 TR TEA B B LAIR © 1+
# 110,800,000 THRREFEHEZ T — N
FH+ZA=+—HLENBRFEZEEZBRB
AT S% 5% 1~ 4 1 4,000,000 578 7T ([HER5% ) 1)
ERBIN - BREREHEE-_ZT—NE+_-A
—t+—BIEFENEEZMERE  EEEX
B 5 AT % 5% A1 49 & 217,000 78 7T » 0 R B4
RFER] - Hitt - B2 58 FHEZE 10,800,000
TCR AN R EE 82 TR E 10,800,000
BT e
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

35. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
(continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Darts as
at the date of acquisition were as follows:

35.

W i — I B B 2 B (4R)

RUEEEH  REFENEERABZ ATFE
(ER NS

HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 18) Y% B MR (H1iE18) 482
Inventories TE 546
Trade receivables and other assets BHRWHREREMERE 20
Bank balances IRITHEERR 133
Other payables and accruals b FE S 5RI8 R FE AT RUA (676)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value EBERAFEBEFECUHIEERFRE 505
Goodwill on acquisition (note 20) WHEEE R (M iE20) 10,295
Satisfied by cash AR @ BT 10,800
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Darts ERAWEREZRSRESTAOT
is as follows:
HK$’000
FBT
Cash consideration paid EEeNRE 10,800
Bank balances acquired FrEg A 2 SR1TH 84 (133)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in 7 AIREBEAEHHRSREL RS
cash flows from investing activities KRS EEY R FE 10,667

The fair values of trade receivables as at the date of acquisition
amounted to HK$5,000 which approximated the gross
contractual amounts. None of these receivables have been
impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can
be collected.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$679,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense within the administrative expenses in
the statement of profit or loss for year ended 31 December 2018.

As part of the sale and purchase agreement, contingent
consideration is payable, which is dependent on the amount of
net profit before tax of Darts for the year ended 31 December
2018. The fair values of the contingent consideration payable
as at the date of acquisition and as at 31 December 2018
were trivial, which were determined using forecasts of future
performance discounted to present value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 35. WiE — Rk B A F (&)
(continued)
Since the acquisition date, Darts contributed HK$1,554,000 BB  RERBE_TE—N\F+=A
to the Group’s revenue and HK$444,000 to the Group’s profit =+ —HIEFERASEE Wz FB 1,554,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018. Had the business 78 7T & m) 7R &R B )& I B 444,000 7T © fin
combination taken place as at 1 January 2018, the revenue ¥BeHERZZTE—N\F—A—H%xK " 8l
and the loss of the Group for the year would have been AEERERAEB 2REZREBERD A
HK$70,473,000 and HK$15,430,000 respectively. The Directors 70,473,000 7T & 15,430,000 7T > KA A&
of the Company consider this “pro-forma” numbers to represent ERE ZIBEIET D RERFLEEZT
an approximate measure of the performance of the combined A EEZEENMAOE  WRRKRABZL
group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference point RREH28H B2 HESAKERRNEERE
for comparison in future periods. The Directors believe that the HEREWARIREARZ T EEBKHEE D
acquisition provides a good opportunity for the Group to broaden R o
its source of income and diversify its business mix.
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEME 2 Al
On 28 April 2017, the Group disposed of its entire 51% RZE—+tFNA=-Z+N\H AEBEHER
equity interest in Wise Link Group at a cash consideration of REEEEN2B51%ERE ReREA
HK$9,800,000. 9,800,000 7% JT °
HK$’'000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: FFHECEERE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB MR 75
Prepayments and other assets FENREREMEE 19
Cash and bank balances e RBITHERR 6,376
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 N EMENFTE N ER K8 (1,828)
Current tax liability BNEATRIE & & (174)
4,468
Non-controlling interests AR A (2,189
Release of capital reserve [ B g =N 67)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 13) HEMB ARz W (AiF13) 7,588
Satisfied by cash AR 2 BT 9,800

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in

ERHESEEEZRERRSEEBYRA

respect of the disposal of the Wise Link Group is as follows: SFE 2T
HK$’'000
FHET
Cash consideration received Bz B e R E 9,800
Cash and bank balances disposed of FrE 2 Re RIRITHE (6,376)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in =~ EsF AR EEZBFIEMNRESTEZHE
cash flows from investing activities RRESBYMRANFERE 3,424
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37.

38.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
trustees. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at a specified rate and capped at HK$1,500 per month
per person. The only obligation of the Group with respect of the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

The total contributions paid and payable to the MPF Scheme by
the Group amounted to HK$797,000 (2017: HK$746,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2018, which were recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) Aslessor
The Group leased its investment properties (note 19) under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms of two years. The terms of the leases also required
the tenants to pay security deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

37.

38.

RIKERGE

REBRBEEBEDIE 485 ERFIEATEDF
EPIREEEREERERRIBHIMER
Eertdl (A2 - BESFEEE
HASEEESRFKA AXTAZEHNNES
FA -RERBESTERY  EILHEREESR
BARREFEL XA BELHR  BAGAHR
R EMRA1,5008 7 - AEBERIE DA BIA
AENE-BEERELRESEATHR
FEHY AR o B R U SR AT AR HIBUR 2R
B Z R HEAR

HE-_Z-N\F+-_A=+—BHIEFE K
SEEARESHBE N REMNOHEREES
797,000 7T (== — 4 : 746,000/ L)
ERERERAER -

REHERH

(@) FERHBEA
AEERBEEHELHHEEREREY
E(PHE19) - REMENEETHEBAM
F-HEKRRATRERPAINRER

RBERR AEERBEEAL 2T
ARHRSHER TR R H 2 KK
RIEHEERUFRBELRNT

2018 2017

=2-N\#F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Within one year —FR - 482
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EFEAF(REEREMT) - 184
- 666
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38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(continued)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases its office premises under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office premises are negotiated for

terms ranging from one to three years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

,‘?‘&M*HEREF (nlﬁ)

(b) TERAEBEA

AEERBELEHETHEAERLE
WAEVMENZEHENT—=

YIE o
=4

NETZA=+—RHILFE

RB|ERR  AEERBETAIHHELE
HERTIMEIMZ RRFEEER

leases falling due as follows: SAEMT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Within one year —F N 1,678 1,655
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEERF (BHEERERT) 545 1,178
2,223 2,833

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 0.BEFRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MIFA MR EMIBOITIREEI AEH

statements, the Group had the following related party
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2018 and

2017:

(@) Transactions with related parties

REZE

() EBELETHRS

“B\FR-BET A=t
AULFEENTHEN RS -

2018 2017
=2-N\#F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FAT
Subsidiary of an associate: —HEBENR 2B AR
- Rental expenses (nots) —HeRx (W7 - 84

Note: The rental expenses were paid based on the underlying lease

agreement.

Bret

BeRAXHREEBEERIE -
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30.EFRXS (8

(continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group:

(b) XEEETEZEERAEME

2018 2017

=2-N\#F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FHET

Salaries and short-term employee benefits & & %5 B (& B 27 2,759 2,419
Post-employment benefits & 8 RIKIEF| 18 11
2777 2,430

Further details of Directors’ emoluments are included in
note 14.

The related party transactions above do not constitute

connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40. A B 2 BT IR R &R
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RMEBAREBARRAZTBRAKRZER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: (N
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRRIZIEE 20,939 20,939
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivable, prepayments and H b fE U GRIE TR FRIE
other assets N HAMEE 384 664
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B B R BRI 147,600 136,123
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 37,541 79,889
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REEEHLE 185,525 216,676
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals b FE AT 58 K FE AT RUA 4,389 196
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHBfT /BB 1 R 3R TE 12,215 30,356
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEARE 16,604 30,552
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 168,921 186,124
NET ASSETS EEFE 189,860 207,063
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRA R f#
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 BB ARG S
Share capital & A< 6,303 6,303
Reserves (note) &4 (A7) 183,557 200,760
TOTAL EQUITY XA 189,860 207,063
The Company'’s statement of financial position was approved and RABZHBERIAERER_ZE—HLE=A
authorised for issue by the Board on 26 March 2019 and signed ZTAHEEESHARBEERZELHUAT
on its behalf by: ATREZRZ:
Chan Wai Lung Lam Ching Yee
FRIZFE MEE
Director Director
5% EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40. X2 B Z B iR 3k (&

Note: HiaF -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RAEFEEwoBEZOT
Share
Share Special options  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
REE Rl ERERE Sy i st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx FiEx FEx FiEx FEx
(note () (note (b)) (note (c))
(Hi% (@) (Kt m) (K13t (c)
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HF—B8 200,642 20,938 2,111 6,812) 216,879
Loss and total comprehensive loss & REE M 2 EEEAE
for the year - - - (53,036) (53,036)
Shares issued BTG 29,623 - - - 29,623
Shares issuing expenses MR 84TR (984) - - - (984)
Share-based payments (note 33) LABR 9 32 4 5008 (f72£33) - - 8,278 - 8,278
Transfer of share options reserve AR AR 18 i e B
upon the expiry of share options BRERE - - 2,111) 2,111
At 31 December 2017 W-ZE—+F+-A=+—A 229,281 20,038 8,278 (57,737) 200,760
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZHEGELAE
loss for the year - - - (18,638) (18,638)
Share-based payments (note 33) WA 13 X {3 7B (4152 33) - - 1,435 - 1,435
Transfer of share options reserve  }A 8 Ik # & i S E 1%
upon the expiry of share options IR E - - (8,278) 8,278 -
At 31 December 2018 R=—8-NE+=A=+-H 229,281 20,038 1,435 (68,097) 183,557
Notes: Hat -
(@) Share premium arises from the issue of shares at a price greater than the (a) B HRBERSARMOEEZ BRBITIRNEE

par value of the shares and can be utilised for future bonus issue.

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the
shares of Infinite Capital Ventures Limited acquired pursuant to the
Reorganisation, over the previous nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefore.

Share options reserve arises from the grant of share options to eligible
participants under the Scheme. Further information about share-based
payments is set out in note 33.

At 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company was HK$161,184,000
(2017: HK$171,544,000).

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018

A A AR RALAR BT -

5 R 48 15 1B & E 4B AT IR BE 2 Infinite Capital
Ventures Limited &1 2 A FEEB B A E A
THRFIRERG 2 BEITRM 2 BEEmENZE
o

BRiEFEEREXTERNAERSHERE
BREMES - BBEUBRNOIARIBEZ#E—H5F
BRI FESS o

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—0 " AIHRAE2EK
BIER DR Z FEEREA161,184,000/8 L (=&
—+ 4% 1 171,544,000 7T) ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-ZT— N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. EADNFEENRB LR ZFHE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREZMBARZFBEINNOT

Place of Issued/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operations share capital  to the Company  Principal activities
MBI B8/ RAR A
8 " R EELG TEEHR
Brilliant Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$5,300,000 100% (indirect)  Advising on corporate finance
(formerly known as “Nine Rivers
Corporate Finance Limited”)
BACEBERRAR (B EE 5,300,000 1T 100% (k)  MOEHFRHEASA
[FUGEHERERLAA])
China Universal Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Property investment
EHARAT BE 1008 7T 100% (&) MEKRE
Dealmatch.com Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of referral services and
provision of administrative
support to the Group
BFRERLA £ 10078 7T 100% (F#) REBNRBREAEERET
WX E
Darts Connect International Limited Hong Kong HK$795,032.21 100% (indirect)  Trading of gaming products and
provision of related marketing
services
Rk BRRER AT BE 795,082.21 % T 100% (%) EEBBERNIRHERER

R

DSE Cayman Limited (“DSE”) Cayman Islands USs$10.73 100% (indirect)  Investment holding

DSE Cayman Limited ([DSE]) HEHS 10.73% 7T 100% (%) REERRK

Eagle Networks Company Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Investment holding

EEREERAR RERUHS E 100% (%) REZR

Finsoft E-Commerce Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Provision of internet financial
platforms

EREFEERRLA EE 10078 7T 100% (%) REEBESBTA

Finsoft Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect) ~ Money lending

ERERERRA EE 10078 7T 100% (&) &

Finsoft Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% (indirect)  Securities and equity investments

EHRE (FE)BRRF £ 10075 7T 100% (%) BHFERARE

Finsoft Investment Limited BVI US$100 100% (indirect)  Investment holding

Finsoft Investment Limited KBRAHES 100% 7T 100% (F#)  REER

EMSRMREERERAT | 2018551
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RaMBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—-Z—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. ARBETENBE QR 2=F#1E (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Place of Issued/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operations share capital  to the Company  Principal activities
HEmMEYL 8T/ RARERL
8 ReEmE BTN EHELG TEEHR
Gracious Queen Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Provision of administrative
support to the Group
Gracious Queen Limited REEZES 1% 100% (E#) RAASERETEZE
Golden Spade Investment Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect) ~ Securities investments
BRRERRRA 5 18T 100% (f#%) RBHFRE
iAsia Online Systems Limited BVI Us$10 100 (indirect)  Development, sale and provision
of financial trading software
solutions
DMNBLERGERAA EBRUME 10%7T 100% (F%) HE HEREHSBRHEUMG
BRAER
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited BVI US$10,000 100% (direct)  Investment holding
Infinite Capital Ventures Limited HERTE 10,000% 7T 100% (B#%) REER
One Rich Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Investment holding
—EREARAR HERRES 1€ 100% (%) REZR
Prance Solutions Limited BVI US$1 100% (indirect)  Development of software
solutions
B [ e 5 PR 2 RBRERES 1E7T 100% (F#%) HERHBRALR
Wealthy Link Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% (indirect)  Development of financial trading
software solutions
HEMRARRA 5 18T 100% (F#%) RESBRIZUHRRAIR
Well In Technology Development Limited  Hong Kong HKS$1 100% (indirect)  Development of mobile
e-commerce platform
BENEERERAA 0 18T 100% (f#%) HEBSEFEETR
Winrange Investments Limited BVI US$100 100% (direct)  Investment holding
RIERERRAA EERUME 100% 7T 100% (E#) REAER
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EREBIADFESRABEAEBELENE
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affected EXEBERETEFENARRNBAR - AR
the results or assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of RIEERA GBI TEMMEBARZFE &
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors of the SHBERMBRILE -

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the above principal subsidiaries of the Group were REEEMFAEEENBRRFEMAL K
incorporated/established with limited liability. SNRBRAR -

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2018



A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements/prospectus,

is set out below:

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMBERE

AEBRNBEREMRFEZEENEE AR
FIERBRREE (BEAE IBEERYB®RER
ARER)HINWT

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1—-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\§ i —ZE-RF “Z-AF —Z2-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT AL FEL AT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BELEER
Revenue g 70,126 56,885 58,537 49,916 51,334
Cost of sales HERAK (19,822) (15,382) (15,192) (12,352) (10,954)
Gross profit 7 50,304 41,503 43,345 37,564 40,380
Other income Hfp A 367 91 7 53 219
Other gains and losses HiphaE R EE (2,415) (25,146) (990) (5,394) (337)
Administrative expenses THEY (40,883) (41,962) (41,990) (37,590) (26,224)
Finance costs BF RS PY AR - (978) (6,761) (8,685) -
Share of (losses)/profits FEEBLART (BR)/
of associates ekl (2,104) (5,397) 2,976 (125) ©)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE—RAeariBiE (16,733) (19,202) (3,489) - -
(Loss)/profit before tax BB (B518) /5 F (11,464) (51,001) (6,902) (14,177) 14,032
Income tax expense FrEfAY (3,739) (3,309) (3,498) (2,729) (2,719
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBELEEBN
continuing operations ER(FER) /B (15,203) (54,400) (10,400) (16,906) 11,319
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BA& LRk
Profit for the year from discontinued 7R B B 4% [ E 2 £ 751
operations FRE - 8,250 20,799 637 -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR &R (F18) /%7 (15,203) 46,150) 10,399 (16,269) 11,319
(Loss)/profit for the year EHEER (BB /
attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ARRHEEA (15,203) (46,509) 2,008 (15,896) 11,319
Non-controling interests FERER - 353 8,391 (379) -

EnempanRaRAT | 201sx5s 210
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LFEMBGEE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

A BERERFEREDS

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-AH
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-\E —T—+F ZE-RF —Z-hf “E-pmF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT FHT FHET
Total assets BERE 236,458 245,064 295,893 184,610 82,772
Total liabilities afsem 45,763 37,290 69,504 138,836 22,505
Non-controlling interests R ER - - 3,563 1,214 -

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
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